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Financial Highlights
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31, % Change

Cperations
Insurance premiums written and
contract deposits
Core business lines (1) % 887.6 § 8529 801.4
Total (1) 899.3 875.6 821.7

Operating income (2) 48.7 35.6 251
Net income 11.3 25.6 20.8
Return on equity (3) 2.4% 56% 51%

Property & casualty statutory
combined loss and expense ratio 103.6% 106.8% 106.0%

Experienced agents 527 553 668
Financed agents 395 314 310
Total agents 922 867 978

=
Per share

Earnings per share:

Basic
Operating income (2) $ 1.19 $ 088 35.2% $ 062 41.9%
Net income $ 0.28 $ 063 $ 051
Diluted
Operating income (2) $ 1.18 $ 087 35.6% $ 061 42.6%
Net income $ 0.28 $ 063 $ 051
Dividends paid $ 0.42 $ 042 $ 042
Book value (4) $ 92.39 $ 11.27 9.9% $ 10.56 6.7%
Financial position
Total assets $4,512.3 $4,489.0 $4,420.6
Long-term debt 144.7 99.8 99.7
Total shareholders’ equity 528.8 459.2 428.0

(1) Effective December 31, 2001, Horace Mann ceased writing automabile insurance policies in Massachusetts. 2002 insurance premiums written and
contract deposits for core lines increased 6.4% and for the total increased 5.8% compared to the respective 2001 amounts adjusted to exclude
premiums from Massachusetts automobile policies.

(2) A non-GAAP financial measure defined by the Compang as net income before the after-tax impact of realized investment gains and losses,
restructuring charges, debt retirement costs, litigation charges and adjustment to the provision for prior years’ taxes.

(3) Based on 12-month net income and average quarter-end shareholders’ equity.

(4) Before the fair value adjustment for investments, book value per share was $10.50 at December 31, 2002, $10.62 at December 31, 2001 and
$10.66 at December 31, 2000.

Ferward-loeking information
It is important to note that the Cornpany’s actual results could differ materially from those projected in forward-looking statements. Additional

information concerning factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements is contained from time to
time in the Company’s SEC filings. Copies of these filings may be obtainad by contacting the Company or the SEC.
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Letter to Sharechoiders

Horace Mann accomplished a great deal during
2002 while dealing with significant challenges in
the finéncial markets, and we believe that we are
well positioned to continue our performance

) i’fnprovement in 2003.

We unveiled our new corporate logo a year ago
as part of our comprehensive strategy to
distinguish and brand Horace Mann as the top
insurance and financial services provider for the
educational community. The logo symbolizes a
commitment to our strategic compass, the
Horace Mann Value Proposition, to “provide
lifelong financial well-being for educators and
their families through personalized service, advice
and a full range of tailored insurance and
financial products.”

Along with many other insurance companies,
Horace Mann was adversely impacted by
investment losses in 2002. We revised the issuer
and sector concentration limits on our investments
to increase the conservatism of our investment
guidelines. We also took steps to reduce our debt
and improve our capital and leverage ratios, both
at the holding company and for our insurance
subsidiaries. By the end of the fourth quarter, those
actions returned our capital and leverage ratios —
and the overall strength of our balance sheet — to
historical levels, consistent with our operating
targets and the expectations of the rating agencies.
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Addressing this challenge didn't deter us from
pursuing our vision and aspirations with focus and
energy. Rather, it strengthened our resolve and
commitment to powerfully deliver our Value
Proposition to the educator market.

Several accomplishments
highlight an impressive year

Horace Mann’s accomplishments in 2602
demonstrate that we are on the right course for
profitable growth of our business. The company
recorded its most significant annual increase in
number of agents in eight years and, reflecting
continued improvement in average agent
productivity, our agents produced record levels of
new business.

One of the key drivers for top-line growth is
the continued improvement in the quality of our
agents, due in part to an improved agent training
program which emphasizes needs-based selling. In
addition, our agency force is now supported with
enhanced marketing materials and Internet-based
communication processes.

In 2001, we began expanding our reach to
educators beyond our traditional geographic areas
with our High Priority Markets initiative. Last
year, we pursued opportunities in several high



potencial markets, including Sacramento,
California; Denver, Colorado; and Nashville,
Tennessee. And in 2003, we plan to focus on
Tucson, Arizona; Lincoln, Nebraska; and the
Atlanta and Cincinnati areas, among others.

Complementing our career agents is the
emergence of independent agent distribution at
Horace Mann. We realized success using
independent agents and broker/dealers to deliver
annuity products to educators previously not
reached through our career agents, most notably
in the Chicago public schools. We exceeded last
year’s goal of 100 independent agents and
broker/dealers to finish 2002 with 167
independent agents and 23 broker/dealers who
will help expand our annuity penetration in
school systems across the country.

Horace Mann agents and independent agent
distributors combined to produce record annuity
new business sales, surpassing 2001 by 12 percent.

Our property and casualty business
dramartically improved in 2002. We wrote more
educator business, more cross-sold business and

higher quality business.

New auto business continued on a solid growth
track, increasing 13 percent compared to 2001.
Helping fuel new auto business — and future
business retention — was a notable increase in the
number of clients choosing the electronic funds
transfer payment method.

In a dramatic turnaround, our homeowners
combined ratio improved by 15 points compared
to a year ago. Aggressive rate actions resulted in a
14 percent increase in average written premium
per policy. At the same time, deductible increases,
coverage limitations and tightened underwriting
guidelines contributed to a 20 percent reduction
in claim frequency. And our property
reinspection program resulted in more accurate
replacement cost coverage limits and tighter
controls on loss exposure.

Property and casualty claims
operations restructured

During 2002, we restructured our property and
casualty claims operations, consolidating 17 claims
office locations to six regional offices. The new
organization allows us to improve our claims
handling cycle time, reduces reliance on
independent adjusters, and should allow us to
improve customer service while reducing our
average claims settlement cost.

To complement the restructuring, we've
developed a comprehensive claims management
system that handles the life cycle of a claim from
first notice of loss through settlement. We expect it
to be fully operational by mid-year.
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Committing to world-ciass
customer service

Througheut 2002, concerted efforts were made
for continued improvement in client and agent
satisfaction. Our administrative and call center
operations achieved significant enhancements in

_cycle time, service levels and quality assurance. A

 culture that fosters and supports a world-class
customer service attitude is being embedded in all
areas with a focus on our clients and their needs.

Part of our commitment to world-class
customer service was the introduction of Benefits
Direct, which enabled the company to deliver
proceeds from many of our life insurance policies
to beneficiaries far more rapidly than before.

Additionally, we expanded service through the
Internet. Clients can now make certain policy
changes, report claims, contact their agents and
access their retirement account information online.
To support these changes, we're continuing to
make major improvements to our technology

. networks and strengthening our security systems.

New technology and enhanced employee
education will continue to advance our knowledge,
speed and accuracy in serving our clients. When
our new document management system is
implemented in 2003, we expect significant
improvement in service and application processing
time. Not only will it reduce manual procedures
and the amount of paper in the company, it will

’
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also track each step in the workfiow. And the
anticipated redesign of our new businzss and
renewal statements will provide cur clisnis with
improved policy and billing informaticz.

Horace Mann’s financial
strength secured

In addition to increasing the conservatism of
our investment guidelines and improving our
capital and leverage ratios, we successfully
refinanced a substantial portion of Horace Mann’s
debt in 2002. This improved our capital structure
and allowed the company to take advantage of
lower interest rates.

Our investors and other stakeholders can be
secure in knowing that Horace Mann Educators
Corporation continues to take its corporate
governance and Sarbanes-Oxley Act compliance
responsibilities seriously. We have dedicated the
necessary resources, and will continue to do so,
to assure compliance with the Act. We remain
committed to high principles of ethical behavior;
our employees demonstrate it and our customers
experience it.




- g
wnal excellence

As we look to 2003 and beyond, we'll continue
1o shape Horace Mann into the foremost insurance
anc financial services provider for educators.

Our main thrust for 2003 will be to accelerate
the delivery of our Value Proposition to our
clients. We've developed a three-pronged approach
to accomplish that objective. The first is the
creation of regional market teams. These cross-
functional teams will enable Horace Mann to
establish marketing priorities and goals based on
local opportunities.

Qur second driver is to position Horace Mann
as the educator expert in the insurance industry.
We will continue to build on our knowledge and
delivery of messages, products and services that
educators desire. By utilizing this knowledge, we
intend to be “the educator company” and meet the
vision of our Value Proposition.

Our third commitment to accelerate the
delivery of our Value Proposition is to drive
operational excellence across ali of our business
functions. Horace Mann will continue to
implement business processes and technology to
reduce both cycle times and unit costs. Thrdugh
continual improvement in the effectiveness and -
efficiency of our operations, we will strive to attain’.
the highest level of satisfaction from our clients.

Our accomplishments in 2002 have created a
more market-focused Horace Mann that is
attracting new customers and retaining more of
our best clients. We've improved operations and
created significant momentum in our business.
As we accelerate delivery of our Value Proposition
to our clients, we will create an environment
where our employees can realize their full
potential while we deliver strong financial returns
to our shareholders.

Sincerely,

Dol e g,

Joseph J. Melone Louis G. Lower II
Chairman of President &
the Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer
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PART I

ITEM 1. Business
Forward-icoking Information

it is important to note that the Company’s actual results could differ materially from those
projected in forward-looking statements. Additional information concerning factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements is contained
in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Overview and Available Information

Horace Mann Educators Corporation ("HMEC"; and together with its subsidiaries, the
"Company” or "Horace Mann") is an insurance holding company incorporated in Delaware.
Through its subsidiaries, HMEC markets and underwrites personal lines of property and casualty
and life insurance and retirement annuities in the United States of America ("U.S."). HMEC's
principal insurance subsidiaries are Horace Mann Insurance Company ("HMIC"), Teachers
Insurance Company ("TIC"} and Horace Mann Life insurance Company {("HMLIC"}, each of which
is an lllinois corporation, Horace Mann Property & Casualty Insurance Company ("HMPCIC")
(formerly Allegiance insurance Company), a California domiciled company and Horace Mann
Lloyas ("HM Lloyds"), domiciled in Texas.

The Company markets its products primarily to educators and other employees of public
schools and their families. The Company's one million customers typically have moderate annual
incomes, with many belonging to two-income housenolds. Their financial planning tends to focus
on retirement, security, savings and primary insurance needs. Management believes that Horace
Mann is the largest national multiline insurance company focused on the nation's educators as
its primary market.

The Company sells and services its products primarily through an exclusive sales force of
full-time agents employed by the Company and trained to sell muitiline products. The Company's
agents sell Horace Mann's products and limited additional third-party vendor products authorized
by the Company. Many of the Company's agents are former educators or individuals with close
ties to the educational community who utilize their contacts within, and knowledge of, the target
market. Compensation for agents includes an incentive element based upon the profitability of
the business they write.

The Company's insurance premiums written and contract deposits for the year ended
December 31, 2002 were $899.3 million and net income was $11.3 million. The Company's total
assets were $4.5 billion at December 31, 2002. The property and casualty segment accounted
for 58% of the Company's insurance premiums written and contract deposits for the year ended
December 31, 2002; the annuity and life insurance segments together accounted for 42% of
insurance premiums written and contract deposits for the year ended December 31, 2002 (2%
and 13%, respectively).

The primary products of the Company's property and casualty segment are private
passenger automobile and homeowners insurance. In each of the last 5 years, the Company's
combined loss and expense ratio for its property and casualty product lines outperformed the total
property and casualty industry combined loss and expense ratio, as reported by A.M. Best
Company ("A.M. Best"), an independent insurance rating agency. During this period, the
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Company's annual combined loss and expense ratio was better than the total property and
casuzlty insurance industry combined [oss and expense ratio by an average of approximately 8
percentage points. During the same period of time, the Company's annual combined loss and
expense ratio was better than the personal lines insurance industry segment combined loss and
expense ratio by an average of approximately 6 percentage points.

The Company is one of the largest participants in the 403(b) tax-qualified annuity market,
measured by 403(b) net written premium on a statutory accounting basis. The Company's 403(b)
tax-qualified annuities are annuities purchased voluntarily by individuals employed by public
schoo! systems or cther tax-exempt organizations. The Company has approved 403(b) payroll
reduction capabilities in approximately one-third of the 15,000 public schoeol districts in the U.S.
Approximately 60% of the Company's new annuity contract deposits in 2002 were for 403(b) tax-
quaiified annuities; approximately 75% of accumulated annuity value on deposit as of December
31, 2002 was 403(b) tax-qualified. At December 31, 2002, the accumulated value of all of the
Company's annuity contracts {tax and non-tax qualified) was $2.4 billion, representing 147,000
contracts in force. Total accumulated annuity funds on deposit at December 31, 2002 consisted
of 36% variable balances and 64% fixed balances. For the 2002 year, 4% of the Company's
fixed annuity accumulated cash value remained on deposit, and 92% of the Company's variable
annuity accumulated cash value remained on deposit. All annuities issued since 1882, and
approximately 79% of all outstanding fixed accumulated cash values, are subject in most cases
to substantial early withdrawai penalties, typicailly ranging from 5% to 13% of the amount
withdrawn. For the Company, withdrawals of outstanding variable accumulated cash values are
limited to amounts less than or equal to the then current market value of such accumulations,
minus withdrawal penalties as applicable. Generally, a penalty is imposed under the internal
Revenue Code on amounts withdrawn from tax-qualified annuities prior to age 58 1/2.

The Company's investment portfolio had an aggregate fair value of $3.1 billion at December
31, 2002. Investments consist principally of investment grade, publicly traded fixed income
securities. At December 31, 2002, investments in non-investment grade securities represented
4.0% of total investments, with no significant investments in mortgage loans, reai estate, foreign
securities, privately piaced securities or common or preferred stocks.

The Company's annuai report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K, and ali amendments to those reports are available free of charge through
the Company's Internet website, www.horacemann.com, as soon as practicable after such reports
are electronically filed with, or furnished te, the Securities and Exchange Commission (*SEC").
The EDGAR filings of such reports are also available at the SEC's website, www.sec.gov.

History

The Company's business was founded in Springfieid, illinois, in 1945 by two lllinois school
teachers to sell automobile insurance {o other teachers within the State of lllincis. The Company
expanded its business to other states and broadened its product line to include group and
individual life insurance in 1949, 403(b) tax-qualified retirement annuities in 1961 and
hemeowners insurance in 1965.

in November 1991, HMEC completed an initial public offering of its common stock (the
"IPO"). The common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "HMN."



SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following statement of operations and balance sheet data have been derived from the
consolidated financial statements of the Company. The consolidated financial statements of the
Company for each of the years in the five year period ended December 31, 2002 have been
audited by KPMG LLP. The following selected historical consolidated financial data should be
read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of HMEC and its subsidiaries and
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Statement of Cperations Data:

Insurance premiums written and contract deposits ... ...
Insurance premiums and contract charges earned ... ...
Netinvestmentincome ............................
Realized investment gains (losses) ..................
Totalrevenues . ...... ... ... ..
Amortization of intangible assets (1) . . .. ..............
Interestexpense .. ........ .. ... ... ... ...
Income beforeincometaxes . .......................
Netincome (2) ...... ... ... . i,
Ratio of earnings tofixedcharges (3) .. .. .............

Per Share Data (4):
Net income:

Basic .......... ... e
Diluted ........ .. . ... .

Shares of Common Stock - weighted average:

Basic .......... . e
Diluted ........ .. ... .

Shares of Common Stock - ending outstanding
Cash dividends

Balance Shest Data, at Year End:

Totalinvestments . ............ ... ... ... ...
Totalassets .......... ... ... ..o
Total policy liabilities .. ................. e
Shorttermdebt . ... ....... ... ...
Long-termdebt . ... .. ... ... .. ... .

Total shareholders' equity

Segment information (6):
insurance premiums written and contract deposits

Propertyandcasualty .................... ... ...

Corporateand other (2)(7) ... ....................
Totd (2) oo

Statutory Opsreating Data (8):
Property and casualty:

Loss and loss adjustment expenseratio. ... .........
Bxpenseratio ............ ... ... . ... oL
Combined loss and expenseratio(8) ...............

Industry average combined loss

and expenseratio(9)(10) .....................

Persond lines industry segment average combined

loss and expenseratio(8)(10) .. .................
Annuity accumulated value ondeposit ................
Lifeinsuranceinforce ................. ... ... ....

Adjusted capital and surplus of insurance subsidiaries

(includes investment reserves) (11) . ...............

Bookvaluspershare(8) . ..........................

Year Ended December 31, .
2002 2001 2000 1889 1998
(Doilars in millions, sxcept per share data) )
$ 8993 $ 8756 $ 8217 $ 821.2 $ 8278
625.2 615.2 598.7 5851 577.8
196.0 199.3 192.4 188.3 191.7
(49.4) (10.0) (9.9) 8.0) 9.9
771.8 804.5 781.2 775.4 779.4
57 58 8.8 0.2 6.9
8.5 9.3 10.2 97 9.5
7.7 283 97 934 116.8
11.3 256 20.8 445 85.3
1.9x 4.0x 2.0x 10.6x 13.3x
$ o028 $ 0863 $§ 051 $ 108 $ 197
$§ 028 $ 083 $ 051 $ 107 $ 195
409 406 408 412 432
412 408 410 417 438
427 40.7 40.5 410 424
$ 042 $ 042 $ 042 $0.3825 $0.332
$ 1239 $ 1127 $ 1056 $ 975 $ 1180
$3,130.6 $2,975.7 $2,8123 $2,630.2 $2,é40,8
45123 4.489.0 44206 42538 43955
26268 24756 2,362.3 2,341.3 2,308.0
- 53.0 480 490 - 500
1447 988 99.7 99.7 93.6
528.8 4502 428.0 400.1 496.8
$ 5249 $ 5193 $ 49356 $ 4951 $ 487.8
261.5 239.1 206.4 205.7 2233
112.8 117.2 1218 1204 116.7
899.3 875.6 821.7 821.2 827.8
$ 199 $ 52 $ 89 $ 395 $ 532
17.0 20.6 19.3 273 23.1
18.9 - 187 129 14.6 124
(44.5) (18.9) . (20.3) (36.9) (3.4)
113 256 208 445 85.
79.2% 85.2% 85.2% 76.3% 74.4%
24.4% 21.6% 20.8% 19.8% 19.3%
103.6% 106.8% 106.0% 96.1% 93.6%
105.7% 115.9% 110.1% 107.8% 105.6%
105.6% 110.9% 109.9% 104.5% 102.7%
$2,360.5 $2,402.1 $2,366.9 $2,487.3 $2,475.5
$13,197 $ 13,216 $12,847 $12,300 $ 11,799
$ 4278 $ 4155 $ 4058 $ 4057 $ 3798
(continued on next page)
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SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA - (continued)

(1) Amortization of intangible assets is comprised of amortization of goodwill and amortization of acquired value of insurance in force and is the
resuit of purchase accounting adjustments related to the 1989 acquisition of the Company and the 1994 acquisition of HMPCIC. Effective
January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standard ("FAS") No. 142, "Goodwill and Other intangible Assets.” Under FAS
No. 142, goodwill amartization ceases and the goodwill is annually tested for impairment. Goodwill amortization was $1.6 million in each of
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998.

(2) 1999 includes a charge of $20.0 million to record an additional federal income tax provision representing the Company's maxdimum exposure
for disputed prior years' taxes (for tax years 1994 through 1997). 2000 includes a benefit of $8.7 milfion from resolution of tax years 1994
through 1996. 2001 includes a benefit of $1.3 million from resolution of tax year 1997.

(3) For the purpose of determining the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, "earnings” consist of income before income taxes and interest expenss
(including amortization of debt issuance cost), and "fixed charges” consist of interest expense (including amortization of debt issuance cost).

(4) Basic earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed
based on the weighted average number of shares and common stock equivalents outstanding. The Company’s common stock equivalents
relate to outstanding common stock options, Director Stock Plan units and Employee Stock Plan units and warrants prior to their repurchase
in 1999.

(6) Due to the adoption by the Company on January 1, 1994 of FAS No. 115, total shareholders' equity included an increase, net of taxes, of $80.6
million, $26.3 million and $57.3 million at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 1998 and a décrease, net of taxes, of $4.0 million and $40.0 million
at December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Excluding the FAS 115 fair value accounting for investments, book value per share was $10.50,
$10.62, $10.66, $10.73 and $10‘44 at December 31, 2002, 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

(6) Information regarding assets by segment at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 is contained in the Company's Notes to Financial Statements
listed on page F-1 of this report.

{7) The corporate and other segment primarily includes interest expense on debt and the |mpact of realized investment gains and losses,
restructuring charges, debt retirement costs, litigation charges and provision for prior years' taxes.

(8) Statutory data has been derived from the financial statements of the Company prepared in accordance with statutory accounting principles
and filed with insurance regulatory authorities.

(9) Property and casualty combined loss and expense ratio includes policyholder dividends.

(10) Source: Best's Aggregates and Averages (2002 Edition). The industry averages for the year ended December 31, 2002 are from Review
Preview, A Special Supplement to Best's Review and BestW eek, Property/Casualty Edition, January 2003, published by A M. Best.

(11) Investment reserves were the Asset Valuation Reserves ("AVR"). AVR, required under statutory accounting principles, is a reserve intended
to stabilize the surplus of life insurance companies against the effects of fluctuations in the fair value of certain invested assets. Changes in
AVR are charged or credited directly to statutory surplus.

Corporate Strategy and Marketing
The Horace Mann Value Proposition

The Horace Mann Value Proposition articulates the Company’s overarching strategy and
business purpose: Provide lifelong financial well-being for educators and their families through
perscnalized service, advice, and a full range of tailored insurance and financial products.

in 2000, the Company's management announced steps to focus on the Company's core
business and accelerate growth of the Company’s revenues and pmf ts. These initiatives are
intended to:

o Grow and strengthen the agency force and make the Company's agents more productive
by improving the products, tools and support the Company provides to them;

> Expand the Company’'s penetration of targeted geographic areas and new segments of the
educator market;

o Broaden the Company's distribution options tc complement and extend the reach of the
Company's agency force;
o Increase cross-selling and improve retention in the existing book of business; and

o Make the Company's products more responsive to customer needs and preferences and
expand the Company’'s product lines within the personal financial services segment.

Starting in the fourth guarter of 2000, management began implementing specific plans that
address the initiatives above. New compensation and evaluation systems were implemented to
improve the performance of the Company's agents and agency managers. The Company has
begun targeting high-priority geographic markets with agents hired and producing in the initial
locations; additional iocations will foliow supported by focused efforts of cross-functional staff
teams. New approaches to customer service are being refined that will free agents to spend more




time selling. Additional distribution options have been initiated to capitalize fully on the value of
the Company's approved payroll deduction slots in schools across the country. And the Company
is pursuing initiatives to increase its use of technology to improve the efficiency of its agency force
and administrative operations.

Target Market

Management believes that Horace Mann is the largest national multiline insurance company
focused on the nation's educators as its primary market. The Company's target market through
2002 consisted of educators and other employees of public schools and their families located
throughout the U.S. The Company also sold its products tc other education-related customers,
including private school teachers, education support personnel, community college personnel and
their families, and customer referrals. In 2003 and 2004, the Company intends to develop
strategies and tactics to begin expanding its services in the educator market by also targeting
Kindergarten - 12 teachers at private schools, principals and administrators at Kindergarten - 12
public and private schools, faculty and staff at junior and community colleges, and college
students majoring in education.

The U.S. Department of Education estimates that there are approximately 3.5 million
elementary and secondary teachers in public and private schools in the U.S. It also estimates that
the number of public and private school teachers is growing approximately 1% annually. Recent
federal and state programs which reduce class size and add additional teachers may increase this
growth rate; however, in the near term this may be tempered by school budgetary constraints.
In addition to increases in the number of teachers that result from growth in the general population
and in the number of school age children, turnover among the teacher population increases the
size of the Company's target market. New teachers and educational support personnel are
solicited by the Company's agents, and the Company attempts to retain customers who have
retired or left the teaching profession. The Company's one million customers typically have
moderate annuai incomes, with many belonging to two-income households. Their financial
planning tends to focus on retirement, security, savings and primary insurance needs.

Exclusive Agéncy Force

A cornerstone of the Company's marketing strategy is its exclusive sales force of full-time
employee.agents trained to sell multiline products. As of December 31, 2002, the Company
employed 922 full-time agents, including 527 agents having more than two years of experience
with the Company. Many of the Company's agents were previously teachers, other members of
the education profession or persons with close ties to the educational community who both
understanid their customers' needs and maintain relationships with current and former educators.
The Company's agents market and write the full range of the Company's products with all agents
licensed in both property and casualty and life products and nearly 70% of the Company’s agents
are licensed by the NASD to sell variable annuities. They are under contract to market and write
only the Company's products and limited additional third-party vendor products authorized by the
Company. The agency force is managed through 64 agency offices located in 38 states.
Collectively, the Company's principal insurance subsidiaries are licensed to write business in 49
states and the District of Columbia.

The Company's service commitment to its policyholders begins with personal contact at the
point of sale between the Company's agents and potential policyholders. in addition, the
Company's agents often have direct access to school premises, placing them in an advantageous
position to write and service individual insurance business for educators. In past surveys, the
Company's customers have stated that important reasons for choosing and staying with Horace
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Mann are the personal service and broad array of products the Company's agents deliver as well
as education association sponsorships. Management believes that Horace Mann's name
recognition and policyholders’ loyalty lead to new customers and cross selling of additional
insurance products. At December 31, 2002, 30% of the Company's one million customers had
more than one Horace Mann product.

The Company's agents pre-underwrite policy applicants, where permitted by law. The
Company structures its agent training and its agent compensation to provide incentives for agents
to adhere to the Company’s underwriting standards and practices and business growth plans.
Agents’ compensation after an initial two-year period is comprised entirely of commissions and
incentive compensation based on sales, profitability of insurance written, and retention of
customers. The profitability-related compenent of agent compensation is based on individual loss
ratios in the case of property and casualty policies, where permitted by law, and persistency in the
case of annuity contracts and life policies. in 2002, incentive compensation represented 28% of
total compensation for agents having more than two years of experience.

The Company has modified its agent compensation and reward structure in order to provide
incentive for agent performance that is more ciosely aligned with the Company's cbjectives. Prior
to 2001, agent compensation and rewards focused on profitability, customer service and tenure
with the Company. The revised structure continues to focus on profitability but also places a
greater emphasis on individua!l agent productivity, new premium growth, growth in educator and
cross-sold business and business retention. New compensation programs for both agents and
agency managers were implemented in 2001 and reflect the revised structure. Alsc in 2001, the
Company implemented enhanced agent training programs to help new agents achieve production
targets more rapidly and help experienced agents sharpen and strengthen their skiils, and began
providing agents with additional tools and support programs tc help them make a successfui
transition to their new role under the Company’s Value Proposition. Management believes that
the revised compensation structure along with other strategic initiatives are having a positive
impact on agent productivity -- average agent productivity in 2002 increased approximately 7%
compared to 2001, this in addition to improvement of approximately 40% in 2001 -- and that these
impacts will continue in the future and will continue to heip produce more profitable business.

Broadening Distribution Options

Management has begun to broaden the Company's distribution options to complement and
extend the reach of the Company’s agency force. This initiative initially focuses on more fully
utilizing its approved payrol! deduction slots in school systems across the country which are
assigned to Horace Mann. in 2001, the Company began building a network of independent
agents whe will comprise a second distribution channel for the Company's 403(b) tax-qualified
annuity products. in addition to serving educators in areas where the Company does not have
agents, the independent agents will complement and extend the annuity capabilities of the
Company's agents in under-penetrated areas. All agreements with independent agents and
broker/dealers inciude clearly defined guidelines governing the relationship between the
independent agents and the Company's agents. -

As an example of the potential for this initiative, in January 2002 the Company announced
that it had been selected as one of four providers of fixed and variable annuity options {o Chicago,
lilinois public school employees. The Chicago Public Schools is the third-largest schoo! district
in the U.S. Beginning in April 2002, the Company is partnering with an independent broker/dealer,
which has been providing retirement planning services to Chicago Public Schoci employees for
more than two decades, to pursue this opportunity to bolster growth in its annuity business.
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During the period April through December 2002, independent agents sold approximately 1,600
new Horace Mann flexible premium contracts in Chicago, representing more than $7 million in
annual contract deposits. In addition to the Company's Chicago initiative, independent agents
generated annualized Horace Mann contract deposits of nearty $3 million in the last three months
of 2002 in other U.S. markets.

Geographic Composition Qf Business

The Company's business is geographically diversified. For the year ended December 31,
2002, based on direct insurance premiums earned and contract deposits for all product lines, the
top five states and their portion of total premiums were North Carolina, 7.8%; lllinois, 6.2%; Texas,
5.8%; Florida, 5.2% and Minnesota, 5.0%.

HMEC's property and casualty subsidiaries write business in 48 states and the District of
Columbia. The following table sets forth the Company's top ten property and casualty states
based on total direct premiums in 2002:

Property and Casually Segment Top Ten States

(Dollars in millions)

Property and Casualty

Segment

Direct Percent

State Premiums(1) of Total

North Carolina ....... .. .. i $410 7.7%
Calfornia .................... P 378 71
Florida . ... 355 6.7
MINNESOta . . . .. . e 351 6.6
T OXAS . . oo e 313 59
Pennsylvania .. ... ... .. ... 232 44
Massachusetts ... ... ... ... . ... e 228 43
Michigan . . ... . e 222 42
South Carolina ... ... ... e 222 42
Louisiana ....................... S 19.0 3.8
Totaloftoptenstates . . ... ... ... ... . . . . 290.1 547
Allother areas ... .......... ... e 240.3 453

Total direct premiums .. ... ... . it e $5304 100.0%

(1) Defined as earned premiums before reinsurance and is determined under statutory accounting principles.

HMEC's principal life insurance subsidiary writes business in 48 states and the District of
Columbia. The following table sets forth the Company's top ten combined life and annuity states
based on total direct premiums and contract deposits in 2002:

Combined Life and Annuity Segments Top Ten States

{Dollars in millions)

Direct Premiums and Percent

State Contract Deposits(1) of Total

OIS . . e $ 417 10.8%
North Carolina . ... ... e e 30.7 8.0
VIGINia . o 239 6.2
J O . . .ot e e 220 57
Tennessee ......... B O 196 5.1
PennSYVaNia ... . 16.8 44
Indiana ... 16.0 4.2
South Carolina ... ... . . e 131 34
[ 1= - AN 12.0 31
MaiNe e e 11.7 3.1
Totaloftoptenstates . ....... ... ... . . i 207.5 54 1
AllOther @r@as . ... ... .. i 175.9 459

Total directpremiums ... .. ... .. . 383.4 100.0%

(1) Determined under statutory accounting principles.




National, Staté and Local Education Associations

The Company has had a long relationship with the Nationai Education Association ("NEA"),
the nation's largest confederation of state and local teachers’ associations, and many of the state
and local education associations affiliated with the NEA. The NEA has approximately 2.6 million
members. The Company maintains a special advisory board, primarily composed of leaders of
state education asscciations, that meets with Company management on a regular basis. These
meetings provide management with the opportunity to better assess the present and future needs
of its target market and to cultivate better relations with education association leaders. [n certain
states, where approved by the applicable state insurance departments, state or local association
members are entitled to a discount on premiums for certain property and casualty insurance
products sold by the Company and to additional product features and coverages. Whiie
management views the relationship with the NEA as important, it is estimated that less than half
of the Company's policyholders are members of the NEA.

From 1984 to September 1993 and beginning again in September 1996, the NEA
purchased from the Company educator excess professional liability insurance for all of its
members. The NEA has entered into a contract to purchase this insurance from the Company
through August 2007. Premium from this product represents less than 1% of all insurance
premiums written and contract deposits of the Company. Between September 1993 and
September 1996, the Company did not write this policy.

It is the practice of the NEA and affiliated state and local education associations tc
"sponsor" various insurance products and services, including those of the Company and its
competitors.  "Sponsorship” is generally determined independently by each of these
organizations. Being "sponsored" generally means that the NEA and such state and local
associations evaluate a product, authorize the use of their name(s) in connection with the
marketing of the product and, in some instances, recommend that their membership consider
buying the product. From time to time since 1968, the NEA has sponsored various Company
products and currently sponsors the Company’s homeowners policy on a national level, which was
co-sponsored by 41 NEA-affiliated state associations as of December 31, 2002. Since 1988, the
Company's homeowners policy was the only product of the Company that was sponsored by the
NEA (exclusive of the educator excess professional liability insurance policy purchased by the
NEA as described above). NEA-affiliated education associations in 36 states sponsor products
of the Company other than homeowners. NEA-affiliated education associations in 43 states
sponsor one or more of the Company's products. In many cases, associations that sponsor one
of the Company's products also sponsor competing products. The Company does not pay the
NEA or any affiliated associations any consideration in exchange for sponsorship of Company
products. The Company does pay for advertising that appears in NEA and state education
association publications.

In addition to NEA-affiliated education associations, the Company has begun to establish
relationships with other education-related associations. As of December 31, 2002, 29
associations representing school principals and/or administrators in 18 states sponsored one or
more of the Company’s products.




. Some of the advantages of sponsorship by education and education-related associations
include prestige and enhanced brand awareness, increased opportunity for the Company's agents
to market products on school premises, and improved agent recruiting, especially among former
teachers. The Company’'s customers decide whether to purchase the Company's products for
a number of reasons, including pricing and service of the product and the customer's relationship
with the selling agent. Association sponsorship may be one factor in such a decision.

In addition to its longstanding relationships with the NEA and affiliated state and local
education associations, the Company has established its brand name through an annual
scholarship program for dependenis of public school employees; its educator surveys;
schotarships for current educators; sponsorship of the National Teacher Hall of Fame; financial
support of the Horace Mann - NEA Foundation Award for Teaching Excellence; participation in
the national conventions of the American Association of School Administrators (AASA), the
Association of Educational Service Agencies (AESA), the Association of School Business Officials
(ASBQ), the National Association of Elementary School Principals (NAESP) and the National
Association of Secondary School Principals {NASSP); relationships with approximately 100 credit
unions, predominantly associated with educators, serving over 600,000 members in 32 states;
sponsorship of the educator and student resource website www.reacheverychild.com; and
availability of educator information on the Company's website www.horacemann.com, as well as
local agent contacts with school districts. The Company tailors its products to the educator
market, including certain educator-specific features and hybrid products, which distinguishes the
Company's products from those of its competitors.

Property and Casuaity Segment

The property and casualty segment represented 58% of the Company's total insurance
premiums written and contract deposits.

The primary property and casualty product offered by the Company is private passenger
automobile insurance, which in 2002 represented 42% of the Company’s total insurance
premiums written and contract deposits and 73% of property and casualty net written premiums.
As of December 31, 2002, the Company had approximately 573,000 voluntary automobile policies
in force with annual premiums of approximately $375 million. The Company's automobile
business is primarily preferred risk, defined as a household whose drivers have had no recent
accidents and no more than one recent moving violation. The Company has instituted a program
in a limited number of states to provide non-preferred risk automobile coverage to the educator
market, with a third-party vendor underwiriting such insurance and the Company receiving a -
commission on its sale.

In 2002, homeowners insurance represented 15% of the Company’'s total insurance
premiums written and contract deposits and 26% of property and casualty net written premiums.
The Company insures primarily residential homes. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had
approximately 284,000 homeowners policies in force with annual premiums of approximately $129
million. As expected, the number of homeowners policies in force decreased in 2002, reflecting
initiatives to improve profitability in this product line.

Educator excess professional liability insurance represented the remaining 1% of the
Company's 2002 property and casualty premiums. See "Business -- Corporate Strategy and
Marketing -- National, State and Local Education Associations.”




The resuits of companies in the insurance industry have historically been subject to
significant fluctuations due to competition, economic conditions, interest rates and other factors.
in particular, the property and casualty insurance industry has historically experienced pricing and
profitability cycies. Generally, the persona! lines segment of the property and casuaity insurance
market has been less subject to the pricing and profitability cycles that have affected the
commercial lines segment and the overall industry. Because virtually all the Company's property
and casualty business is personal lines business, management believes the Company's
operations are less subject to pricing and prcfitability cycles than the operations of many other
insurers.

Results of property insurers are also subject to volatility due to prevailing weather and other
conditions. While one year may be relatively free of major weather or other disasters, ancther
vear may have numerous such events, causing results for such a year {0 be materially worse than
for other years.

Selected Historical Financial Information For Property and Casualty Segment

The following table sets forth certain financial information with respect to the property and
casuaity segment for the periods indicated.

Property and Casualty Segment

Selected Historical Financial Information
(Dollars in millions)

Yesar Ended December 31,
28602 2001 2000
Statement of Operations Data:
Insurance premiums written (1)(2) ........ ... . e, $524.9 $519.3 $493.5
Insurance premiums earned (1)(2) ........... ... ... ... .. 519.6 508.3 490.0
Net investmentincome ........... e 35.2 377 35.7
Income beforeincometaxes ............ ... ... ... . 238 18 38
Netincome . .. ... . e 18.8 52 8.9
Catastrophe costs, pretax .................... ... i, 1.9 11.2 16.2
Statutory Cperating Statistics: :
Loss and loss adjustment expenseratio ..................... 79.2% . 85.2% 85.2%
Bxpenseratio . ... ... 24.4% 21.6% 20.8%
Combined loss and expense ratio
(including policyholder dividends) . ....................... 103.6% 106.8% 106.0%
Combined loss and expenss ratio before
catastrophes (including policyholder dividends) . ............. 101.3% 104.6% 102.7%
GAAP Operating Statistics: ’
Loss and loss adjustment expenseratio ..................... 78.9% 85.2% - 85.2%
Expenseratio ... ... . ... 23.0% 21.6% 20.9%
Combined loss and expense ratio .
{(including policyholder dividends) ........................ 101.9% 106.8% 106.1%
Combined loss and expense ratio before
catastrophes (including policyholder dividends) .. ............ 99.6% 104.6% 102.8%
Automobile and Homeowners (Voluntary):
Insuranca premiums written (1)(2) . ......................... $513.2 $496.6 $473.2
Insurance premiums earmned (1)(2) ... ... ... ... ... 504.3 485.5 4694
Policies in force (inthousands) (2) ............. .. .......... 857 888 876

(1) After the Company's portion of the March 2000 industry settlement of automobile insurance rate filings in North Carolina, which reduced the
Company's premiums by $2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.

(2) Effective December 31, 2001, Horace Mann ceased writing automobile insurance policies in Massachusetts. As policies in force on that date
expired during the succeeding 12 months, the following reductions were recognized in comparison fo the year ended December 31, 2002:
-$25.5 million insurance premiums written; -$10.8 million insurance premiums earned; -$18.2 million voluntary automobile insurance premiums
written; -$8.4 million voluntary automobile insurance premiums earned; and -23 thousand voluntary automobile policies in force.

10



Property and Casualty Ratios

in each of the last 5 years, the Company's combined loss and expense ratio for its property
and casualty product lines outperformed the total property and casuaity industry combined loss
and expense ratic, as reported by A.M. Best. During this period, the Company's annual combined
loss and expense ratio was better than the total property and casualty insurance industry
combined loss and expense ratio by an average of approximately 8 percentage points. During
the same period of time, the Company's annual combined loss and expense ratio was better than
the personal lines insurance industry segment combined loss and expense ratio by an average
of approximately 6 percentage points.

The table below compares the Company's combined loss and expense ratios with published
industry averages.

Property and Casuaity Combined Loss and Expense Ratio(1)

Property and
The Personal Lines Casualty
Compeny Industry Segment(2) industry(2)
Year Ended December 31,

2002 . e 103.6% 105.6% 105.7%
2001 . e 106.8 110.9 1159 |
2000 . .. 106.0 100.9 110.1
1990 . e 96.1 104.5 107.8
1998 . 936 102.7 105.6

(1) Combined loss and expense ratio includes policyholder dividends and is determined according to statutory accounting principles.
(2) Source: Best's Aggregates and Averages (2002 Edition). 2002 is an estimate from Review Preview, A Special Supplement to Best's Review
and BestWeek, Property/Casualty Edition, January 2003, published by A.M. Best.

The levei of catastrophe costs can fluctuate significantly from year to year. Catastrophe
costs before federal income tax benefits for the Company and the property and casualty industry
for the ten years ended December 31, 2002 were as follows:

Catastrophe Costs
(Dollars in millions)

Property and-
The Casualty

Company(1} —Industry(2)

Year Ended December 31,

2002 . e $11.8 $ 5,800.0
2000 L 11.2 28,100.0
2000 . . 16.2 4,600.0
1808 . e 19.6 8,340.0
1908 284 10,070.0
1997 6.2 2,600.0
19096 . . P 209 7,370.0
190 e 139 8,320.0
1004 16.2 17,010.0
1083 83 5,620.0

(1) Net of reinsurance and before federal income tax benefits. Includes allocated loss adjustment expenses and reinsurance remstatement
premiums. The Company's individually significant catastrophas losses net of reinsurance were as follows:
2002 - $4.2 million, Hurricane Lili; $1.7 million, April Eastern states hail, tornadoas, wind and heavy rain; $1.2 million, Eastern states winter
storms.
2001 - $3.7 million, June Midwest wind/hail/tornadoes; $2.3 million April tornadoes; $2.2 million Tropical Storm Allisen.
2000 - $5.0 million, May tornadoes; $2.7 million December winter storms.
1999 - $5.4 million, Hurricane Floyd; $3.1 million, May tornadoes primarily in Oklahoma.
1998 - $7.9 million, May Minnesota hailstorm; $2.9 million, May Upper Midwest hailstorm; $2.0 million, June Midwest wind/hail; $1 6 mllhon
Hurricane Georges. S
1997 - $1.4 million, July wind/hail/tornadoes; $1.1 million, Denver, Colorado hailstorm. :
1986 - $8.2 million, Hurricane Fran.
1995 - $2.9 million, Texas wind/hail/tornadoes; $2.2 million Hurricane Opal.
1994 - $6.0 million, Northridge, California earthquaks.
1993 - $2.2 million, East Coast blizzard.
(2) Source: Insurance Services Office, Inc. news release dated February 13, 2003. These amounts are net of reinsurance, before federal income
tax benefits, and exclude &l loss adjustment expenses.

11




During the last 5 years, the Company's property and casuaity annuai expense ratio has
been better than the property and casualty industry personal lines average expense ratio as
reported by A.M. Best by an average of 4 percentage points per year. During the same period
of time, the Company's property and casualty annual expense ratio was better than the total
property and casualty insurance industry expense ratio by an average of approximately &
percentage points. The Company’s property and casuaity expense ratio for the year ended
December 31, 2002 was 24.4%.

The table below compares the Company’s expense ratios with published industry averages.

Property and Casualty Expense Ratio(1)

Property and
The Personal Lines Casualty
Company Industry Segment(2) Industry(2

24.4% 25.5% 26.5%
216 24.8 26.7
208 256 276
19.8 256 28.0
18.3 250 277

Year ended December 31,

Determined according to statutory accounting principles.
Source: Best's Aggregates and Averages (2002 Edition). The 2002 personal lines resuit is an estimate from A.M. Best. The 2002 total industry

result is an estimate from Review Preview, A Specia Supplement to Best's Review and BestWeek, Property/Casualty Edition, January 2003,
published by A.M. Best. -

Property and Casualty Reserves

At December 31, 2002, 99.3% of the Company's net reserves for claims and claims
expenses were carried at the full value of estimated liabiiities and were not discounted for interest
expected to be earned on reserves. Due to the nature of the Company's personat lines business,
the Company has no exposure to claims for toxic waste cleanup, other environmentai remediation
or asbestos-related illnesses other than claims under homeowners insurance policies for
environmentaily related items such as toxic mold.

The Company establishes property and casualty claim reserves to cover its estimated
uitimate liability for claims and claims adjustment expense with respect to reported claims and
claims incurred but not yet reported as of the end of each accounting period. [n accordance with
applicable insurance laws and regulations and accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America ("GAAP"), no reserves are established until a loss occurs, including a
loss from a catastrophe. Underwriting results of the property and casualty segment are
significantly influenced by estimates of property and casualty claims and claims expense reserves.
These reserves are an accumulation of the estimated amounts necessary to settle all outstanding
claims, including claims which are incurred but not reported, as of the date of the financial
statements.

The process by which property and casuaity reserves are established reqguires reliance upon
estimates based on known facts and on interpretations of circumstances, including the Company's
experience with similar cases and historical trends involving claim payment patterns, claim
payments, pending levels of unpaid claims and product mix, as well as other factors inciuding
court decisions, economic conditions and public attitudes. The effects of inflation are implicitly
considered in the reserving process. The establishment of reserves, including reserves for
catastrophes, is an inherently uncertain process and the ultimate cost of losses may vary
materially from the recorded reserve amounts. The Company regularly updates its reserve
estimates as new facts become known and further events occur which may impact the resolution
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of unsettled claims. Changes in prior year reserve estimates, which may be material, are reflected
in the resulits of operations in the period such changes are determined to be appropriate.

Due to the inherent uncertainty in estimating reserves for claims and claims expenses, there
can be no assurance that ultimate liabilities will not exceed amounts reserved, with a resulting
adverse effect on the Company. Management believes that the Company's overall reserve levels
at December 31, 2002 are adequate to meet its future obligations.

The following table is a summary reconciliation of the beginning and ending property and
casualty insurance claims and claims expense reserves, displayed individually for each of the last
three years. The table presents reserves on a net (after reinsurance) basis. The total net
property and casualty insurance claims and claims expense amounts are reflected in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations listed on page F-1 of this report. The end of the year
gross reserve (before reinsurance) balances are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
also listed on page F-1 of this report.

Recenciliation of Property and Casualty Claims and Claims Expense Reserves
(Dollars In millions)

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Gross reserves, beginningofyear .......................... .. $306.1 $298.9 $299.8
Less reinsurancerecoverables ............................ 341 49.1 64.4
Netreserves, beginningofyear ........ ... . ... ... ... ... 2720 2498 2354
Incurred claims and claims expense:
Claims occurringinthe currentyear ........................ 387.7 416.8 3947
Increase in estimated reserves for claims
occeurring in prior years (1):
Policies written by the Company (2) ..................... 223 145 20.9
Business assumed from state reinsurance facilites ........ 1.7 20 1.8
Totalincrease ................ooiiiiiiiiiiinii, 24.0 16.5 227
Total claims and claims expense incurred (2)(3) ........... 411.7 4333 4174
Claims and claims expense payments for claims occurring during: ’
CUITENL Y AN . .. et e 2443 2559 2474
Prioryears ... ... 166.8 155.2 155.6
Total claims and claims expense payments .. ............. 4111 411.1 403.0
Netreserves,endofperied .............. ... ............... 272.6 2720 249.8
Plus reinsurancerecoverables . ............................ 44.7 341 491
Gross reserves,endofperied (4) ....... ... ...... ... ........ $317.3 306.1 $298.9

(1) Shows the amounts by which the Company increased its reserves in each of the periods indicated for claims cccurring in previous periods to
reflect subsequent information on such claims and changes in their projected final setlement costs. For discussion of the reserve
strengthening recorded by the Company in 2002, 2001 and 2000 ses "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financia! Condition and
Results of Operations - Results of Operations -- Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2001 -- Benefits,
Claims and Settlement Expenses” listed on page F-1 of this report.

(2) For the year ended December 31, 2002, these amounts included a $1.6 million statutory accounting charge for class action litigation which
was separately reported as Litigation Charges in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(3) Benefits, claims and settlement expenses as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, listed on page F-1 of this report, also
include life, annuity, group accident and health and corporate amounts of $40.7 million, $42.3 million and $48.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, in addition to the property and casualty amounts.

(4) Unpaid claims and claims expense as reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, listed on page F-1 of this report, also include life, annuity,
and group accident and health reserves of $9.3 million, $8.2 million and $10.0 million at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectivsly,
in addition to property and casualty reserves.

The provision for claims and claims expenses for insured events in prior years increased
by $24.0 million, $16.5 million and $22.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000, respectively. For discussion of the reserve strengthening recorded by the Company
in 2002, 2001 and 2000 see "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations -- Results of Operations -- Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to
Year Ended December 31, 2001 -- Benefits, Claims and Settlement Expenses” listed on page F-1
of this report. Future reserve actions, if any, will depend on claim trends.
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The year-end 2002 gross reserves of $317.3 million for property and casualty insurance
claims and claims expense, as determined under GAAP, were $44.7 million more than the reserve
balance of $272.6 million recorded on the basis of statutory accounting principles for reporis
provided to state regulatory authorities. The difference is the reinsurance recoverabie from third
parties totaling $44.7 miliion that reduces reserves for statutory reporting and is recorded as an
asset for GAAP reporting.

Fluctuations from year to year in the level of catastrophe losses impact a property and
casualty insurance company's loss and loss adjustment expenses incurred and paid. For
comparison purposes, the following table provides amounts for the Company excluding
catastrophe losses:

impact of Catastrophe Losses(1)
(Dollars in millions)

Year Ended December 31,

2002

" Claims and claims expense incurred 11.
Amount attributable to catastrophes i1,
Excluding catastrophes '

Claims and claims expense payments
Amount attributable to catastrophes
Excluding catastrophes

(1) Net of reinsurance and before federal income tax benefits. Includes allocated loss adjustment expenses.

Analysis of Claims and Claims Expense Reserves

The claim reserve development {able below illustrates the change .over time of the net
reserves established for property and casuaity insurance claims and claims expense at the end
of varicus calendar years. The first section shows the reserves as originally reported at the end
of the stated year. The second section, reading down, shows the cumulative amounts paid as of
the end of successive years with respect to that reserve liability. The third section, reading down,
shows retroactive reestimates of the original recorded reserve as of the end of each successive
year which is the result of the Company's learning additional facts that pertain to the unsettied
claims. The fourth section compares the latest reestimated reserve to the reserve originally
established, and indicates whether or not the original reserve was adequate or inadeqguate to
cover the estimated costs of unsettied claims. The table also presents the gross reestimated
liability as of the end of the latest reestimation period, with separate disclosure of the related
reestimated reinsurance recoverable. The claim reserve development table is cumulative and,
therefore, ending balances should not be added since the amount at the end of each calendar
year includes activity for both the current and prior years.
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In evaluating the information in the table below, it should be noted that each amount
includes the effects of all changes in amounts of prior periods. For example, if a claim determined
in 2001 to be $150 thousand was first reserved in 1992 at $100 thousand, the $50 thousand
deficiency (actual claim minus original estimate) would be included in the cumulative deficiency
in each of the years 1992 - 2000 shown below. This table presents development data by calendar
year anc¢ does not relate the data to the year in which the accident actually occurred. Conditions
and trends that have affected the development of these reserves in the past will not necessarily

recur in the future.
future performance.

it may not be appropriate to use this cumulative history in the projection of

Property and Casualty

Claims and Claims Expense Reserve Development

Gross reserves for property and casualty
claims and claims expenses . . ......
Deduct: Reinsurance recoverables .. ..
Net reserves for property and casualty
claims and claims expenses .. ... ...
Increase in reserves due
to purchase of HMPCIC:
Gross reserves for property
and casudty claims and
claimsexpenses . ............
Deduct: Reinsurance
recoverables . ... ... ... ......
Net reserves for property and
casualty claims and claims
expenses ..................
Paid cumulative as of:

Oneyearlater ................... ‘

Twoyearslater ..................
Threeyearslater .. ...............
Fouryearslater..................
Fiveyearslater ..................
Sixyearslater . ................. .
Sevenyearslater ................
Eightyearsiater .................
Nineyearslater ..................
Tenyearsiater ..................
Reserves reestimated as of;
Endofyear .....................
Onevearlater ...................
Twovearslater ..................
Threeyearslater . ................
Fouryearslater..................
Fiveyearslater ..................
Sixyearslater ................ ...
Sevenyearsiater ................
Eightyearslater .................
Nineyearslater ... ...............
Tenyearslater ..................
Reserve redundancy (deficiency) - initial

net reserves in excess of (less than)
reestimated reserves:

Amount(1) ........... ...

Percent......................

Gross reestimated liability - latest . . . . ..
Reestimated reinsurance recoverables -
latest . ......... ... ...
Net reestimated liability - latest ... ... ..
Gross cumulative excess (deficiency)(1)

(Dollars in millions)
December 31,
1992 1993 994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2061 2002

$358.2 $3735 $389.1 $369.7 $3404 $310.6 $298.9 $2998 $298.9 $306.1 $317.3
17.7 21.8 195 238 __341 41.3 559 644 491 341 44.7

3405 3519 3696 3459 3063 2693 2430 2354 2498 2720 2726
- 306 . - - - - - . . -
- 06 - - - - - - - . -
- 300 . - - - - - . . -

117.6 1334 1408 1393 1486 1420 1425 1556 1552 1668

1696 1905 1945 1953 2021 1914 2032 2127 220.1

197.8 2184 2242 2230 2251 2230 2330 2480

2136 2341 2379 2338 2402 2367 2512

2226 2410 2431 2414 2450 2465

2260 2437 2471 2428 2505

2275 2461 2475 2468

2290 2462 2504

2289 2481

230.0

3405 3819 3696 3459 3063 2693 2430 2354 2498 2720 2726

3061 3276 3140 2834 2612 2444 2384 2581 2663 2960

2677 2819 2692 2496 2502 2393 2612 2769 287.3

2464 2581 2514 2458 2478 2549 2687 2846

2333 2493 2489 2438 2571 257.0 2713

2208 2297 2474 2509 2564 258.7

2300 2466 2529 2501 2588

2298 2502 2526 2522

2319 2502 255.0

2320 2521

2335

$107.0 $129.8 $1146 $ 937 $47.5 $ 106 $(28.3) §(49.2) $(37.5 $(24.0)
314% 34.0% 31.0% 2714% 155% 39% -11.6% -209% -150% -8.8%

$262.6 $281.8 $2853 $277.1 $288.0 $287.0 $305.3 $316.8 $3200 $3320

291 _297 _ 303 _ 249 _ 292 _283 _340 _322 _ 327 _ 360
$2335 $2521 $255.0 $2522 $258.8 $2587 $271.3 $2846 $287.3 $296.0
$ 956 $1223 $1038 $ 926 $524 $236 $ (64) $(17.0) ${21.1) $(259)

(1) See "Business - Property and Casualty - Property and Casualty Reserves.”

As the table above illustrates, the Company's net reserves for property and casualty
insurance claims and claims expense at the end of 2001 were strengthened in 2002 by $24.0
million, while gross reserves were strengthened $25.9 million. See "Management's Discussion
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and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations -- Resuits of Operations -- Year
Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2001 -- Benefits, Claims and
Settlement Expenses” listed on page F-1 of this report.

Property and Casualty Reinsurance

All reinsurance is obtained through contracts which generally are renewed each calendar
year; however, the 2002 catastrophe reinsurance program was comprised of two contracts, a
three-year contract with rate guarantees effective January 1, 2001 and a one-year contract
effective January 1, 2002. Aiso, the educator excess professional liability contract is a three-year
contract effective January 1, 2000. Although reinsurance does not legally discharge the Company
from primary liability for the fuil amount of its policies, it does make the assuming reinsurer liable
to the extent of the reinsurance ceded. Historically, the Company's losses from uncollectible
reinsurance recoverables have been insignificant due to the Company’s emphasis on the credit
worthiness of its reinsurers. Past due reinsurance recoverables as of December 31, 2002 were
also insignificant.

The Company is a national underwriter and therefore has exposure to catastrophic losses
in certain coastal states and other regions throughout the U.S. Catastrophes can be caused by
various events inciuding hurricanes, windstorms, earthquakes, haii, severe winter weather and
fires, and the frequency and severity of catastrophes are inherently unpredictable. The financiai
impact from catastrophic losses results from both the total amount of insured exposure in the area
affected by the catastrophe as well as the severity of the event. The Company seeks to reduce
its exposure to catastrophe losses through the geographic diversification of its insurance
coverage, deductibles, maximum coverage limits, the purchase of catastrophe reinsurance, and
the purchase of a catastrophe-linked equity put option and reinsurance agreement.

The Company maintains an excess and catastrophe treaty reinsurance program. The
Company reinsures 95% of catastrophe iosses above a retention of $8.5 million per occurrence
up to $80 million per occurrence. In addition, the Company's predominant insurance subsidiary
for property and casualty business written in Florida reinsures 90% of hurricane losses in that
state above a retention of $13.7 million up to $51.4 miliion with the Florida Hurricane Catastrophe
Fund, based on the Fund’s resources. Through December 31, 2001, these catastrophe
reinsurance programs were augmented by a $100 million equity put and reinsurance agreement.
This equity put provided an option to seli shares of the Company's convertible preferred stock with
a floating rate dividend at a pre-negotiated price in the event losses from catastrophes exceeded
the catastrophe reinsurance program coverage limit. Before tax benefits, the equity put provided
a source of capital for up to $154 million of catastrophe losses above the reinsurance coverage
fimit.

Effective May 7, 2002, the Company entered into a replacement equity put and reinsurance
agreement with a subsidiary of Swiss Reinsurance Company. The Swiss Re Group is rated "A++
(Superior)” by A.M. Best. Under the 36-month agreement, which is renewable annually at the
option of the Company, the equity put coverage of $75 million provides a source of capital for up
to $115 million of pretax catastrophe losses above the reinsurance coverage limit. The Company
also has the option, in piace of the equity put, to require a Swiss Re Group member to issue a
10% quota share reinsurance coverage of all of the Company's property and casualty book of
business. Annual fees related to this equity put option, which are charged directly to additional
paid-in capital, increased to 145 basis points in 2002 from 95 basis points in 2001 under the prior
agreement; however, in 2002 the agreement was effective only for the last eight months of the
year. The agreement contains certain conditions to Horace Mann's exercise of the equity put
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option including: (i) the Company's shareholders' equity, adjusted to exclude goodwill, can not
be less than $215 million after recording the first triggering event; (ii) the Company's debt as a
percentage of totai capital can not be more than 47.5% prior to recording the triggering event; and
(iii) the Company's S&P financial strength rating can not be below "BBB" prior to a triggering
event. The Company's S&P financial strength rating was "A+" at December 31, 2002.

For liability coverages, including the educator excess professional liability policy, the
Company reinsures each loss above a retention of $500,000 up to $20 million. The Company
also reinsures each property loss above a retention of $250,000 up to $2.5 million, including
catastrophe losses that in the aggregate are less than the retention levels above.

The following table identifies the Company’s most significant reinsurers under the traditional
catastrophe reinsurance program, their percentage participation in the Company's aggregate
reinsured catastrophe coverage and their rating by A.M. Best and Standard & Poor's Corporation
("S&P" or "Standard & Poor's") as of March 15, 2003. No other single reinsurer's percentage
participation in 2003 or 2002 exceeds 5%.

Property Catastrophe Reinsurance Participants In Excess of 5%

A.M. Best S&P Participation
Rating Rating Reinsurer Parent 2003 2002
A+s A Erie Insurance Exchange 15% 14%
A AA- AXA Reinsurance Company AXA Group 14% 17%
A- NR : Montpelier Reinsurance Ltd. Montpelier Re Holdings, Ltd. 11% 0%
A A+ Mapfre Reinsurance Corporation Sistema MAPFRE 8% 7%

A A+ St. Paul Fire and Marine
Insurance Company The St. Paul Companies, inc. 6% 6%
A+ NR Allied World Assurance Company, Lid.  Allied World Assurance
Holdings, Ltd. 5% *
A+ A+ IPCRe, Ltd. IPC Holdings, Ltd. 5% *
A- A Lioyd's of London Syndicates * 5%
NR  Not rated.

* Less than 5%.

For 2003, property catastrophe reinsurers representing 100% of the Company's aggregate
reinsured catastrophe coverage were rated either "A- (Excellent)” or above by A.M. Best or “A”
or above by S&P.

Annuity Segment

Educators in the Company’'s target market benefit from the provisions of Section 403(b) of
the Internal Revenue Code. This section of the Code allows public school employees and
employees of other tax-exempt organizations, such as not-for-profit private schools, to reduce
their pretax income by making periodic contributions to an individual qualified retirement plan.
The Company's 403(b) tax-qualified annuities are annuities purchased voluntarily by individuals.
The Company has offered tax-qualified annuities in its target market, designed to allow
contractholders to benefit from these tax provisions, since 1961, the year Congress created this
option for educators. The Company is one of the largest participants in the 403(b) tax-qualified
annuity market, measured by 403(b) net written premium on a statutory accounting basis. The
Company has approved 403(b) payroll reduction capabilities in approximately one-third of the
15,000 public school districts in the U.S. Approximately 60% of the Company’s new annuity
contract deposits in 2002 were for 403(b) tax-qualified annuities; approximately 75% of
accumulated annuity value on deposit is 403(b) tax-qualified. in 2002, annuities represented 29%
of the Company'’s total insurance premiums written and contract deposits.
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The Company sells tax-qualified annuities primarily under a contract which aliows the
contractholder to allocate funds to both fixed and variabie alternatives. The features of the
Company’s annuity contract contribute to business retention. Under the fixed account option, both
the principal and a rate of return are guaranteed. Contracthoiders can change at any time their
allocation of deposits between the guaranteed interest rate fixed account and available variable
investment options. The Company provides its agents with proprietary asset aliocation software
that assists educator customers in selecting the best retirement investment options based on their
risk tolerance and invesiment objectives.

The Company's 40 variable account options include funds managed by some of the best-
known names in the mutual fund industry, such as Fidelity, Strong, J.P. Morgan, Wilshire, T. Rowe
Price, Putnam, Neuberger Berman, Alliance Capital, Ranier, Davis, Credit Suisse, BlackRock,
Berger, Templeton and Ariel, offering the Company's customers multipie investment options,
regardless of their personal investment objectives and risk tolerance. Total accumulated fixed and
variable annuity cash vaiue on deposit at December 31, 2002 was $2.4 billion.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, 93% of the total accumulated cash value of the
Company's annuity business remained on deposit, compared to average retention of 91% for
stock life insurance companies for 2001, as reported by A.M. Best. All annuities issued since
1982, and approximately 79% of all outstanding fixed accumulated cash vaiues, are subject in
most cases to substantial early withdrawal penailties, typically ranging from 5% tc 13% of the
amount withdrawn, compared to an average of 47% of accumulated values subject to withdrawai
penaities for stock life insurance companies for 2001, as reported by A.M. Best. For the
Company, withdrawals of outstanding variable accumulated cash values are limited {o amounts
less than or equal to the then current market vaiue of such accumulations, minus withdrawai
penalties as applicable. Generally, a penalty is imposed under the internal Revenue Code on
amounts withdrawn from tax-qualified annuities prior to age 59 1/2. Total accumulated annuity
funds on deposit at December 31, 2002 consisted of 64% fixed baiances and 36% variable
balances. Since 1997, the growth of the annuity segment has come primartly from variable
annuity contract deposits, although variabie cash vaiues were negatively impacted in 2002 and
2001 by adverse market conditions.
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Selected Historical Financial Information For Annuity Segment

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the Company's annuity
products for the periods indicated.

Annuity Segment

Selected Historical Financial Information
* (Dollars in millions, unless otherwise indicated)

Yoar Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Statement of Operations Data:
Contract deposits:
Varigble ... . ... $ 1203 $ 1221 $ 1214
FiXed . 141.2 1170 853
Total ... e 261.5 2391 2064
Contractchargesearned .............. e 14.2 149 17.0
Net investmentincome .. .......... ... ... ... .. ... ... ..., 107.7 107.7 1054
Net interest margin (without realized gains) ................... 393 398 39.3
Net margin (includes fees and contract charges earned) ... .. .... 55.5 57.0 59.0
Income before incometaxes ............. .. ... ... ..., 23.2 307 29.2
Netincome . ................ . . i 17.0 206 19.3
Operating Statistics:
Fixed:
Accumulatedvalue . ... ... .. ... . ... $1,506.0 $1,3937 $1,331.8
Accumulated value persistency .. ... .. ... 94.0% 93.4% 88.7%
Variable:
Accumulatedvalue ... ....... ... ... .. .. . $ 8545 $1,008.4 $1,035.1
Accumulated value persistency .. .......... . ... . L. 92.1% 92.4% 84.1%
Number of contractsinforce . ................ 147,084 139,410 128,654
Average accumulated cash value (in dollars) $ 16,048 $17,230 $ 18,397
Average annual deposit by contractholders (in dollars) ...... cenn $ 2317 $ 2,183 $ 2282
Annuity contracts terminated due to surrender,
death, maturity or other:
Numberofcontracts ..................... ... ....... 7,180 7222 10,848
AMOUNE .. $ 1760 $ 1864 $ 3220
Fixed accumulated cash value grouped
by applicable surrender charge:
D $ 3166 $ 2991 $ 2988
5% and greater butlessthan10% ...................... 992.6 901.7 8523
10%andgreater ...... ... ... . . ... 93.1 950 86.2
Supplementary contracts with life contingencies
not subject to discretionary withdrawal .. .............. 97.7 97.9 94.5
Total ... $1,506.0 $1,393.7 $1,331.8
Life Segment

The Company entered the individual life insurance business in 1949 with traditional term
and whole life insurance products. The Company's traditional term, whole life and group life
business in force consists of approximately 177,000 policies, representing approximately $7.2
billion of life insurance in force with annual insurance premiums and contract deposits cf
approximately $43.5 million as of December 31, 2002. in 1997, the Company introduced a new
series of five limited duration term life insurance products. In 1998, the Company introduced a
new series of whole life products designed to serve the needs of customers who also want limited
life insurance coverage {(as low as $5,000 death benefits) but who want the features of a whole
life policy. The Company does not charge any penalty for withdrawal of life insurance cash
values. In 1984, the Company introduced "Experience Life," a flexible, adjustable premium life
insurance contract which allows the customer to combine elements of term life insurance, interest-
sensitive whole life insurance and an interest-bearing account. At December 31, 2002 the
Company had in force approximately 87,000 Experience Life policies representing approximately
$6.0 billion of life insurance in force with annual insurance premiums and contract deposits of
approximately $68.5 million. In 2000, the Company instituted a program to offer long-term care
and variable universal life policies, with two third-party vendors underwriting such insurance and
the Company receiving a commission on its saie. In 2002, the life segment represented 13% of
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the Company’s total insurance premiums written and contract depasits, including approximately
1 percentage point attributable to the Company's group life and group disability income business.

During 2002, the average face amount of ordinary life insurance policies issued by the
Company was $130,393 and the average face amount of all ordinary life insurance policies in
force at December 31, 2002 was $60,409.

The maximum individual life insurance risk retained by the Company is $200,000 on any
individual life and $125,000 is retained on each group life policy. The excess of the amounts
retained are reinsured with life reinsurers that are all rated "A- (Exceilent)” or above by A.M. Best.
The Company also maintains a life catastrophe reinsurance program. The Company reinsures

100% of the catastrophe risk in excess of $1 million up to $20 million per occurrence. This
program covers acts of terrorism but excludes nuclear, biological and chemical expiosions as weil
as other acts of war. '

The life insurance and annuity industry, whiie not generally subject to the factors that
produce cyclicaiity in the property and casualty insurance industry, is nonetheless subject to
competitive pressures and interest rate fluctuations. As a result, the life insurance and annuity
industry has developed new products designed to shift investment and credit risk to policy or
contractholders while still providing death benefits. This trend has generally caused profit margins
to shrink on new products relative to older life insurance and annuity products and has provided
more competitive returns to the holders of the new products than those available under other
investment alternatives. Management cannot predict whether these trends will continue in the
future. :

IMSA Certification

In July 2001, Horace Mann Life Insurance Company, the Company's principal life insurance
subsidiary, earned membership in the insurance Marketplace Standards Association ("IMSA").
IMSA is an independent, voluntary association created by the life insurance industry to promote
high standards of ethical market conduct in advertising, sales and service for individuai life,
annuity and long-term care products. To earn IMSA certification, HMLIC underwent self- and
independent third-party assessments to demonstrate that it has adopted IMSA's principles of
ethical behavior. HMLIC is an IMSA member for three years, after which it must demonstrate
continucus improvement and repeat the self- and independent assessment process to retain its
memboership. As of December 31, 2002, approximately 200 of the more than 1,200 U.S. life
insurance companies had earned IMSA membership.
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Selected Historical Financial Information For Life Segment

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the Company's life products
for the periods indicated.
Life Segment

Selected Historical Financial Information
(Dollars in millions, unless otherwise indicated)

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Statement of Operations Data:
Insurance premiums and contractdeposits .. ................. $ 1129 $ 1172 $ 1218
Insurance premiums and contract chargesearned .. ........... 91.4 920 91.7
Netinvestmentincome ............ . ... ... . ... ........ 53.9 55.2 51.2
Income beforeincometaxes ................. ... . ... 29.2 28.9 19.9
Netincome ........ ... . . i 18.9 18.7 12.9
COperating Statistics:
Life insurance in force:
Ordinarylife . ... ... .. $ 11,445 $ 11,291 $ 10,967
Group life .. ... 1,752 1,925 1,680
Total . . 13,197 13,216 12,647
Number of paolicies in force:
Ordinarylife . .......... .. . . . 189,459 193,560 196,361
Grouplife . ........ ... 75,018 80,507 77,221
Total . e 264477 274,067 273,582
Average face amount in force (in dollars):
Ordinarylife ... . ..o $ 60,409 $ 68,333 $ 55,851
Grouplife ... ... 23,354 23,91 21,756
Total . 49,808 48,222 46,227
Lapse ratio (ordinary life insurance inforce) .................. 9.1% 9.1% 9.0%
Ordinary life insurance terminated due to death,
surrender, lapse or other;
Face amount of insurance surrendered or lapsed .. ..... ... $ 9590 $ 9440 $1,087.6
Numberof policies . ..................... T 10,799 11,865 13,877
Amount of death claimsopened . ...................... $ 310 $ 301 $ 301

Number of death claimsopened ..................... 1,263 1,317 1,317

Investments

The Company's investments are selected to balance the objectives of protecting principal,
minimizing exposure to interest rate risk and providing a high current yield. These objectives are
implemented through a portfolio that emphasizes investment grade, publicly traded fixed income
securities. When impairment of the value of an investment is considered other than temporary,
the decrease in value is recorded and a new cost basis is established. At December 31, 2002,
investments in non-investment grade securities represented 4.0% of totai investments. At
December 31, 2002, fixed income securities represented 95.7% of investments excluding the
securities lending collateral. Of the fixed income investment portfolio, 95.4% was investment
grade and 99.9% was publicly traded. The average quality of the total fixed income portfolio was
A+ at December 31, 2002, and the average option adjusted duration of total investments was 4.8
years. There are no significant investments in mortgage loans, real estate, foreign securities,
privately placed securities, or common or preferred stocks.

The Company's investments are managed by outside managers and advisors which follow
investment guidelines established by the Company. Historically, the Company's investment
guidelines have limited single corporate issuer exposure to 1% of invested assets. Based on
current financial market conditions, the Company has revised its guidelines to limit the single
corporate issuer exposure to 4.0% (after tax) of shareholders' equity for "AA" or "AAA" rated
securities, 2.5% (after tax) of shareholders’ equity for "A" rated securities, 2.0% (after tax) of
shareholders’ equity for "BBB" rated securities, and 1.0% (after tax) of shareholders' equity for
non-investment grade securities. The change in the investment guidelines became effective in
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the third quarter of 2002 for new purchases of securities. It is anticipated that the existing portfolic
wiil be brought into compliance with the new guidelines by the end of 2003. Additional sub-sector
limitations were also developed as part of the revised guidelines.

The Company has separate investment strategies and guidelines for its property and
casualty assets and for its life and annuity assets, which recognize different characteristics of the
asscciated insurance liabilities, as well as different tax and regulatory environments. The
Company manages interest rate exposure for its portfolios through asset/iiability management
techniques which attempt to coordinate the duration of the assets with the duration of the
insurance policy liabilities. Duration of assets and liabilities will generally differ only because of
opportunities to significantly increase vields or because policy values are not interest-sensitive,
as is the case in the property and casualty segment.

The investments of each insurance subsidiary must comply with the insurance laws of such
insurance subsidiary’s domiciliary state. These laws prescribe the type and amount of
investments that may be made by insurance companies. In general, these laws permit
investments, within specified limits and subject to certain qualifications, in federal, state and
municipal obligations, corporate bonds, mortgage-backed bonds, other asset-backed bonds,
preferred stocks, common stocks, real estate mortgages and real estate.




1
3

)

4)
(6)

®)

The following table sets forth the carrying values and amortized cost of the Company's
investment portfolio as of December 31, 2002:

Investment Portfolic
(Dollars in millions)

Percentage
of Total Carrying Yalue
Carrying Life and Property and Amortized
VYalue Total Annuity Casualty Cost
Publicly Traded Fixed Maturity Securities
and Cash Equivalsnts:
U.S. government and agency obligations (1): -
Mortgage-backed securities . . ......... .. 21.5% $ 6740 $ 6537 $ 203 $ 64538
Other ... ... .. i 44 137.5 123.2 14.3 129.6
Investment grade corporate and public
utiitybonds ... ... ... .. Ll 46.1 14415 1,331.2 110.3 1,365.6
Municipalbonds . ....... ... ... L 121 3775 14.1 3634 3586
Other mortgage-backed securities .. ......... 6.9 216.4 163.2 53.2 2130
Non-investment grade corporate and public
Utility bonds (2) ...t 40 123.8 915 . 323 128.8
Foreign governmentbonds ................ 0.5 16.0 16.0 - 131
Short-term investments (3) ................ 1.9 61.0 526 © 84 61.0
Short-term investments, loaned
securities collateral (3) .. ............... 01 39 1.3 2.6 39
Total publicly traded securities ......... 97.5 3.051.6 2446.8 604.8 29194
Other investments:
Private placements, investment grade (4) .. ... 0.1 4.4 43 0.1 44
Private placements,
non-investment grade (2)(4) ............ - 0.1 0.1 - 0.1
Mortgage loans and real estate (5) . . . ........ 02 49 49 - 49
Policyloans andother . ................... 22 69.6 69.1 0.5 69.2
Total other investments ............... 25 78.0 784 0.6 78.6
Total investments (6) . ................ 100.0% 3,130.6 25252 -$6054 $2998.0

Includes $240.9 million fair value of investments guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government and $570.6 million fair value

of federally sponsored agency securities.

A non-investment grade rating is assigned to a security when it is acquired, primarily on the basis’of the Standard & Poor's Corporation
(“Standard & Poor’s” or "S&P") rating for such security, or if there is no S&P rating, the Moody's investors Service, Inc. {"Moody's”) rating for
such security, or if there is no S&P or Moody's rating, the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (the "NAIC") rating for such
security. The rating agencies monitor securities, and their issuers, regularly and make changes to the ratings as necessary. The Company
incorporates rating changes on a monthly basis.

Short-term investments mature within one year of being acquired and are carried at cost, which approximates fair value. Short-term
investments include $64.0 million in money market funds rated "AAA", $0.8 million in Australian dollars, and $0.1 million in certificates of
deposit. The Company loans fixed income securities to third parties, primarily major brokerage firms. The Company separately maintains a
minimum of 100% of the value of the loaned securities as collateral for each loan.

Fair values for private placements are estimated by the Company with the assistance of its investment advisors.

Mortgage loans are carried at amortized cost or unpaid principal balance and real estate acquired in the settlement of debt is carried at the
lower of cost or fair value. .

Approximately 7% of the Company's investment portfolio, having a carrying value of $210.5 million as of December 31, 2002, consisted of
securities with some form of credit support, such as insurance. All of these securities have the highest investment grade rating.

23




Fixed Maturity Securities

The following table sets forth the composition of the Company's fixed maturity secun'ues
portfolio by rating as of December 31, 2002:

Rating of Fixed Maturity Securities(1)

(Dollars in millions)

Pearcent
of Total
Carrying Carrying Amortized
Yalue
40.0%
6.8
24.9
237
2.2
13
1.0
0.1
100.0%

(1) Ratings are as assigned primarily by S&P when available, with remaining ratings as assigned on an equivalent basis by Moody's. Ratings for
publicly traded securities are determined when the securities are acquired and are updated monthly to reflect any changes in ratings.

(2) This category includes less than $0.1 million of publicly traded securities not currently rated by S&P, Moody's or the NAIC and $4.5 million of
private placement securities not rated by either S&P or Moody's. The NAIC has rated 96.9% of these private placement securities as
investment grade.

At December 31, 2002, 39.3% of the Company's fixed maturity securities portfolic was
expected to mature within the next 5 years. Mortgage-backed securities, including mortgage-
backed securities of U.S. governmental agencies, represented 28.4% of the total investment
portfolio at December 31, 2002. These securities typicaily have average lives shorter than their
stated maturities due to unscheduled prepayments on the underlying mortgages. Mortgages are
prepaid for a variety of reasons, including sales of existing homes, interest rate changes over time
that encourage homeowners to refinance their mortgages and defaults by homeowners on
mortgages that are then paid by guarantors.

For financial reporting purposes, the Company has classified the entire fixed maturity
porifolio as "available for sale”. Fixed maturities {0 be held for indefinite periods of time and not
intended to be held to maturity are classified as available for sale and carried at fair value. The
net adjustment for unrealized gains and losses on securities available for sale is recorded as a
separate component of shareholders' equity, net of applicable deferred tax asset or liability and
the related impact on deferred policy acquisition costs and value of acquired insurance in force
associated with interest-sensitive life and annuity contracts. Fixed maturities held for indefinite
periods of time include securities that management intends to use as part of its asset/liability
management strategy and that may be soid in response to changes in interest rates, resultant
prepayment risk and other related factors.

Cash Flow

As 2 holding company, HMEC conducts its principal operations through its subsidiaries.
Payment by HMEC of principal and interest with respect to HMEC's indebtedness, and payment
by HMEC of dividends to its shareholders, are dependent upon the ability of its insurance
subsidiaries to pay cash dividends or make other cash payments to HMEC, including tax
payments pursuant to tax sharing agreements. Restrictions on the subsidiaries’ ability to pay
dividends or to make other cash payments to HMEC may materially affect HMEC's ability to pay
principal and interest on its indebtedness and dividends on its common stock.
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The ability of the insurance subsidiaries to pay cash dividends to HMEC is subject to state
insurance department regulations which generally permit dividends to be paid for any 12 month
period in amounis equal to the greater of (i) net gain from operations in the case of a life
insurance company or net income in the case of all other insurance companies for the preceding
calendar year or (i) 10% of surplus as of the preceding December 31st. Any dividend in excess
of these levels reqguires the prior approval of the Director or Commissioner of the state insurance
department of the state in which the dividend paying insurance subsidiary is domiciled. The
aggregate amount of dividends that may be paid in 2003 from all of HMEC's insurance
subsidiaries without prior regulatory approval is approximately $43 million.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if insurance reguiators otherwise determine that payment of
a dividend or any other payment to an affiliate would be detrimental to an insurance subsidiary's
policyholders or creditors, because of the financial condition of the insurance subsidiary or
otherwise, the regulators may block dividends or other payments to affiliates that would otherwise
be permitted without prior approval.

The insurance subsidiaries' sources of funds consist primarily of premiums and contract
fees, investment income and proceeds from sales and redemption of investments. Such funds
are applied primarily to payment of claims and benefits to policyholders, insurance operating
expenses, income taxes and the purchase of investments, as well as dividends and other
payments to HMEC.

Competition

The insurance industry consists of a large number of insurance companies, some of which
have substantially greater financial resources, more diversified product lines, and lower cost
marketing approaches compared to the Company, such as direct marketing, mail, internet and
telemarketing. The Company believes that the principal competitive factors in the sale of property
and casualty insurance products are price, service, name recognition and education association
sponsorships. The Company believes that the principal competitive factors in the sale of life
insurance and annuity products are product features, perceived stability of the insurer, service,
name recognition, education association sponsorships and price.

The Company operates in a highly competitive environment. There are numerous insurance
companies that compete with the Company, although management believes that the Company
is the largest national multiline insurance company to target the nation’s educators as its primary
market. In some specific instances and geographic locations competitors have specifically
targeted the educator marketplace with specialized products and programs.

The Company competes in its target market with a number of national providers of personal
automobile and homeowners insurance and life insurance such as State Farm, Allstate, Farmers
and Nationwide as well as several regional companies. The Company also competes for
automobile business with certain direct marketing companies, such as 21st Century, AlG, GEICO
and USAA.

For annuity business, the marketplace has seen a competitive impact from new entrants
such as mutual funds and banks into the tax-deferred annuity products market. Among the major
national providers of annuities to educators, Variable Annuity Life Insurance Company, a
subsidiary of American International Group ("AlG"), has been among the Company's major tax-
qualified annuity competitors. Mutual fund families, independent agent companies and financial
planners are also competitors of the Company.
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Insurance Financial Ratings

The Company believes that the ratings assigned to its principal insurance subsidiaries by
A.M. Best, Standard & Poor's Corporation ("Standard and Poor's” or "S&P"), Fitch Ratings, Ltd,
("Fitch") and Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Mcody's") contribute to the Company's
competitiveness.

A.M. Best

Each of HMEC's principal insurance subsidiaries is rated “A (Excellent)” by A.M. Best. in
2002, A.M. Best downgraded the financial strength ratings of HMIC, TIC, HMPCIC and HM Lioyd's
one notch from "A+ (Superior)” to "A (Excellent)” reflecting capitaiization of these subsidiaries
being below A.M. Best's standard for the Superior rating and the impact on earnings in 2000 and
2001 of prior years' reserve strengthening. A.M. Best has identified the outlock for the ratings of
each of the Company’s subsidiaries as "Stable.”

A.M. Best's ratings for the industry range from "A++ (Superior)” to "F (in Liguidation)”, and
some companies are not rated. Publications of A.M. Best indicate that the "A++ and A+
{Superior)” ratings are assigned to those companies that in A.M. Best's opinion have, on balance,
superior balance sheet strength, operating performance and business profile when compared to
the guantitative and qualitative standards established by A.M. Best and have a very strong ability
to meet their ongoing obligations to policyholders. The "A and A- {Excelient)” ratings are assigned
to those companies that in A.M. Best's opinion have, on balance, excelient baiance sheet
strength, operating performance and business profile when compared to the guantitative and
qualitative standards established by A.M. Best and have a sirong ability to meet their ongoing
obligations to policyholders. In eveluating a company's balance sheet strength, operating
performance and business profile, A.M. Best reviews the company's capitalization/leverage,
capital structure/holding company, credit quality and appropriateness of reinsurance program,
adequacy of loss/policy reserves, quality and diversification of assets, liquidity, profitability, market
risk, revenue composition, management experience anc objectives, competitive market position,
spread cf risk and event risk. The objective of A.M. Best's rating system is to provide an overall
opinion of an insurance company’s ability to meet its obligations tc policyholders.

Standard & Poor's

Each of HMEC's principal insurance subsidiaries is rated "A+ (Strong)" for financial strength
by Standard & Poor's with a ratings outiook of "Stable”, with the exception of HM Lloyds which is
not yet rated by Standard & Poor's.

S&P publications define financial strength ratings as follows. A Standard & Poor's Insurer
Financial Strength Rating is a current opinion of the financial security characteristics of an
insurance organization with respect to its ability tc pay under its insurance policies and contracts
in accordance with their terms. This opinion is not specific to any particular insurance policy or
contract, nor does it address the suitability of a particular insurance policy or contract for a specific
purpese or purchaser. Furthermore, the opinion does not take into account deductibles, surrender
or cancellation penalties, the timeliness of payment, or the likelinood of the use of a defense such
as fraud to deny claims. Insurer Financial Strength Ratings do not refer to an insurer's ability to
meet nonpolicy obligations (i.e., debt contracts). The ratings are based on current information
furnished by the insurance company or obtained by S&P from other sources it considers reliable.
S&P does not perform an audit in connection with any rating and may, on occasion, rely on
unaudited financial information. The ratings may be changed, suspended, or withdrawn as a
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result of changes in, or unavailability of, such information or based on other circumstances.
Financial strength ratings are divided into two broad classifications. An insurer rated “BBB” or
higher is regarded as having financial security characteristics that outweigh any vulnerabilities,
and is highly likely to have the ability to meet financial commitments. An insurer rated “BB” or
lower is regarded as having vulnerable characteristics that may outweigh its strengths. “BB”
indicates the least degree of vulnerability within the range; “CC” the highest. Financial strength
ratings are assigned at the request of the insurers and based on extensive quantitative and
qualitative analysis including consideration of ownership and support factors, if applicable. The
rating process includes meetings with insurers’ management. Plus (+) and minus (-) signs show
relative standing within the major rating categories; they do not suggest likely upgrades or
downgrades. Insurers rated "AAA" offer extremely strong financial security characteristics.
Insurers rated "AA" offer very strong financial security characteristics. Insurers rated "A" offer
strong financial security characteristics, but are, in S&P's opinion, somewhat more likely to be
affected by adverse business conditions than are insurers with higher ratings. CreditWatch
highlights the potential direction of a short- or long-term rating. it focuses on identifiable events
and short-term trends that cause ratings to be placed under special surveillance by S&P's
analytical staff. Ratings appear on CreditWatch when such an event or a deviation from an
expected trend occurs and additional information is necessary to evaluate the current rating. A
CreditWatch listing, however, does not mean a rating change is inevitable.

Fitch

Each of HMEC's principal insurance subsidiaries is rated "AA- (Very Strong)" for financial
strength by Fitch. In September 2002, Fitch confirmed its "AA-" financial strength ratings, but
revised the outlook for the ratings from "Stable" to "Negative." The September 2002 change in
outlook was the result of the Company's second quarter 2002 investment losses described in
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations listed
on Page F-1 of this report, as well as the Company's increased financial leverage and the
competitive nature of the annuity markets in which the Company competes. Fitch's
announcement indicated that the key expectations for the Company to maintain its existing ratings
include a return to its long-term financial leverage targets while maintaining its existing NAIC risk-
based capital ratios, the continued demonstration of better than industry underwriting performance
in the Company's property and casualty subsidiaries and no unexpected deterioration in the
Company's asset quality. A material adverse deviation from these expectations could trigger a
subsequent ratings downgrade.

A Fitch insurer Financial Strength Rating ("IFS Rating") provides an assessment of the
financial strength of an insurance organization and its capacity to meet senior obligations to
policyhoiders and contractholders on a timely basis. The IFS Rating is assigned to the insurance
organization itself, and no liabilities or obligations of the insurer are specifically rated unless
otherwise stated. The IFS Rating is based on a comprehensive analysis of relevant factors that
in large part determine an insurance organization's financial strength, including its regulatory
solvency characteristics, liquidity, operating performance, financial flexibility, balance sheet
strength, management quality, competitive positioning and long-term business viability. The IFS
Ratings use a scale of "AAA" through "D" and may be amended with a (+) or (-) sign to show
relative standing within the major rating category. Ratings of "BBB-" and higher are considered
to be "Secure", and those of "BB+" and iower are considered to be "Vulnerable". The IFS Rating
of "AA" is assigned to insurers that are viewed by Fitch as possessing very strong capacity to
meet policyholder and contract obligations. Risk factors are viewed to be modest, and the impact
of any adverse business and economic factors is expected to be very small. Placing a company's
ratings on "Ratings Watch Negative" reflects the apparent decline in key factors upon which the
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rating is based. EBeing placed on ratings watch, however, does not mean a rating change is
inevitable.

Moody's

HMLIC, HMIC, TIC and HMPCIC are rated "A2 (Good)" for financial strength by Moody's.
In July 2002, Mooay's affirmed the "A2 (Good)" ratings, but revised the cutiook for the ratings 10
"Negative” from "Stable." This change in outlook was the resuit of the Company's second quarter
2002 investment losses described in Management's Discussion and Anaiysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations listed on Page F-1 of this report, as well as the Company’s
increased financial leverage and the competitive nature of the annuity markets in which the
Company competes. Moody's announcement indicated that material adverse deviations from the
Company's expected level of capital growth and earnings could trigger a subsequent ratings
downgrade.

A Moody's insurance Financial Strength Rating is an opinion of the ability of a company to
punctually repay senior policyholder obligations and claims. Specific obligations are considered
unrated unless individually rated. Moody's Insurance Financial Strength Ratings are based on
qualitative factors of both the industiry and the company and quantitative financial analysis.
Industry analysis examines trends effecting the industry, the overail econcmic environment,
concentration within the industry, demographics and competitive issues, the impact of financial
convergence and consolidation and the accounting and regulatory environments. The analysis
of a company's business fundamentais focuses primarily on organizational structure, ownership,
corporate governance, strategic issues, quality of management, company franchise, distribution
and product characteristics. The financial analysis includes an assessment of capitai adequacy,
financial leverage, profitability, asset/liability management and liquidity, asset quality, investment
risk and business fundamentals. Moody's rating symbols for insurance financial strength ratings
are broken down into nine distinct symbols ranging from "Aaz (Exceptional)” to "C (Lowest}".
These symbols comprise two distinct groups - those with the greatest financial strength, "Aza
(Exceptional)" to "Baa (Adequate)’, and those with the least financial strength, "Ba
{Questionable)" to "C (Lowest)". Numeric modifiers are used to refer tc the ranking within the
group - "1" being the highest and "3" being the lowest. However, the financial strength of
companies within a generic rating symbol is broadly the same. [nsurance Companies rated "A”
offer good financial security. However, elements may be present which suggest a susceptibility
to impairment sometime in the future.

Reguiation
General Regulation at State Level

As an insurance holding company, HMEC is subject to regulation by the states in which its
insurance subsidiaries are domiciied cr transact business. Most states have enacted legislation
that requires each insurance company in a holding company system to register with the insurance .
regulatory authority of its state of domicile and furnish to it financial and other information
concerning the operations of companies within the holding company system that may materially
affect the operaticns, management or financial condition of the insurers within the system. All
transactions within a holding company system affecting insurers must be fair and equitabie and
the insurer's policyholder surplus following any transaction must be both reasonable in relation
to its outstanding liabilities and adequate for its needs. Notice to applicable regulators is required
prior to the consummation of certain transactions affecting insurance subsidiaries of the holding
company system.
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In adcition, the iaws of the various states establish regulatory agencies with broad
administrative powers to grant and revoke licenses to transact business, regulate trade practices,
license agents, require statutory financial statements, and prescribe the type and amount of
investments permitted. See "Business -- Investments” for discussion of investment restrictions
or limitations imposed upon the Company under applicable insurance laws and regulations.

The NAIC annually calculates financial ratios to assist state insurance regulators in
monitoring the financial condition of insurance companies. A "usual range” of results for each
ratio is used as a benchmark. Separate ratios are established for property and casualty and life
insurance companies. Departure from the usual range in any of the ratios could lead to inguiries
from individual state regulators, and further investigation or other actions may result. in 2002,
some of the principal insurance subsidiaries of HMEC did report financial ratios that were outside
the usual range of results used as a benchmark. These unusual ratios were primarily the resuit
of increased realized capital loss levels reported in 2002, a life reinsurance agreement entered
into during 2002 with Sun Life Reinsurance Company Limited, declines in income vyields due to
the low interest rate environment, adverse property and casualty loss reserve development from
prior accident years, and growth in homeowners premiums.

As part of their regulatory oversight process, state insurance departments routinely conduct
detailed financial examinations {generally not more frequently than once-every three years) of the
books, records and accounts of insurance companies domiciled in their states. Typically, such
examinations are conducted concurrently by two or three states under guidelines promulgated by
the NAIC. In 1999, routine financial examinations of HMLIC, HMIC, TIC and HMPCIC were
completed for the period ended December 31, 1897. A routine examination of HMPCIC for the
three year period ended December 31, 2000 was initiated in December 2000, and the final
examination report was issued in 2002. A routine examination of HM Lloyd's for the two year
period ended December 31, 2000 was completed in 2001. A routine examination of HM Lioyd's
for the one year period ended December 31, 2001 was initiated in September 2002; audit
fieldwork has been completed with issuance of the final examination report still pending. The
Company has received notification that a similar examination for HM Lloyd's for the one year
period ended December 31, 2002 will be performed in 2003. The Company has received
notification that routine examinations of HMLIC, HMIC and TIC for the five year period ended
December 31, 2002 will be conducted in 2003. Management believes that HMEC and its
subsidiaries are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable regulatory requirements.

The NAIC has adopted risk-based capitai guidelines to evaluate the adequacy of statutory
capital and surplus in relation to an insurance company's risks. State insurance regulations
prohibit insurance companies from making any public statements or representations with regard
to their risk-based capital levels. Based on current guidelines, the risk-based capital statutory
requirements will have no negative regulatory impact on the Company's insurance subsidiaries.

Assessments Against Insurers

Under insurance insolvency or guaranty laws in most states in which the Company operates,
insurers doing business therein can be assessed for policyholder losses related to insolvencies
of other insurance companies. The amount and timing of any future assessments on the
Company under these laws cannot be reasonably estimated and are beyond the control of the
Company. Most of these laws do provide, however, that an assessment may be excused or
deferred if it would threaten an insurer's financial strength, and many assessments paid by the
Company pursuant to these laws may be used as credits for a portion of the Company's premium
taxes in certain states. The Company paid $1.0 million, $0.6 million and $0.1 million in connection
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with insurer insolvency proceedings for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively, of which $0.3 million, $0.1 million and $0 million for the same periods, respectively,
is recoverable as premium tax credits in future periods. The Company's payments in 2002 and
2001 included $0.7 million and $0.4 miliion, respectively, related to the insolvency of the Reliance
insurance Group. A total charge of $1.3 million pretax, representing the Company's estimated
portion of the industry assessment for this insolvency, was refiected in the Company's operating
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Mandatory Insurance Facilities

The Company is required to participate in various mandatory insurance facilities in
proportion to the amount of the Company's direct writings in the applicable state. In 2002, the
Company reflected a net loss from participation in such mandatory pools and underwriting
associations of $2.4 miilion before federal income taxes. For additional information on the
Company's strategic direction for automobile business in the state of Massachusetts, see aiso
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations --
Results of Operaticns -- Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended December
31, 2000 -- Insurance Premiums and Contract Charges, and -- Net income.”

California Earthquake Authority

The California Earthquake Authority ("CEA"} was formed by the California Legislature to
encourage companies to write residential property insurance in Califcrnia and began operating
in December 1996. All companies which write residential property insurance in California are also
required to offer earthquake coverage. The CEA operates as an insurance company providing
residential property earthquake coverage under policies sold by companies which have chosen
to participate in the CEA. The participating companies fund the CEA and share in earthquake
losses covered by the CEA in proportion to their market share.

The Company has not joined the CEA. The Company's exposure to losses from
earthquakes is managed through its underwriting standards, its earthquake policy coverage limits
and deductible levels, and the geographic distribution of its business, as well as its reinsurance
program. After reviewing the exposure to earthquake losses from its own policies and from
participation in the CEA, management believes it is in the Company's best economic interest to
offer earthguake coverage directly to its homeowners policyholders. See "Property and Casualty
Segment -- Property and Casuaity Reinsurance.”

Regulation at Federal Level

Although the federal government generally does not directly regulate the insurance industry,
federal initiatives often impact the insurance business. Current and proposed federal measures
which may significantly affect insurance and annuity business include employee benefits
regulation, controls on the costs of medical care, medical entittement programs such as Medicare,
structure of retirement plans and accounts, changes to the insurance industry anti-trust
exemption, minimum soivency requirements and allowing nationa! banks to engage in the
insurance, annuity and mutual fund businesses. With the passage of the Financial Services
Modernization Act of 1999, it is possible there will be increased pressure for federal regulation of
the insurance industry.
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Federal income taxation of the build-up of cash value within a life insurance policy or an
annuity contract could have a material adverse impact on the Company's ability to market and sell
such products. Various legislation to this effect has been proposed in the past, but has not been
enacted. Although no such legislative proposals are known to exist at this time, such proposals
may be made again in the future. Changes in other federal and state laws and regulations could
also affect the relative tax and other advantages of the Company's life and annuity products to
customers.

The variable annuities underwritten by HMLIC and the Company's proprietary mutual funds
offered as investment vehicles for those products are regulated by the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). Horace Mann Investors, Inc., the broker-dealer subsidiary of HMEC,
performs certain management functions for the Company's proprietary mutual funds and also is
regulated by the SEC and the NASD.

Employees

At December 31, 2002, the Company had approximately 2,600 employees, including 922
full-time agents. The Company has no collective bargaining agreement with any employees, and
management believes that its employee relations are satisfactory.

ITEM 2. Properties

HMEC's home office property at 1 Horace Mann Plaza in Sprindfield, lllinois, consists of an
office building totaling approximately 230,000 square feet which is owned by the Company. The
Company also owns buildings with an aggregate of approximately 38,000 square feet at other
locations in Springfield. The Company leases buildings in Springfield with an aggregate of
approximately 84,000 square feet. In addition, the Company leases office space in other states -
related to claims and agency offices which are smaller in size. These properties are adequate
and suitable for the Company's current and anticipated future needs.

ITEM 3. Lega!l Proceedings

The Company is not currently party to any material pending legal proceedings other than
ordinary routine litigation incidental to its business. See also "Note 12 - Contingencies - Lawsuits
and Legal Proceedings" contained in the Index to Financial Information on page F-1 herein.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART il

ITEM 5. Markéﬁ for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockhoider Matters

HMEC's common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange {("NYSE") in
November 1991 under the symbol of HMN at a price of $9 per share. The following table sets
forth the high and low sales prices of the common stock on the NYSE Composite Tape and the
cash dividends paid per share of common stock during the periods indicated.

Market Price Dividend

Fiscal Pericd i Low Paid
2002:

Fourth Quarter . $13.61 $0.105

Third Quarter . 14.00 0.105

Second Quarter .08 - 17.45 0.105

First Quarter . 19.35 0.105
2001:

Fourth Quarter . $16.25 $0.105

Third Quarter . 15.72 0.105

Second Quarter ’ ) 14.80 0.105

First Quarter . 15.25 0.105

As of February 28, 2003, the approximate number of holders of common stock was 5,000.

In February, 2003, the Company's Board of Directors announced a regular quarterly
dividend of $0.105 per share. The payment of dividends in the future is subject to the discretion
of the Board of Directors and will depend upon general business conditions, legal restrictions and
other factors the Board of Directors of HMEC may deem to be relevant.

In May 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of shares of the
Company's common stock up to $100 miliion. This was in addition to the $100 million stock
repurchase programs announced in January 1998 and February 1997. Since early 1997, the
Company has repurchased 8,165,100 shares, 17% of the Company's shares outstanding at
December 31, 1986, at an aggregate cost of $203.7 million. Under the share repurchase
program, shares of common stock may be purchased from time to time through open market and
private purchases, as available. The repurchase of shares is financed through use of cash and,
when necessary, the existing bank line of credit. However, the Company has not utilized the bank
line of credit for share repurchases since the second quarter of 1999. As of December 31, 2002,
$96.3 million remained authorized for future share repurchases. However, in 2001 management
stated its intention to utilize excess capital to support the Company’s strategic.growth initiatives.

During 2002, options were exercised for the issuance of 107,410 shares, 0.3% of the
Company's shares outstanding at December 31, 2001.

On December 10, 2002 the Company repurchased $56.0 million aggregate principal amount

of its Senior Convertible Notes, representing $26.6 million carrying value, for $26.0 miliion. As
consideration for the repurchase, the Company issued 1,837,925 shares of its common stock.
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As an insurance holding company, HMEC depends on dividends and other permitted
payments from its insurance subsidiaries to pay cash dividends to shareholders of HMEC. The
payment of dividends and such other payments to HMEC by its insurance subsidiaries is subject
to the laws of each subsidiary's state of domicile. See "Business -- Cash Flow" and "Business --
Regulation.”

The information required by item 201(d) of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to
the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

The information required by Item 301 of Regulation S-Kis contained in the table in item 1
-- "Business -- Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data.”

ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

The information required by item 303 of Regulation S-K is contained in the index to
Financial Information on page F-1 herein.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The information required by [tem 305 of Regulation S-K is contained in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” contained in the index
to Financial Information on page F-1 herein.
ITEM 8. Consclidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The Company's consolidated financial statements, the report of its independent accountants
and the selected quarterly financial data required by item 302 of Regulation S-K are contained
in the Index to Financial Information on page F-1 herein.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure

None.
PART ill
ITEM 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by ltems 401 and 405 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by
reference to the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by ltem 402 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to fhe
Company's Proxy Statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
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ITEM 42. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficiai Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters

The information required by items 201(d) and 403 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by ftem 404 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to the
Cempany's Proxy Statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 14. Controls and Procedures.

Within the 90 days prior to the date of this report, the Company carried out an evaluation,
under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’'s management, including the
Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design
and operation of the Company’s disciosure controls and procedures pursuant tc Exchange Act
Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Cfficer conciuded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective
in timely alerting them to material information relating to the Company (including its consclidated
subsidiaries) reguired to be included in the Company's pericdic Securities and Exchange
Commission filings. No significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the Company's
disclosure controls and procedures were identified in the evaluation and therefore, no corrective
actions were taken. There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal contrels or in
other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their
evaluation.

PART iV
ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

(@)(1) The following consolidated financial statements of the Company are contained in
the Index to Financial Information on Page F-1 herein:

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Consclidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the Years Ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Consoclidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000.
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(8)(2) The following consolidated financial statement schedules of the Company are
contained in the Index to Financial information on page F-1 herein: '

Schedule | - Summary of Investments - Other than investments in Related Parties.
Schedule il - Condensed Financial information of Registrant.

Schedules il and VI Combined - Supplementary Insurance Information and

Supplemental Information Concerning Property and Casualty insurance Operations.

Schedule IV - Reinsurance.

(2)(3) The following items are filed as Exhibits. Management contracts and compensatory
plans are indicated by an asterisk (*).

Exhibit
No.

Cescription

(3) Articles of incorporation and bylaws:

3.1

3.1(a)

3.1(b)

3.1(c)

3.1(d)

3.1(e)

Restated Certificate of incorporation of HMEC, filed with the Delaware Secretary
of State on October 6, 1989, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to HMEC's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1996, filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on November 14,
1996.

Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of HMEC, filed
with the Delaware Secretary of State on October 18, 1991, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 1996, filed with the SEC on November 14, 1996.

Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of HMEC, filed
with the Delaware Secretary of State on August 23, 1995, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.3 to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 1896, filed with the SEC on November 14, 1996.

Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of incorporation of HMEC, filed
with the Delaware Secretary of State on September 23, 1996, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.4 to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 1896, filed with the SEC on November 14, 1996.

Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of HMEC, filed
with the Delaware Secretary of State on June 5, 1998, incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 1998, filed with the SEC on August 13, 1998.

Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of HMEC, filed
with the Delaware Secretary of State on June 22, 2000, incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1(e) to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2000, filed with the SEC on August 11, 2000.
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Exhibit
No.

3.2

3.3

Bescription

Form of Certificate for shares of Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share, of
HMEC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to HMEC's Registration
Statement on Form S-3 {Registration No. 33-53118) filed with the SEC on
October 9, 1992,

Bylaws of HMEC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to HMEC's Registration
Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 33-80059) filed with the SEC on
December 6, 1995.

(4) Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including indentures:

4.1

4.1{a)

4.2

4.2(a)

4.3

indenture dated as of January 17, 1996, between HMEC and U.S. Trust
Company of California, N.A. as trustee, with regard to HMEC's 6 5/8% Senior
Notes Due 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to HMEC's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1995, filed with the SEC
on March 13, 1996. -

Form of 6 5/8% Senior Notes Due 2006 (included in Exhibit 4.1).

indenture datec as of May 14, 2002, between HMEC and JPMorgan Chase Bank
as lrustee, with regard to HMEC's 1.425% Senior Convertible Notes Due 2032,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.
Form of 1.425% Senior Comvértéble Notes Due 2032 (included in Exhibit 4.2).

Certificate of Designations for HMEC Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred
Stock (included in Exhibit 10.13).

(10) Material contracts:

10.1

10.27

10.3*

Credit Agreement dated as of May 29, 2002 {the "Bank Credit Faciiity") among
HMEC, certain financial institutions named therein and Bank of America, N.A.,
as administrative agent {the *Agent"), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the guarter ended June 30, 2002,
filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.

Stock Subscription Agreement among HMEC (as successor to HME Holdings,
inc.), The Fulcrum Hl Limited Partnership, The Second Fulcrum i Limited
Partnership and each of the Management Investors, incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.17 tc HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1988, filed with the SEC on April 2, 1890.

Horace Mann Educators Corporation Deferred Eguity Compensation Pian for
Directors, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to HMEC's Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1996, filed with the SEC on
November 14, 1996.
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Exhibit
No.

10.4*

10.5*

10.5(a)*

10.5(b)*

10.5(c)*

10.6*

10.6(a)*

10.6(b)*

10.7*

Description

Horace Mann Educators Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for
Employees, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to HMEC’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997, filed with the SEC on
March 30, 1998.

Amended and Restated Horace Mann Educators Corporation 1981 Stock
Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to HMEC's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, filed with the SEC
on March 30, 2000.

Amendment to Amended and Restated Horace Mann Educators Corporation
1991 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) to
HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000,
filed with the SEC on August 11, 2000.

Specimen Employee Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators
Corporation 1991 Stock incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.5(a) to HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 1999, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2000.

Specimen Director Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators
Corporation 1981 Stock incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.5(b) to HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 1999, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2000.

Horace Mann Educators Corporation 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2001, filed with the SEC on March 29, 2002.

Specimen Employee Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators
Corporation 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.6(a) to HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2001, filed with the SEC on March 29, 2002.

Specimen Director Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators
Corporation 2001 Stock [ncentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.6(b) to HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2001, filed with the SEC on March 28, 2002.

Horace Mann Educators Corporation 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14,
2002.
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Exhibit

No.

10.7{a)*

10.7(b)*

10.7(c)*

10.8(a)*

10.9*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13

Description

Specimen Employee Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators
Corporation 2002 incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2(2) to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.

Specimen Regular Employee Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann
Educators Corporation 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2(b) to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.

Specimen Director Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators
Corporation 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2(c) to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.

- Severance Agreements between HMEC and certain officers of HMEC,

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed with the SEC on March 29, 2002.

Revised Schedule to Severance Agreements between HMEC and certain officers
of HMEC.

Horace Mann Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan, 2002 Restatement,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to HMEC's Quarteriy Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, filed with the SEC on May 15, 2002.

Horace Mann Executive Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan, 2002
Restatement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to HMEC's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, filed with the SEC
on May 15, 2002.

Horace Mann Nongualified Supplemental Money Purchase Pension Plan,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the Quarter Ended March 31, 2002, filed with the SEC on May 15, 2002.

Employment Agreement entered by and between HMEC ard Louis G. Lower i
as of December 31, 1999, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to HMEC's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1899, filed with
the SEC on March 30, 2000.

First Amended and Restated Catastrophe Equity Securities Issuance Option and
Reinsurance Option Agreement entered by and between HMEC, Swiss Re
Financial Products Corporation {Option Writer) and Swiss Reinsurance America
Corporation (Reinsurance Cption Writer), dated May 7, 2002, incorporated by
reference to Exhipbit 10.1 to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on November 14, 2002.
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Exhibit
No.

Description

(11) Statement regarding computation of per share earnings.

(12) Statement regarding computation of ratios.

(21) Subsidiaries of HMEC.

(23) Consent of KPMG LLP.

(99) Additional exhibits:

99.1

98.2

(b)

(€)
(d)

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Louis G. Lower li, Chief Executive Officer
of Horace Mann Educators Corporation.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Peter H. Heckman, Chief Financial
Officer of Horace Mann Educators Corporation.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, HMEC filed three Current Reports on Form 8-K
with the SEC, each containing an item 5 Other Events and an ltem 7 Financial
Statements and Exhibits, as follows:

1.

Dated November 4, 2002, regarding the Company's press release reporting its
financial results for the three and nine month periods ended September 30,
2002.

Dated November 4, 2002, regarding the Company's press release announcing
the effectiveness of its Shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration
No. 333-98043) which registers the resale of the Company's Senior Convertible
Notes due May 14, 2032 by the security holders listed in the prospectus
contained in the registration statement and the common shares issuable upon
conversion of the Senior Convertible Notes.

Dated December 10, 2002, regarding the Company's press release reporting
two capital transactions, one designed to improve its capitalization at the holding
company level and one to improve the statutory surplus of its primary life
insurance subsidiary.

See list of exhibits in this item 15.

See list of financial statement schedules in this item 15.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the reguirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Horace Mann
Educators Corporation has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized.
HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION
/s/ Louis G. Lower |l

Louis G. Lower |l
President and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer:

/s/ Louis G. Lower ii
Louis G. Lower Il
President,
Chief Executive Officer and a Director

Principal Financial Officer:

/sl Peter H. Heckman
Peter H. Heckman
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Cfficer

Principal Accounting Officer:

/s/ Bret A. Conklin
Bret A. Conklin
Senior Vice President and Controller

Dated: March 26, 2003
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of Horace Mann Educators Corporation and in the capacities and on the date(s) indicated.

Directors:

/s/ Joseph J. Melone

Joseph J. Melone, Chairman of the
Board of Directors

/s/ William W. Abbott

William W. Abbott, Director

{s/ Mary H. Futrell

Mary H. Futrell, Director

/s/ Donald E. Kiernan

Donald E. Kiernan, Director

/s! Jeffrey L. Morby

Jeffrey L. Morby, Director

/s/ Shaun F. O'Maliey

Shaun F. O'Malley, Director

/s/ Charles A. Parker

Charles A. Parker, Director

/s/ William J. Schoen

William J. Schoen, Director




Certifications

Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

[, Louis G. Lower li, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Horace Mann Educators Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included
in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual
report;

4.  Theregistrant's other certifying officer and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for
the registrant and have;

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
annual report is being prepared,

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as
of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation
Date"); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation
Date;

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer and { have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors
(or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial data and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material
weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees
who have a significant role in the registrant's internal controls; and
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6. The registrant's other cerlifying officer and | have indicated in this annual report whether
there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
internat controis subsequent te the date of our most recent evaluaticn, including any corrective
actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: _March 26, 2003 {s/ Louis G. Lower i

Louis G. Lower [
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxiey Act of
2002 :

|, Peter H. Heckman, certify that:
1. [have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Horace Mann Educators Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this annual report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financia!l information included
in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual
report;

4.  Theregistrant's other certifying officer and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for
the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as
of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation
Date"); and

C) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation
Date; :

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors
(or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial data and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material
weaknesses in internal controls; and

) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees
who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and
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6. The registrant's other certifying officer and ! have indicated in this annual report whether
there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective
actions with regard 1o significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: _March 26, 2003 ‘ /s/ Peter H. Heckman

Peter H. Heckman
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
{Dofiars in millions, except per share data)

Forward-looking information

Statements made in the following discussion that state the Company's or management's

intentions, hopes, beliefs, expectations or predictions of future events or the Company’s future
financial performance are forward-looking statements and involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors. It is imporiant to note that the Company’s actual results could
differ materially from those projected in such forward-looking statements due to, among other
risks and uncertainties inherent in the Company’'s business, the following important factors:

2]

©

Changes in the composition of the Company's assets and liabilities.

Fluctuations in the market value of securities within the Company's investment portfolio due
to credit issues and the related after-tax effect on the Company’s shareholders’ equity and
total capital through either realized or unrealized investment losses. In addition, the impact
of fluctuations in the financial markets on the Company's defined benefit pension plan
assets and the related after-tax effect on the Company's operatmg expenses, shareholders’
equity and total capital.

Prevailing interest rate levels, including the impact of interest rates on (i) unrealized gains
and losses in the Company’s investment portfolio and the related after-tax effect on the
Company's shareholders’' equity and total capital, (ii) the book yield of the Company's
investment portfolio and (iii) the Company's ability to maintain appropriate interest rate
spreads over the fixed rates guaranteed in the Company's life and annuity products.
Defaults on interest or dividend payments in the Company’'s investment portfolio due to
credit issues and the resulting impact on investment income.

The impact of fluctuations in the capital markets on the Company's ability to refinance
outstanding indebtedness.

The frequency and severity of catastrophes such as hurricanes, earthquakes and storms,
the ability of the Company to maintain a favorable catastrophe reinsurance program, and
the collectibility of reinsurance receivables.

Future property and casualty loss experience and its impact on estimated claims and claim
adjustment expenses for losses occurring in prior years. ‘

The cyclicality of the insurance industry.

Business risks inherent in the Company's restructuring of its property and casualty claims
operation.

The risk related to the Company’s dated and complex information systems, which are more
prone to error than advanced technology sysiems.

Disruptions of the general business climate, investments, capital markets and consumer
attitudes caused by geopolitical acts such as terrorism, war or other similar events.

The impact of a disaster or catastrophic event affecting the Company's employees or its
home office facilities and the Company's ability to recover and resume its business
operations on a timely basis.

The Company's ability to develop and expand its agency force and its direct product
distribution systems, as well as the Company's ability to maintain and secure product
sponsorships by local, state and national education associations.




¢ The competitive impact of new entrants such as mutual funds and banks into the tax-
deferred annuity products markets, and the Company's ability to profitably expand its
property and casualty business in highly competitive environments.’

» Changes in insurance regulations, including (i) those affecting the ability of the Company's
insurance subsidiaries to distribute cash to the holding company and (ii) those impacting
the Company's ability to profitably write property and casualty insurance policies in one or
more states.

» Changes in federal income tax laws and changes resulting from federal tax audits affecting
corporate tax rates or taxable income.

» Changes in federal and state laws and regulations which affect the relative tax and other
advantages of the Company's life and annuity products to customers.

» The impact of fluctuations in the financial markets on the Company's variable annuity fee
revenues, valuations of deferred policy acquisition costs and value of acquired insurance
in force, and the level of guaranteed minimum death benefit reserves.

« The Company's ability to maintain favorable claims-paying ability, financial strength and
debt ratings.

» Adverse changes in policyhoider mortality and morbidity rates.

+ The resolution of legal proceedings and related matters.

Critical Accounting Policles

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") requires the Company's management to make
estimates and assumptions based on information available at the time the financial statements
are prepared. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of the Company's
assets, liabilities, shareholders’ equity and net income. Certain accounting estimates are
particularly sensitive because of their significance to the Company's financial statements and
because of the possibility that subseguent evenis and available information may differ markedly
from management's judgements at the time the financial statements were prepared. Management
has discussed with the Audit Committee the quality, not just the acceptability, of the Company’s
accounting principles as applied in its financial reporting. The discussions generally included such
matters as the consistency of the Company’s accounting policies and their application, and the
clarity and compieteness of the Company's financial statements, which include related
disclosures. For the Company, the areas most subject to significant management judgements
include: reserves for property and casuaity claims and claim settlement expenses, reserves for
future policy benefits, deferred policy acquisition costs, value of acquired insurance in force,
valuation of investments and valuation of assets and liabilities related to the defined benefit
pension plan.

Underwriting results of the property and casualty segment are significantly influenced by
estimates of the Company's uitimate liability for insured events. Reserves for property and
casualty claims include provisions for payments to be made on reported claims, claims incurred
but not yet reported and associated settlement expenses. The process by which these reserves
are established reguires reliance upon estimates based on known facts and on interpretations of
circumstances, including the Company's experience with similar cases and historical trends
involving claim payment patterns, claim payments, pending levels of unpaid claims and product
mix, as well as other factors including court decisions, economic conditions and public attitudes.
Adjustments may be required as information develops which varies from experience, or, in some
cases, augments data which previously were not considered sufficient for use in determining
liabilities. The effects of these adjustments may be significant and are charged or credited to
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income for the period in which the adjustments are made. Due to the nature of the Company's
personal lines business, the Company has no exposure to claims for toxic waste cleanup, other
environmental remediation or asbestos-related ilinesses other than claims under homeowners
insurance policies for environmentally related items such as toxic mold.

The Company compietes a detailed study of property and casualty reserves based on
information available at the end of each quarter and year using comparable procedures for each
period. Trends of reported losses (paid amounts and case reserves on ciaims reported to the
Company) for each accident year are reviewed and ultimate loss costs for those accident years
are estimated. The Company engages an independent property and casualty actuarial consulting
firm to prepare an independent study of the Company's property and casualty reserves twice a
year - at June 30 and December 31.

Liabilities for future benefits on life and annuity policies are established in amounts
adequate to meet the estimated future obligations on policies in force. Liabilities for future policy
benefits on certain life insurance policies are computed using the net level premium method and
are based on assumptions as to future investment yield, mortality and withdrawais. Mortality and
withdrawai assumptions for all policies have been based on various actuarial tables which are
consistent with the Company's own experience. Liabilities for future benefits on annuity contracts
and certain long-duration life insurance contracts are carried at accumulated policyholder values
without reduction for potentiai surrender or withdrawal charges. In the event actual experience
varies from the estimated liabilities, adjustments are charged or credited to income for the period
in which the adjustments are made.

The Company has established a guaranteed minimum death benefit ("GMDB") reserve on
variable annuity contracts and reguiarly monitors this reserve considering fiuctuations in the
financial markets. At December 31, 2002, under GAAP, the GMDB reserve was $0.8 million. The
comparable reserve under statutory accounting principles was $1.6 million. The Company has
a relatively low exposure to GMDB because approximately 25% of contract values have no
guarantee; approximately 70% have only a return of premium guarantee; and approximately 5%
have a guarantee of premium at an annual interest rate of 3% to 5%. The aggregate in-the-
money death benefits under the GMDB provision totaled $115 million at December 31, 2002.
Regarding the sensitivity of the GMDB reserve to market fluctuations, an approximation for the
impact on the GMDB is: for each 1 point of negative/positive market performance for the
underiying mutual funds of the Company's variable annuities, the GMDB reserve would currently
increase/decrease less than $0.1 million.

Policy acquisition costs, consisting of commissions, policy issue and other costs, which vary
with and are primarily related to the production of business, are capitalized and amortized on a
basis consistent with the type of insurance coverage. For investment {annuity) contracts,
acquisition costs, and also the value of annuity business acquired in the 1989 acquisition of the
Company ("Annuity VIF"), are amortized over 20 years in proportion tc estimated future gross
profits. Capitalized acquisition costs for interest-sensitive life contracts are aiso amortized over
20 years in proportion to estimated future gross profits. The most significant assumptions that are
involved in the estimation of future gross profits include future market performance, business
surrender/lapse rates and the impact of realized investment gains and losses. For the annuity
segment, the Company amortizes policy acquisition costs and the Annuity VIF utilizing a 10%
reversion to the mean approach with a maximum rate of 12%. At December 31, 2002, capitalized
annuity policy acquisition costs and the Annuity VIF asset represented approximately 4% of the
total annuity accumulated cash value. In the event actual experience differs significantly from
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assumptions or assumptions are significantly revised, the Company may be required to record a
material charge or credit to amortization expense for the period in which the adjustment is made.
As noted above, there are a number of assumptions involved in the valuation of capitalized policy
acquisition costs and the Annuity VIF. With regard to market performance assumptions for the
underlying mutual funds of the Company's variable annuities, a 1% deviation from the targeted
market performance would currently impact amortization between $0.9 million and $0.2 million
depending on the magnitude and direction of the deviation.

The Company's methodology of assessing other-than-temporary impairments is based on
security-specific facts and circumstances as of the date of the reporting period. Based on these
facts, if management believes it is probable that amounts due will not be collected according to
the contractual terms of a debt security not impaired at acquisition, or if the Company does not
have the ability or intent to hold a security with an unrealized loss until it matures or recovers in
value, an other-than-temporary impairment shall be considered to have occurred. As a general
tule, if the market value of a debt security has fallen below 80% of book value for more than six
months, this security will be reviewed for an other-than-temporary impairment. Additionally, if
events become known that call into question whether the security issuer has the ability to honor
its contractual commitments, whether or not such security has been trading above an 80% fair
value to cost relationship, such security holding will be evaluated to determine whether or not such
security has suffered an other-than-temporary decline in value.

The Company reviews the fair value of the entire investment portfolio on a monthly basis.
This review, in conjunction with the Company's investment managers' monthly credit reports and
relevant factors such as (1) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, (2) the
Company's intent and ability to retain the investment long enough to allow for the anticipated
recovery in market value, (3) the stock price trend of the issuer, (4) the market leadership position
of the issuer, (5) the debt ratings of the issuer and (6) the cash flows of the issuer are all
considered in the impairment assessment. A write-down is recorded when such decline in value
is deemed to be other-than-temporary, with the realized investment loss reflected in the Statement
of Operations for the period.

The decline in value below cost is not assumed to be other-than-temporary for fixed maturity
investments with unrealized losses due to market conditions or industry-related events where
there exists a reasonable market recovery expectation and the Company has the intent and ability
to hold the investment until maturity or a market recovery is realized. Management believes that
its intent and ability to hold a fixed maturity investment with a continuous material unrealized loss
due to market conditions or industry-related events for a period of time sufficient to allow a market
recovery or to maturity is a decisive factor when considering an impairment loss. In the event that
the Company's intent or ability to hold a fixed maturity investment with a continuous material
unrealized loss for a period of time sufficient to allow a market recovery or to maturity were to
change, an evaluation for other-than-temporary impairment is performed. An other-than-
temporary impairment loss will be recognized based upon ali relevant facts and circumstances
for each investment, as appropriate, in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission
Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") No. 59, "Accounting for Non-Current Marketable Equity
Securities,” Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards ("SFAS") No. 115, "Accounting for Certain investments in Debt and Equity Securities,”
and related guidance.
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The Company's cost estimates for its defined benefit pension pian are determined based
on assumptions which include the discount rate, expected return on plan assets and anticipated
lump sum distributions. A discount rate of 6.75% was used by the Company at December 31,
2002, which was based on the average vield for long-term, high grade securities available during
the pension benefit payout period. To set its discount rate, the Company looks to leading
indicators, inciuding Moody's Aa long-term bond index. The expected return on pian assets
assumed by the Company at December 31, 2002 was 7.50%. Management believes that it has
adopted realistic assumptions for the discount rate and investment return. To the extent that
actual experience differs from the Company's assumptions, further adjustments may be required
with the effects of these adjustments charged or credited to income and/or shareholders' equity
for the period in which the adjustments are made.

Resuits of Operations -- Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared ¢ Year Ended
December 31, 2001

Insurance Premiums and Confract Charges

Insurance Premiums Written and Contract Deposits

Year Ended Growth Over
December 31, : Prior Year
2002 2001 Percent Amount
. Automobile and property (voluntary) .. $513.2 $496.6 3.3% $16.6
Excluding Massachusetts automobile  513.2 477.7 7.4% 35.5
Massachusetts automobile . ....... - 18.9 -100.0% (18.9)
Annuity deposits .............. ... 261.5 2391 8.4% 22.4
Life ... . 112.9 117.2 -3.7% (4.3)
Subtotal - corelines ......... 887.6 852.9 . 4.1% 34.7
Subtotal - core lines, excluding
Massachusetts automobile .. 887.6 834.0 6.4% 53.6
Involuntary and other
property & casualty .............. 11.7 22.7 -48.5% (11.0)
Excluding Massachusetts
automobile . ......... ... .. ... 10.5 14.9 -28.5% (4.4)
Massachusetis automobile ...... 1.2 7.8 -84.6% (6.6)
Total ... ... .. L $899.3 $875.6 2.7% $23.7
Total, excluding Massachusetts
automobiie ............... $898 1 $848.8 5.8% 48,2

F-6




insurance Premiums and Contract Charges Earned
{Excludes annuity and life contract deposits)

Year Ended Growth Over
December 31, Prior Year
2002 2001 Percent Amount
Automobile and property (voluntary) .. $504.3 $485.5 3.9% $18.8
Excluding Massachusetts automobile  494.4 467.2 5.8% 27.2
Massachusetts automobile .. ... ... 9.9 18.3 -45.9% (8.4)
Annuity ... 14.2 14.9 -4.7% (0.7)
Life ... ... .. . 91.4 92.0 -0.7% (0.6)
Subtotal - corelines .......... 608.9 592.4 3.0% 17.5
Subtotal - core lines, excluding . . '
Massachusetts automobile . ...  600.0 5741 4.5% 25.9
Involuntary and other
property & casualty .. ............ 15.3 22.8 -32.9% (7.5)
Excluding Massachusetts
automobile . ................. 0.6 14.7" -34.7% {(5.1)
Massachusetts automobile ... ... 57 8.1 -29.6% (2.4)
Total ... ... .. ... ...l $625.2 $615.2 1.6% $10.0
Total, excluding Massachusetts ' :
automobile ................ $609.6 $588.8 3.5% 20.8

The Company restructured its presence in the Massachusetts automobile market and
ceased writing automobile insurance policies in that state on December 31, 2001. Through a
marketing alliance with an unaffiliated company, The Commerce Group, inc. ("Commerce"), the
Company's agents are authorized to offer Massachusetts customers automobile insurance
policies written by Commerce. Horace Mann agents continue to write the Company's other
products in Massachusetts, including retirement annuities and property and life insurance.

Premiums written and contract deposits for the Company's core lines increased 6.4%
compared to the prior year, excluding Massachusetts voluntary automobile premiums written in
2001. The growth reflected continuing productivity gains of the Company's growing agent force
and the success of initiatives to expand the Company's penetration of the educator market.
Specifically, the increase resulted from continued strong gains in the annuity segment and rate
increases in the property and automobile lines. Voluntary property and casualty business, a
component of the Company's core lines, represents policies soid through the Company's
marketing organization and issued under the Company’'s underwriting guidelines.

Recent improvements in agent retention as well as an 18.6% increase in new hires for 2002
resulted in growth in the total agent count of 6.3%, compared to last year. The growth in agent
count represents the most significant annual increase in eight years. At December 31, 2002, the
Company's exclusive agency force {otaled 922. Of those, 395 were in their first 24 months with
the Company, an increase of 25.8%, compared to December 31, 2001. The number of
experienced agents in the agency force, 527, was down 4.7% at December 31, 2002, compared
to a year earlier, due primarily to terminations of less-productive agents over the 12 months. This
has contributed to the 6.5% annual increase in average agent productivity for all lines of business
combined in 2002. Average agent productivity is measured as new sales premiums per the
average number of agents for the period.
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in 2001, the Company modified its agent compensation and reward structure in order to
provide an incentive for agent performance that is more closely aligned with the Company's
objectives. The revised structure continues the historical focus on profitability but piaces a greater
emphasis on individual agent productivity, new premium growth, growth in educator and cross-
sold business, and business retention. The Company's agency manager compensation structure
was similarly modified, and the agency management team was strengthened through the
promotions of several of the Company's most experienced and capable agents. The new
compensation plan for agency managers became effective January 1, 2001. The new
compensation plan for all agents was implemented on August 1, 2001, and there were
approximately 800 agents at the time of implementation. Also in 2001, the Company implemented
enhanced agent training programs to help new agents achieve production targets more rapidly
and help experienced agents sharpen and strengthen their skills. The Company aiso began
providing agents with additional tools and support programs to help them make a successful
transition to their new role under the Company's Value Proposition. Management believes these
actions, along with other strategic initiatives, wiil continue to have a positive impact on agent
productivity in the future.

in December 2001, the North Carolina Commissioner of insurance (the "Commissioner”)
ordered a 13% reduction in private passenger automobile insurance premium rates tc be effective
in April 2002. The Commissioner's Order was in response to a request from the North Carolina
Rate Bureau (the "Bureau"), which represents the insurance industry, to increase private
passenger automobile insurance rates by 5%. The Bureau has voted to appeal the
Commissioner’s Order in the state appellate court and raise rates while the case is being heard.
The difference between the rates ordered by the Commissioner and the Bureau are anticipated
to have an adverse impact of approximately $350 million for the insurance industry. The
difference in rates between the Commissioner and the Bureau must be heid in an escrow account
pending the court's decision. If the court should rule in favor of the Bureau, the insurers will be
entitled to the funds previously escrowed. If the court should rule in favor of the Commissioner,
the escrowed funds plus interest will be refunded tc the policyholders. Following the April 2002
effective date, this issue negatively impacted the Company's earned premiums and pretax income
by $1.8 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002. The Company's 2003 earned
premiums and pretax income are expected to be negatively impacted by approximately $3 million
as a result of this dispute over 2002 rates. A similar dispute between the Commissioner and the
Bureau is also in process regarding 2003 rates, which is expected to have a further adverse
impact on 2003 resuits of approximately $1 million pretax.

Growth in total voluntary automobile and homeowners premium written was 7.4% for 2002,
excluding Massachusetts voluntary automobiie written premiums of $18.9 million from the prior
year. Voluntary automobile insurance premium written, excluding Massachusetts, increased 7.1%
($24.9 million) compared to 2001, and homeowners premium increased 8.4% ($10.6 million). The
property and casuaity increase in premiums resulted from the impact of rate increases on average
premium per policy. Average written premium was up 6% for voluntary automobile and 14% for
homeowners, compared to a year earlier, while the average earned premium increased 6% for
voluntary automobiie and 11% for homeowners. As of December 31, 2002, approved rate
increases for the Company's automobile and homeowners business were 6% and 21%,
respectively. The Company's competitors have taken simiiar rate increases. Over the prior 12
months and excluding a 23,000 unit decrease in Massachusetts, automobile poiicies in force were
equal to December 31, 2001. There were no Massachusetts voluntary automobile policies in
force at December 31, 2002. Homeowners policies in force were 8,000 less than December 31,




2001, reflecting planned reductions. At December 31, 2002, there were 573,000 voluntary
automobile and 284,000 homeowners policies in force for a total of 857,000.

~ Based on policies in force, the property and casualty 12-month retention rate for new and
renewal policies was 87%, 1 percentage point lower than the 12 months ended December 31,
2001, reflecting the anticipated reductions in homeowners policies in force and the aggressive
pricing and underwriting actions implemented during the period. The Company plans additional
rate increases in 2003, with primary emphasis on the homeowners line, which are expected to
have a continued adverse impact on retention of homeowners policies. Business initiatives,
together with price increases implemented and planned, are expected to return the Company to
rate adequacy, with average premium growth keeping pace with average loss experience over
time.

Involuntary property and casualty business includes allocations of business from state
mandatory insurance facilities and assigned risk business. The decline in premiums written for
involuntary and other property and casualty was primarily attributable to a decrease in state
mandatory automobile insurance facility business, primarily Massachusetts, assumed in 2002,
compared to the prior year.

Growth in annuity contract deposits for the year ended December 31, 2002 reflected new
business growth and improved retention of existing business. Compared to the full year 2001,
new annuity deposits increased 9.4%, reflecting an 8.8% increase in scheduled deposits received
and a 10.4% increase in single premium and rollover deposits. New deposits to fixed accounts
were 15.6%, or $19.1 million, higher than in 2001, and new deposits to variable accounts
increased 2.8%, or $3.3 million, compared to a year earlier. The Company offers a dollar cost
averaging program for amounts systematically transferred from the fixed investment return option
to the variable investment return options over 3-month, 6-month or 12-month periods.

In January 2002, the Company announced that it had been selected as one of four
providers of fixed and variable annuity options to Chicago, lllinois public school employees. The
Chicago Public Schools is the third-largest school district in the United States of America ("U.S.").
Beginning in April 2002, the Company is partnering with an independent broker/aealer, which has
been providing retirement planning services to Chicago Public School employees for more than
two decades, to pursue this opportunity to bolster growth in its annuity business. During the
period April through December 2002, independent agents sold approximately 1,600 new Horace
Mann flexible premium contracts in Chicago, representing more than $7 million in annual contract
deposits, $4.3 million of which were received since this effort began on April 1. In addition to the
Company's Chicago initiative, independent agents generated annualized Horace Mann contract
deposits of nearly $3 million in the three months ended December 31, 2002 in other U.S. markets.

Fixed accumulated cash value was $1.5 billion at December 31, 2002, $112.3 million, or
8.1% more than a year earlier. Fixed accumulated cash value retention for the 12 months ended
December 31, 2002 was 94.0%, 0.6 percentage points betier than the prior year. Variable
accumulated deposit retention of 82.1% for 2002 decreased 0.3 percentage points compared to
a year earlier, as ongoing improvement following the Company's expansion of variable investment
options and implementation of proprietary asset allocation software was impacted by fluctuations
in the financial markets. Variable accumulated funds on deposit at December 31, 2002 were $0.9
billion, $153.9 million less than a year earlier, 2 15.3% decrease including the impact of financial
market values. The number of annuity contracts outstanding increased 5.8%, or 8,000 contracts,
compared to December 31, 2001.
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in 2000, the Company took actions tc increase the variable annuity options availabie to
customers, and also took steps to improve the returns of its proprietary mutual funds. For the
year ended December 31, 2002, the dollar amount of variable annuity surrenders was 3% lower
than for the same period last year. The doliar amount of fixed accumulated cash value surrenders
also decreased 3% compared to 2001. These further improvements follow decreases in the dollar
amount of variable and fixed accumulated cash value surrenders of 54% and 41%, respectively,
in 2001.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2002, annuity segment contract charges
earned decreased 4.7%, or $0.7 million, compared to the same period a year earlier. in the

current period, declines in market valuations negatively impacted fees earned on variable
accumulated balances. Improvements in retention of variable and fixed accumulated values, as
described above, aiso resulted-in a decline in surrender fees earned.

Life segment premiums and contract deposits for 2002 were 3.7% lower than a year earlier,
due to a decrease in both new business and interest-sensitive life product deposits. The life
insurance in force lapse ratio of 9.1% for the tweive months ended December 31, 2002, was egual
to the same period last year. The lapse ratio for the term portion of the business improved slightly
compared to the prior year, while the lapse ratio for the whole life portion of the business
increased. In 2003, the Company anticipates expanding its life product portfolio to strengthen this
segment’s growti potential.

Net Investment Income

Pretax investment income of $196.0 million for the twelve months ended December 31,
2002 decreased 1.7%, or $3.3 miilion, {1.6%, or $2.1 million, after tax) compared to the prior year
due primarily to lost income related to investment credit issues and a decline in the portfolio yield
which offset growth in the size of the investment portfolic. Average investments (excluding the
securities lending collateral) increased 5.0% over the past 12 months. The average pretax yield
on the investment portfolio was 6.7% (4.5% after tax) for 2002, compared to a pretax vyield of 7.2%
(4.8% after tax) a year earlier. Looking to 2003, investment income wili continue to be under
pressure due to lost income related {o investment credit issues from 2002, described under
"Resuilts of Operations -- Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended December
31, 2001 -- Realized Investment Gains and Losses” below, and current reinvestment returns
available.

Realized Investment Gains and Losses

Net realized investment losses were $42.4 million and $10.0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. For the full year 2002, the Company recorded
charges of $53.9 million due to the impairment of fixed income securities, primarily securities
issued by companies in the communications sector. In the fourth quarter of 2002, $2.5 million of
net realized gains were recorded, reflecting gains from portfolio sale transactions partially offset
by fixed income security impairment charges of $2.9 million. In the third quarter of 2002, $13.2
million of realized investment lcsses were recorded, in large part from the impairment of fixed
income securities issued by companies in the communications sector, primarily Qwest
Communications International Inc. and the NTL companies. By September 30, 2002, the
Company had sold all of its holdings of securities issued by WorldCom, [nc. In the second quarter
of 2002, $41.3 million of realized investment losses were recorded, which included a loss of $19.4
million related to the sale and impairment of securities issued by WorldCom, Inc. Additionally,
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impairment losses of $21.2 million were recognized in the second quarter of 2002, relating
primarily to holdings of fixed income securities of other companies in the communications sector.
The first quarter of 2002 included impairment charges of $2.9 million related to fixed income
securities issued by two telecommunications companies and a realized investment loss of $2.0
million from the Company's sale of all of its holdings in securities issued by Kmart Corporation.
Partiaily offsetting these losses for the twelve months were gains realized from ongoing
investment portfolio management activity. In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company sold all of
its holdings in securities issued by Enron Corporation and its affiliates, which resulted in a realized
‘investment loss of $7.8 million. The remaining $2.2 million of net realized losses in 2001 primarily
resulted from the sale, for credit reasons, of nine fixed income securities and the impairment of
fixed income securities issued by three telecommunications companies, which were only partialty
offset by the first quarter full repayment of an impaired commercial morigage 1oan and the release
of a related reserve for uncollectible mortgages.

Management believes that there may be further investment impairments in 2003 if current
economic and financial conditions persist. The table below shows the ten largest sectors of the
Company's investments in corporate securities as of December 31, 2002.

Fair Pretax

Number of Market Amortized  Unrealized

issuers Value Cost Gain (Loss)
Banking and Finance ..... 28 $ 24358 $ 2236 $20.3
Energy ................. 27 202.1 186.8 15.3
Telecommunications ... ... 18 141.5 133.1 8.4
Utilities ................ 20 131.5 133.0 (1.5)
Food and Beverage .. . . ... 14 105.2 99.1 6.1
Automobiles ............ 5 80.7 81.4 (0.7)
Broadcasting and Media . . . 19 78.9 76.0 2.9
Industry, Manufacturing . . . . S 64.5 64.2 0.3
Transportation ........... 13 58.4 58.7 (0.3)
Chemicals .............. 10 48.0 48.3 (0.3)
All Other Corporates (1) ... 71 389.0 370.2 18.8

Total corporate fixed

maturity securities .. ... 234 $1.6543.7 $1.474.4 $69.3

(1)  The All Other Corporates category contains 15 additional industry classifications. Health
care, retail, real estate, defense, cable and insurance represented $240.5 million of the fair
value at December 31, 2002, and the remaining 9 classifications each represented less
than $30 million of the fair value at December 31, 2002.

The securities impaired in the fourth quarter of 2002, in addition to increases to previously
recorded impairments, were issued by iwo companies outside of the communications sector
(American Airlines and Oklahoma Development Finance Authority). The securities impaired in
the third quarter of 2002, also including some increases to previously recorded impairments,
included seven communications companies (Qwest, NTL, Charter Communications, international
Cabletel, Telewest, Diamond Cable, and IGC Holdings) and one energy company (Mirant). The
securities impaired in the second quarter of 2002 included four teilecommunications companies
(WorldCom, partial sale of Qwest, Western Wireless, and American Tower) and three cable
companies (Adelphia, Century Communications, and Telewest). Petrozuata Finance, which had
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declined in value due to political risk associated with Venezuela, was also impaired in the second
quarter of 2002. Securities issued by two companies in the communications sector (NTL and
Diamond Cable) were impaired in the first quarter of 2002. In each of the periods, these securities
were marked to market, and the write-downs were recorded as realized capital iosses in the
Statement of Operations. These impairments were deemed to be other-than-temporary for one
or more of the following reasons: the recovery of full market value was not likely, the issuer
defauited or was likely to default due to the need to restructure its debt, or the Company had an
intent to sell the security in the near future.

At December 31, 2002, the Company's diversified fixed maturity portfolic consisted of 1,121
investment positions and totaled approximately $3.0 biliion in carrying value. The portfolio is
95.4% investment grade, based on market value, with an average quality rating of A+. At
December 31, 2002, the portfolio had approximately $27 million pretax of total gross unrealized
losses related to 137 positions. The following table provides information regarding fixed maturity
securities that had an unrealized loss at December 31, 2002, including the length of time that the
securities have continuously been in an unrealized ioss position.

Investment Positions With Unrealized Losses Segmented by Quality
and Period of Continuous Unrealized Loss
As Of December 31, 2002

Cost or Pretax
- Number of Fair Amortized Unrealized
Positions Value Cost Loss
Investment Grade
6 Monthsorless ................ 50 $171.8 $175.7 $ (3.9
7 through 12months . ............ 17 55.8 58.7 (3.9)
13 through24 months . . .......... 6 33.1 35.3 (2.2)
25through36months . .. ......... - - - -
37 through 48 months . ........... 5 30.5 33.4 {(2.9)
Greaterthan48 months . ......... _ 2 4.6 5.2 (0.6)
Total ... . _80 $295.8 $309.3 $(13.5)
Non-investment Grade
6 Monthsorless ................ 11 $ 193 $ 20.8 $ (1.5)
7 through12months . ............ 22 32.5 354 (2.9)
13 through 24 months . ........... 8 19.7 22.8 (3.1)
25 through 36 months ............ - - - -
37 through48months ............ 6 13.7 14.7 (1.0)
Greater than 48 months . ......... _4 19.4 24.3 (4.9)
Total ...... .. ... 51 $104.6 $118.0 $(13.4)
Not Rated
Total, all 6 Months orless ....... ) $ 26 $ 26 *
Grand Total ................. 137 $403.0 $4299 $(26.9)

* Less than $0.1 million



Of the securities with unrealized losses, only one issuer had pretax unrealized losses
greater than $2 million and was trading below 80% of book value at December 31, 2002. The
Company views this decrease in value as being temporary, expects recovery in market value,
anticipates continued payments under the terms of the securities, and has the intent and ability
to hold this security until maturity or a recovery in market value occurs.

Historically, the Company's investment guidelines have limited single corporate issuer
exposure to 1% of invested assets. Based on current financial market conditions, the Company
has revised its guidelines to limit the single corporate issuer exposure to 4.0% (after tax) of
shareholders’ equity for "AA" or "AAA" rated securities, 2.5% (after tax) of shareholders' equity
for "A" rated securities, 2.0% (after tax) of shareholders' equity for "BBB" rated securities, and
1.0% (after tax) of shareholders’ equity for non-investment grade securities. The change in the
investment guidelines became effective in the third quarter of 2002 for new purchases of
securities. It is anticipated that the existing portfolio will be brought into compliance with the new
guidelines by the end of 2003. Additional sub-sector limitations were also developed as part of
the revised guidelines.

The Company's investments are managed by outside managers and advisors which follow
the investment guidelines established by the Company. In conjunction with the review of
investment guidelines, the Company also reviewed its overall investment program and the
performance of its investment managers. Effective in March 2003, the Company consolidated the
management of its fixed maturity securities portfolio with BlackRock, with the exception of a small
portion allocated to a specialty high-yield manager. BlackRock has managed a portion of the
Company's fixed maturity securities portfolio since 1994.

Benefits, Claims and Settlement Expenses

Year Ended Growth Over
December 31, Prior Year
2002 2001 Percent Amount
Propertyand casualty ............. $410.2 $433.3 -5.3%  $(23.1)
Annuity ... 0.8 (0.8) 1.6
Life ... ... 39.9 411 -2.9% (1.2)
Corporate & other ................ - 20 -100.0% (2.0)
Total ........ ... .. ... $450.9 $475.6 -5.2% $(24.7)
Property and casualty
statutory loss ratio:
Before catastrophe losses .. ... .. 76.9% 83.0% -6.1%
After catastrophe losses ........ 79.2% 85.2% -6.0%
Impact of litigation charges (a) ... 0.3% - 0.3%

(@) Under statutory accounting principles, the $1.6 million litigation charge described below in
"Results of Cperations -- Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended
December 31, 2001 -- Net Income” is reflected in property and casualty claims and
settlement expenses. On a GAAP basis, this item is reported separately in the Statement
of Operations as litigation charges in the Corporate and Other segment.
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in 2002, the Company's benefits, claims and settiement expenses reflected improvements
in both the voluntary automobile and the homeowners statutory loss ratios, including catastrophe
losses and the impact of litigation charges, as a result of favorabie weather, loss containment
initiatives and the favorable impact of the Company's restructuring of its Massachusetts
automobile business. Favorable property and casualty current accident year loss trends were
partially offset by adverse development in prior years' reserves, as described below. in 2001, the
Company’s benefits, claims and settlement expenses were affected adversely by sirengthening
of prior years' reserves for property and casuaity ciaims and by a high level of non-catastrophe
weather-related losses.

Excluding the $1.6 miliion provision for the costs of resoiving class action lawsuits reiated
to diminished value brought against the Company, net strengthening of reserves for property and
casualty claims occurring in prior years, excluding involuntary business, was $20.7 million for the
full year 2002, primarily related tc (1) automobile loss reserves from accident years 2001 and
years prior to 1997 and (2) ioss adjustment expense reserves from the 2001 and 2000 accident
years for both automobile and homeowners, compared to reserve strengthening of $14.5 million
in 20C1. Total reserves for property and casualty claims occurring in prior years, including
involuntary business and the $1.6 million provision in 2002 for class action litigation, were
strengthened $24.0 million in the current year, compared to $16.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The Company's property and casualty net reserves were $272.6 million and
$272.0 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

As discussed in the 2000 and 2001 Form 10-Ks as previously filed, the Company's first
material net reserve strengthening in more than 10 years occurred in the fourth quarter of 2000
and was related to a reduction of ceded reserves and an increase in reserves for the automobile
line of business. The changes in the recorded amounts were based on analyses, which were
impacted by then recent adverse claims emergence. Specifically with regard to the reduction of
ceded reserves, prior to the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company analyzed ceded reserves reiated
to four states' mandatory automobile facility business on an aggregate basis. As a result of
unanticipated adverse ceded reserve development throughout the second and third quarters of
2000, additional analysis was performed which isolated differing claims emergence patterns in
the Massachusetts automobile facility business, which was growing as a perceniage of total facility
business, as compared to the other three states. Based on this disaggregated analysis, the
Company conciuded that additional reserves were required. In addition, during the second and
third quarters of 2000 the Company noted increases in paid severities in excess of the original
expectations in its direct voluntary automobile line of business. The Company continued to
monitor such severity trends unti! such time as the Company believed that they were sufficiently
credible to require adjustment to the Company’s ioss and ioss expense reserve projections. As
a result, the Company revised its loss projections in the fourth quarter of 2000 to give greater
weight to the increasing trend of loss severities.

in 2001, the Company continued tc review its loss reserving methodoiogies and loss trend
analyses including more detailed analyses of subrogation recovery activity on business ceded to
the state automobile insurance facility in Massachusetts. The nature of the adverse trends in the
second and fourth quarters of 2001 that caused the Company to increase reserves consisted
primarily of the following: (1) an increase in the frequency and severity of educators excess
professional liability claims; (2) the utilization of selected ultimate subrogation recoverables that
were not trending with actual recoveries; and (3) the utilization of selected ultimate loss ratios in
establishing reserves for ceded voluntary automobile excess liability claims and ceded
Massachusetts involuntary automobile reserves that were not trending with actual results.
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The assumptions used by the Company prior to the change in estimate at December 31,
2001 as they relate to items (2) and (3) above were based on selected ultimate loss ratios that
were approximately 30 percentage points higher than the actual results of the second and fourth
quarters of 2001. Based upon the subseguent emergence of claims experience, estimates were
revised and assumptions were changed to lower the selected ultimate loss ratios in the ceded
business.

In the third guarter of 2002, the Company increased its reserves for prior accident years
primarily related to allocated loss adjustment expenses for the voluntary automobile and
homeowners lines and losses for the educator excess professional liability product. The Company
had noted increases in paid losses and loss adjustment expenses for prior accident years in these
lines during the first and second guarters of 2002 and continued to monitor such adverse trends
until such time as the Company believed that they were sufficiently credible to require adjustment
of the reserves. As a result, the Company revised its loss projections in the third quarter of 2002,
incorporating the higher paid loss and loss adjustment expense trends.

In the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company increased its reserves for prior accident years
' related primarily to (1) automobile loss reserves from accident years 2001, 2000 and years prior
to 1997 and (2) allocated and unallocated loss adjustment expense reserves from the 2001
accident year for both automobile and homeowners. During the third and fourth quarters of 2002,
the Company continued to closely monitor emerging trends in (1) the severity of payments on
previously reported losses for voluntary automobile and (2) paid loss adjustment expenses for
these prior accident years until such time as the Company believed that the trends were
sufficiently credible to require adjustment of the reserves. As a result, the Company revised its
loss projections in the fourth quarter of 2002, incorporating the higher paid loss and loss
adjustment expense trends.

At the time each of the reserve analyses were performed, the Company believed that each
estimate was based upon sound and correct methodology, that such methodology was
appropriately applied and that there were no trends which indicated the likelihood of future
strengthening.

As a result of the above activities in 2000, 2001, and 2002, the resulting net reserve
strengthening was considered to be a change in estimate, which resulted from new information
and subsequent developments from prior reporting periods and therefore, from better insight and
judgment. The net reserve strengthening did not result from a mathematical mistake, a mistake
in the application of accounting principles, or from oversight or misuse of facts that existed at the
time the financial statements were prepared. The financial impact of the net reserve
strengthening was therefore accounted for in the period that the change was determined, rather
than adjusting prior period financial statements.

F-15




The following table quantifies the amount of fourth quarter 2002, third quarter 2002, second
guarter 2001 and fourth quarter 2000 adverse/(favorable) development for each line of business
and accident years to which the re-estimates relate:

Three months ended
December 31, 2002

Accident Years:

2001 ...
2000 ...l

Three months ended
September 30, 2002

Accident Years:

2000 ...
2000 ...

Three months ended

June 30, 2001

Total . ..............

Total ...............

Accident Years:

2000 ...l
1889 ... ... '

Three months ended
December 31, 2000

Total ...............

Accident Years:

1899 . ... ...
1888 ...

Total ...............

Voluntary
Total ~ _Automobile _Property

Total

Other

Property &

Casualty

7.7 5.7
$15.2 $10.1

(3.3) (2.9)
2.0 25
$ 63 $ 40
$ 1.6 $(0.7)
3.7 3.1
57 23
$11.0 $ 47

$ 55 $ 3.6

6.4 6.0
12.8 12.8
$24.7 $22.4
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Non-catastrophe weather-related losses in the first and second quarters of 2001 were
notably greater than historical experience, and the third quarter of 2001 reflected additional
development related to these events. The statutory non-catastrophe property loss ratio by quarter
and for the full years 2002, 2001, 2000 and 1998 was as follows:

2002 2001 2000 . 1989
Non-catastrophe property
loss ratio for the:
Quarter ended March 31 ........ 78.5% 85.1% 79.0% 81.9%
Quarter ended June 30 ......... 75.4% 99.4% 91.4% 72.8%
Quarter ended September 30 .... 83.7% 99.7% 82.8% 78.1%
Quarter ended December 31 .. ... 58.3% 82.8% 80.7% 53.3%
Year ended December 31 ....... 73.5% 81.5% 83.4% 71.0%

After determining that the increase in non-catastrophe property losses experienced in the
early months of 2000 was due to underlying loss trends, rather than the normal cyclicality of the
property business, management began and has continued to implement pricing, underwriting and
loss control initiatives. The Company's actions have had a positive impact on the property loss
ratio in 2002, accompanied by an expected decline in homeowners policies in force. Management
expects that the impact of these changes will continue to be realized in 2003 and beyond. In light
of experience and competitive actions in 2001 and 2002, the Company is continuing to
aggressively increase homeowners rates. The Company has also initiated further tightening of
underwriting guidelines, expanded reunderwriting of existing policies, implemented coverage and
policy form restrictions in all states where permitted, and limited new homeowners business to
educators in certain areas. In addition, due to the claims experience in the fourth quarter of 2001,
the Company is conducting a program to reinspect a significant portion of its property book of
business. The Company also continues to strengthen its homeowners policies' contract language
to further protect the Company against water damage and mold claims. The Company has also
begun the process of redesigning its claim handling procedures in order to better control loss
costs. Management anticipates that these actions will enable the Company to improve the
profitability of its existing book of homeowners business and attract new business that meets its
profitability standards.

In July 2002, the Company announced the restructuring of its property and casualty claims
operations. The Company expects to realize operating and cost efficiencies and also improve
customer service from consolidation of claims office locations throughout the U.S. into 6 offices
compared to the previous 17, implementing a new claims administration system, and performing
certain claims reporting and adjusting functions internally versus utilizing external service
providers. in addition to the cost efficiencies anticipated from the new claims environment, the
restructuring is expected to have a favorable impact on automobile and homeowners claim
severity. The process of consolidating the offices into the six remaining locations was completed
by the end of 2002, as scheduled, and there was notable progress in hiring additional staff needed
in these locations. Installation and implementation of the new claims administration system,
including related process changes, are planned for mid-2003.

~ For 2002, incurred catastrophe losses for all lines were $11.9 million, compared to $11.2

million in 2001. incurred catastrophe losses in 2001 included a net benefit of $1.1 million due to
favorable development of reserves for 2000 catastrophe losses.
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The voiuntary automobile loss ratio excluding catastrophe losses was 76.4% in 2002,
including 0.4 percentage points due to the aforementioned class action lawsuits, compared to
77.6% for the prior year. The increase in average voluntary automobile premium per policy in
2002 exceeded the increase in average current accident year loss costs, as accident frequenues
frended lower and severities increased modestly.

The annuity benefits in 2002 consisted primarily of two componenis: (1) mortality charges
for annuity contracts on payout status and (2) an increase in the guaranteed minimum death
benefit ("GMDB") reserve on variable annuity contracts due to fluctuations in the financial markets.
The annuity benefits recorded in 2001 were comprised of three components: (1) a release of
reserves for certain supplementary contracts, resulting from a systems conversion, recorded in
the third quarter of 2001, (2) the establishment of a GMDB reserve on variable annuity contracts
in the third quarter of 2001 and (3) current period mortality experience on annuity contracts on
payout status.

Life mortality experience in 2002 was comparable to a year earlier. In 2001, the Company
reduced life segment reserves by $2.6 million related to policy coverages that were no longer in
force. :

As disclosed in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2001, eariy in that year
management discovered some deficiencies in the tax compliance testing procedures associated
with certain of the Company’s life insurance policies that could jeopardize the tax status of some
of those life policies. Deficiencies in the Company's computer-based monitoring of premiums,
combined with the complexity of certain of the Company's life insurance products, resulted in the
acceptance of too much premium for certain policies under the applicable tax test the Company
was using. As a result of this discovery, the Company retained outside experts to assist with the
~investigation and remedy of this issue. The deficiencies in the testing procedures related to
compliance with Internal Revenue Code ("IRC") Section 7702 (Definition of Life Insurance) were
identified and corrected. Such a problem is not uncommon in the life insurance industry and is
expected to be cured using internal Revenue Service ("IRS") procedures that have been
established specifically to address this type of situation. The Company recorded $2.0 million of
policynholder benefits in the Corporate and Other segment in the fourth quarter of 2001, as well
as $1.0 million of operating expense, which represented the Company’s current best estimate of
the costs to the Company to resolve these problems. In the second, third and fourth quarters of
2002, management further refinea its analysis and confirmed that the charge recorded in the
fourth quarter of 2001 continues to be its best estimate of the costs to the Company to resolve
these problems. [n October 2002, the Company filed documents with the IRS under the
established procedures to specifically address issues related to IRC Section 7702. The Company
is also in the process of identifying and correcting any related deficiencies and quantifying any
potential exposure associated with IRC Section 7702A (Modified Endowment Contracts). The
Company expects to make any subseguent IRS filings determined to be required under Section
7702A by the end of 2003.

As a result of the tax status issue described above, the complexity of the Company's
product underlying the policies in question, and the complexity of administering that product and
other life products offered by the Company, management is re-evaluating its life product portfolio
and related administrative system.




Interest Credited to Policyholders

Year Ended Growth Over
December 31. Prior Year
2002 2001 Percent Amount
Annuity ... $68.4 $67.9 0.7% $0.5
Life ... .. 30.0 28.6 4.9% 14
Total ... . $98.4 1.9

$96.5 2.0%

|
|

The fixed annuity average annual interest rate credited decreased to 4.8% for the year
ended December 31, 2002, compared to 5.1% for the prior year. Offsetting the decline in the rate
credited, the average accumulated fixed deposits increased 6.4% for the year ended December
31, 2002 compared to the prior year. Life insurance interest credited increased as a result of the
growth in interest-sensitive life insurance reserves.

Operating Expenses

In 2002, operating expenses increased $7.5 million, or 6.1%, compared to the prior year.
The higher levei of company-wide expense was due predominantly to increased employee
benefits costs, including transition costs related to changes in the Company's pension plan, and
reduced employee incentive compensation expenses in 2001. Excluding these factors, operating
expenses for the two periods were approximately equal. The increase in these company-wide
expenses impacted each of the Company’s insurance segments.

in 2001, the Company determined that it would freeze its defined benefit pension plan in
2002 and move to a defined contribution structure. Costs of transitioning to the new structure,
based upon assumptions of future events, were $6.2 million in 2002 and are currently estimated
to be approximately $6.5 million for 2003, largely as a result of settlement accounting provisions
that are expected to be triggered as a result of the higher retirement rate currently being
experienced by the Company, coupled with more retirees choosing lump sum distributions, and
the impact of declines in the market value of the pension plan's assets. The 2002 cost and 2003
cost estimate were increased during 2002 due to an updated review of the assumptions,
particularly the market value of the plan’'s assets and anticipated lump sum distributions.
Management believes that it has adopted realistic assumptions for investment returns, discount
rates and mortality. To the extent that actual experience differs from the Company's assumptions,
further adjustments may be required with the effects of these adjustments charged or credited to
income and/or shareholders’ equity for the period in which the adjustments are made.

The Company's policy with respect to funding the defined benefit pension plan is to
contribute amounts which are actuarially determined to provide the plan with sufficient assets to
meet future benefit payments consistent with the funding requirements of federal laws and
regulations. In 2002, the Company contributed $7.9 million to the defined benefit pension plan,
which was greater than the $1.8 million actuarially-determined required minimum amount,
reflecting a degree of conservatism which the Company believes to be appropriate in light of the
current volatility in the financial markets. Based on assumptions at the time of this Report on
Form 10-K, the Company anticipates contributing approximately $6.5 million to the defined benefit
pension plan in 2003. For the defined benefit pension plan, investments have been set aside in
a trust fund.
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The total corporate expense ratio on a statutory accounting basis, excluding restructuring
charges, was 22.6% for the year ended December 31, 2002, 0.7 percentage points lower than in
2001. The property and casualty statutory expense ratio was 24.4% for the year ended December
31, 2002, compared to 21.6% last year. The increase in the property and casualty statutory
expense ratio primarily reflected (1) severance and other charges related to the restructure of the
property and casualty claims operation, (2) the property and casualty segment's portion of the

increase in company-wide operating expenses, {(3) an increase in automobile new business
commissions and (4) the required statutory classification of escrowed North Carolina rate dispute
amounts.

Amortization of Policy Acquisition Expenses and Intangible Assets

For 2002, the combined amortization of policy acquisition expenses and intangible assets
was $67.0 million, compared to $63.8 million recorded in 2001.

Amortization of intangible assets was $5.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2002,
compared to $5.8 million in 2001 and scheduled amortization of $5.5 million reported in the
Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001. The decline reflected the
elimination of amcrtization of goodwill as the result of the adoption of Financial Accounting
Standards Board ("FASB") Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 142,
"Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Amortization of goodwill was $1.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001. Partially offsetting this factor was the December 2002 valuation of
annuity value of business acquired in the 1989 acquisition of the Company ("Annuity VIF"), which
resulted in an increase in amortization of $0.1 million for the year. The increase in amortization
was aue to lower than expected market appreciation, partially offset by the impact of realized
investment losses and improvement in business persistency. A similar valuation in 2001 resulted
in a decrease in amortization of $2.1 million.

Policy acquisition expenses amortized for the year ended December 31, 2002 of $61.3
million were $3.3 million more than the prior year primarily related to the property and casualty
segment. Over the past 12 months, this segment has experienced accelerated growth in business
and the acquisition cost amortization period matches the terms of the insurance policies (six and
twelve months). The increase in amortization for the property and casualty segment was partially
offset by a $0.9 million reduction in amortization for the annuity and life segments combined
primarily as a result of the current year valuation compared to the impact of the 2001 valuation.
In 2002, the favorable impact of realized investment losses in the valuation was nearly offset by
lower than expected market performance in the annuity segment. The current year valuation
reduced amortization $0.4 million for the life segment, compared to a reduction in amortization
of $0.9 million in the prior year. For the annuity segment, the current year valuation decreased
amortization $0.2 million, compared to an increase of $1.4 miilion in 2001.

Income Tax Expense
The effective income tax rate on income, including realized investment gains and losses and
non-recurring items, was a benefit of 46.8% for the year ended December 31, 2002. in 2001,

excluding the benefit related to the Company's. dispute with the Internal Revenue Service
regarding tax years 1994 through 1997, the effective income tax rate was 14.1%.
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Income from investments in tax-advantaged securities reduced the effective income tax rate
76.2 and 13.4 percentage points for the years ended December 31, 2002, and 2001, respectively.
While the amount of income from tax-advantaged securities in the current year was comparable
to 2001, the reduced level of income before income taxes in the current period resulted in this
having a more significant impact on the effective income tax rate. The impact of tax advantaged
securities in 2002 included 13.3 percentage points from the prior year's tax return. In 2002 and
2001, the Company's tax provision was reduced by $0.8 million and $3.0 million, respectively,
reflecting the release of excess tax provision previously recorded representing 9.9 and 10.7
percentage points, respectively.

The effective income tax rate on operating income, as defined below, before income taxes
was 25.2% for the year ended December 31, 2002, compared to the effective income tax rate of
22.1% on the same basis for the prior year.

Operating Income

Operating income is a non-GAAP financial measure defined by the Company as net income
before the after-tax impact of realized investment gains and losses and non-recurring items. Non-
recurring items in 2002 were comprised of restructuring charges, debt retirement costs and class
action litigation charges. In 2001, non-recurring items were restructuring charges partially offset
by an adjustment to the provision for prior years' taxes. A reconciliation of Operating income {o
Net income is provided in the following topic, "Net Income.” Management utilizes the operating
income measure as a gauge of the Company's underlying and ongoing business results.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, operating income benefited from positive
developments in the Company's property and casualty segment including: the impact of rate
increases on earned premiums; improved 2002 accident year loss trends; lower weather-related
losses; and the Company's restructuring of its Massachusetis automobile business. [n addition,
operating income in 2002 benefited from the January 1, 2002 discontinuance of goodwill
amortization. These positive prior year comparisons were partially offset by greater adverse
development of property and casuaity prior years' reserves. Operating income in 2002 was also
negatively affected by (1) decreases in investment income due to lost income related o
invesiment credit issues and declining interest rates, (2) tightening margins on variable annuities
resulting from adverse market conditions and (3) higher company-wide operating expenses
resulting primarily from transition costs related to changes in the Company's retirement plans and
lower employee incentive compensation in 2001.

Based on the Company's full year 2002 results and generally positive operating trends, at
the time of this Report on Form 10-K and consistent with disclosure in the Company's fourth
quarter earnings release management anticipates that 2003 full year operating income will be
within a range of $1.25 to $1.35 per share, which includes an approximate $0.08 reduction in per
share operating earnings as a result of the Company's capital transactions completed in the fourth
quarter of 2002. (See also "Liquidity and Financial Resources -- Capital Resources.”) This
projection also reflects management's anticipation of further improvement in the property and
casualty statutory combined ratio mitigated by compression in the Company's annuity margins and
pressure on investment income. As described in "Critical Accounting Policies,” certain of the
Company's significant accounting measurements require the use of estimates and assumptions.
As additional information becomes available, adjustments may be required. Those adjustments
are charged or credited to income for the period in which the adjustments are made and may
impact actual results compared to management's current estimate.
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Operating income by segment was as follows:

Year Ended : Growth Over
December 31, Prior Year
2001 Percent

Property & casualty
Before catastrophe losses
Catastrophe losses, after tax
Total including catastrophe lesses
Annuity
Life
Corporate and other expense
Interest expense, after tax
Total
Total before catastrophe losses .

Property and casualty
statutory combined ratic:

Before catastrcphe lcsses .... ... 101.3% 104.6% -3.3%
After catastrophe losses ........ 103.6% 106.8% -3.2%
Expense ratio impact of

restructuring charges(a) ....... 0.8% - 0.8%
Loss ratic impact

of litigation charges(b) ........ 0.3% - 0.3%

() Under statutory accounting principles, the $4.2 million pretax restructuring charge is
reflected in property and casualty operating expenses. On a GAAP basis, this item is
reported separately in the Statement of Operations as restructuring charges in the
Ccerporate and Other segment.

(b) See footnote (a) on page F-13.

Property and casualty segment operating income of $12.8 million for 2002 increased $14.7
million compared to the prior year. Excluding the $1.0 miilion after-tax provision for class action
litigation, development of prior years' reserves decreased operating income $14.6 miliion after tax
in 2002, primarily recorded in the third and fourth quarters. For 2001, the Company strengthened
prior years' reserves by $10.7 million after tax, primarily recorded in the second and fourth
quarters. Compared to a year earlier, 2002 property and casualty segment operating income
primarily reflected favorable trends in average premium versus loss costs for the 2002 accident
year, favorable weather and benefits from restructuring its Massachusetts automobile business,
partially offset by increases in ciaim adjusiment expenses and company-wide operating expenses.
For the Company, losses from catastrophes increased slightly compared to 2001, while non-
catastrophe weather-related losses decreased.

For 2002, the Company's increase in average voluntary automobile insurance premium per
policy exceeded the increase in average current accident year loss costs, as accident frequencies
trended lower and severities increased modestly. The Company is continuing to approach the
pricing and underwriting of its homeowners products aggressively, to accelerate margin recovery.
And, due to homeowners loss experience in the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company identified
additional initiatives. Actions include further tightening of underwriting guidelines, expanded
reunderwriting of existing policies, coverage and policy form restrictions in all states where
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permitted, limited coverage of new homeowners business to educators in certain areas,
reinspection of the homeowners book of business and redesign of the Company's claim handling
procedures. (See also the following topic "Net Income.")

The property and casualty statutory combined ratio improved 3.2 percentage points,
compared to 2001. Adverse development of prior years' reserves represented 4.6 percentage
points of the combined ratio in 2002, compared to 3.2 percentage points in 2001. In spite of the
increase in this factor, the statutory loss ratio for the segment improved 6.0 percentage points
compared to the prior year. However, the statutory expense ratio increased 2.8 percentage
points, primarily reflecting 0.8 percentage poinis due to charges related to the restructure of the
claims operation, as well as this segment's portion of the increase in company-wide operating
expenses, an increase in automobile new business commissions and the reqguired statutory
classification of escrowed North Carolina rate dispute amounts.

Annuity segment operating income in 2002 decreased $3.6 million compared to the prior
year. Current year income, particularly in the last six months, was adversely impacted by
reductions in investment income, due to lost income related to investment credit issues and
declining interest rates and the increase in company-wide operating expenses. Valuation of
annuity segment deferred acquisition costs and value of acquired insurance in force at December
31, 2002, including lower than expected market appreciation offset by the impact of realized
investment losses and improved business persistency, resulted in a minimal net impact on
amortization for the year. Similar valuations a year earlier decreased after-tax amortization $0.5
million for the year. An increase in the GMDB reserves reduced current year operating income
by $0.3 million. The Company's GAAP GMDB reserve was initially established in the third guarter
of 2001 resulting in a $0.3 million charge to operating income in that year. Variable account fee
income for the current period was slightly less than in 2001, with adverse market conditions more
than offsetting the growth in annuity deposits and improved retention. Variable accumulated
funds on deposit were $0.9 billion at December 31, 2002, $153.9 million, or 15.3%, less than a
year earlier. Fixed accumulated cash value of $1.5 billion was $112.3 million, or 8.1%, greater
than December 31, 2001.

Life segment operating income was comparable to the prior year. Valuation of life segment
deferred acquisition costs at December 31, 2002 resulted in a reduction in amortization of $0.3
million after tax due to the impact of realized investment gains and losses. in the prior year,
amortization decreased $0.6 million after tax as a result of the valuation. Mortality experience on
ordinary life business was comparable to 2001. In 2001, life segment operating income reflected
a $1.7 million after tax benefit as a result of a reserve reduction.

The reduction in the operating loss for the corporate and other segment compared {o 2001
primarily reflected the change in accounting, which was effective January 1, 2002, that eliminated
goodwill amortization. For the year ended December 31, 2001, amortization of goodwill was $1.6
million, or 4 cents per share. In 2001, the operating loss for the corporate and other segment
reflected (1) an after-tax charge of $2.7 million related to problems with the life insurance tax
status of certain of the Company's life policies and also (2) a $3.0 million reduction of the
Company's tax provision reflecting the release of excess tax provision previously recorded.
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Net Income
Reconciliations of Operating Income to Net Income
Year Ended Growth Over

December 31 Prior Year
2002 2001 Percent Amount

Operating income $487 $ 356 36.8% $ 13.1
Realized investment losses (32.2) (6.5)
Restructuring charges (2.7) (4.8)
Debt retirement cosis (1.5) -
Litigation charges (1.0) -
Adjustment to the provision
for prior years' taxes - 1.

Net income $ 1‘5.3 256

Per share, diluted:

Operatingincome ............... $1.18 $087 35.6% $0.31
Realized investment losses ....... (0.77) {0.15) (0.862)
Restructuringcharges ........... (0.07) (0.12) 0.05
Debt retirementcosts ............ (0.04) - (0.04)
Litigationcharges ............... (0.02) - {0.02)
Adjustment to the provision
for prior years'taxes ........... - 0.03 (0.03)
Netincome ................. 0.28 0.63 -55.6% $(0.35)

Net income includes net realized investment gains and losses and nen-recurring items
reflected in the Corporate and Other segment. After-tax realized investment losses are described
in "Results of Cperations -- Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended December
31, 2001 -- Realized investment Gains and Losses.” o

In addition to the changes in afier-tax realized investment losses and operating income, the
Company recorded non-recurring items in 2002 and 2001, totaling $(5.2) million after tax, or
$(0.13) per share, and $(3.5) million after tax, or $(0.09) per share, respectively.

In July 2002, the Company announced the restructuring of its property and casualty claims
operations. The Company expects to realize operating and cost efficiencies and aiso improve
customer service from consolidation of claims office locations throughout the U.S. into & offices
compared to the previous 17, implementing 2 new claims administration system, and performing
ceriain claims reporting and adjusting functions internally versus utilizing external service
providers. The Company expects that these claims actions will have a positive impact on earnings
in 2003 and beyond. In addition to the cost efficiencies anticipated from the new claims
environment, the restructuring is expected to have a favorable impact on automobile and
hormeowners claim severity. Charges of $2.7 million after tax, or $8.07 per share, for employee
termination costs, representing severance, vacation buy-out, reﬂated payroll taxes and the impact
of accelerated retirements on the Company's defined benefit pension plan, and other costs related
to the office closures were recorded as a non-operating restructuring charge in the Company's
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002. Approximately 135 employees with
management, professional and clerical responsibilities were impacted by the office consclidations.
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In May, September and October, 2002, the Company used a portion of the proceeds from
the sale of its Convertible Notes to repay the outstanding balance under its former Bank Credit
Agreement and repurchase $71.4 million of its outstanding Senior Notes and $53.0 million
aggregate principal amount, $25.2 million carrying value, of its outstanding Convertible Notes.
In December 2002, the Company also repurchased an additional $56.0 million aggregate principal
amount, $26.8 million carrying value, of its outstanding Convertible Notes. As consideration for
this repurchase, the Company issued 1.8 million shares of its commion stock. The debt retirement
in 2002 resulted in a net after-tax charge of $1.5 million, or $0.04 per share, which was reflected
in net income. See also "Liquidity and Financial Resources -- Capital Resources."

In June 2002, the Company recorded an after-tax charge of $1.0 million, or $0.02 per share,
to net income, reépresenting the Company's best estimate of the costs of resolving class action
lawsuits related to diminished value brought against the Company. A final court hearing on this
matter was held on December 18, 2002, at which time the settlement was approved and was
within the amount previously accrued by the Company. Management believes that, based on
facts and circumstances available at this time, the amount recorded will be adequate to resolve
the matters.

In 2001, the Company reached conclusion on its strategic direction for automobile business
in the State of Massachusetts. As further described in "Results of Operations -- Year Ended
December 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2000 -- Net income," the Company
recorded charges of $4.8 million after tax, or $0.12 per share, related to actions to restructure its
presence in the Massachusetts automobile market.

Also in 2001, the Company recorded non-operating federal income tax benefits of $1.3
million, or $0.03 per share, due to resolution of the Company's liability for the 1997 tax year.

Return on shareholders’ equity based on net income was 2% for the year ended December
31, 2002.

Results of Operations -- Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended
December 31, 2000

Insurance Premiums and Contract Charges

Insurance Premiums Written and Contract Deposits

Year Ended Growth Over
December 31, Prior Year
2001 2000 Percent Amount
Automobile and property (voluntary) .. $496.6 $473.2 4.9% $23.4
Annuity deposits ............... .. 239.1 2064 15.8% 32.7
Life ... . 117.2 121.8 -3.8% (4.6)
Subtotai -corelines . ........... 852.9 801.4 6.4% 51.5
involuntary and other
property &casualty . ............. 22.7 20.3 11.8% 2.4
Total ...... ... .. $875.6 $821.7 6.6% 53.9
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Insurance Premiums and Contract Charges Earned
(Excludes annuity and life contract deposits)

Year Ended Growth Cver
December 31, Prior Year
001 2000 Percent Amount

Automobile and property (voluntary) .. $485.5 $469.4 3.4% $16.1
Annuity 14.9 17.0 -12.4% (2.1)
Life 92.0 91.7 0.3% 0.3
Subtotal - core lines 592.4 578.1 - 2.5% 14.3
~Involuntary and other '
. property & casualty . 20.6 10.7% 2.

615.2 $598.7 - 2.8% 16.

" Premiums written and contract deposits for the Company's core lines increased 6.4%
compared to 2000, driven by double-digit growth in the annuity segment as weli as accelerating
growth in the property and casualty segment. This comparison includes the North Carolina
settlement recorded in 2000 described below.

At December 31, 2001, the Company's exclusive agency force totaled 867, an 11.3%
decline from a year earlier. The number of experienced agents in the agent force, 553, was down
17.2% at December 31, 2001, compared to a year earlier. The total agent count decreased due
primarily to terminations of less-productive agents. As a result, overall agent productivity
continued to increase, and for the full year, average agent productivity was 37.6% higher than in
2000.

The Company has modified its agent compensation and reward structure, in order to
provide incentive for agent performance that is more closely aligned with the Company's
objectives. Prior to 2001, agent compensation and rewards focused on profitability, customer
service and tenure with the Company. The revised structure continues to focus on profitability but
also places a greater emphasis on individual agent productivity, new premium growth, growth in
educator and cross-sold business, and business retention. [n addition, the Company’s agency
manager compensation structure has been similarly modified, and the agency management team
has been strengthened through the promotions of several of its most experienced and capable
agents. The number of new agents hired during 2001 was comparable to the prior year, in spite
of the Company's implementation of more stringent agent selection criteria to improve agent
productivity and retention in the future. The new compensation plan for agency managers
became effective January 1, 2001. The new compensation plan for all agents was implemented
on August 1, 2001, and there were approximately 800 agents at the time of implementation. Also
in 2001, the Company implemented enhanced agent training programs, to help new agents
achieve production targets more rapidly and help experienced agents sharpen and strengthen
their skills, and began providing agents with additional tools and support programs, to help them
make a successful transition to their new role under the Company's Value Proposition.

In March 2000, following lengthy negotiations, the North Carolina Rate Bureau and that
state's Commissioner of Insurance agreed to settle the outstanding 1994, 1996 and 1988 private
passenger automobile insurance rate filing cases resulting in an adverse impact of approximately
$250 million for the insurance industry. Horace Mann's portion of the adverse settlement was
$3.0 million pretax, comprised of $2.3 million in premium refunds and $0.7 million in interest
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charges. For the year ended December 31, 2001, North Carolina was the Company's second
largest property and casualty state representing approximately 7% of total property and casualty
premiums.

In December 2001, the North Carolina Commissioner of Insurance (the "Commissioner")
ordered a 13% reduction in private passenger automobile insurance premium rates effective in
April 2002. The Commissioner's Order was in response to a request from the North Carolina Rate
Bureau (the "Bureau"), which represents the insurance industry, to increase private passenger
automobile insurance rates by 5%. The Bureau has voted to appeal the Commissioner's Order
in the state appellate court and raise rates while the case is being heard. The difference between
the rates ordered by the Commissioner and the Bureau are anticipated to have an adverse impact
of approximately $350 million for the insurance industry. !t was estimated that the Company's
earned premiums would be negatively impacted by approximately $2 million and $3 million in
2002 and 2003, respectively. in addition, the difference in rates between the Commissioner and
the Bureau must be heid in an escrow account pending the court's decision. if the court should
rule in favor of the Bureau, the insurers will be entitled to the funds previously escrowed. If the
court should rule in favor of the Commissioner, the escrowed funds plus interest will be refunded
to the policyholders.

Total voluntary automobile and homeowners premium written growth was 4.9% for 2001,
including the effect of the North Carolina settlement in the prior year. The average premium per
policy and the number of policies in force increased for both automobile and homeowners
insurance, compared to a year earlier. Voluntary automobile insurance premium written increased
3.8% ($13.5 million) compared to 2000 and homeowners premium increased 8.5% ($9.9 million).
The property and casualty increase in premiums written resulted from growth in average premium
per policy of 3% for automobile and 8% for homeowners, compared to a year earlier, as the
impact of rate actions began to flow through policy renewals and new business. Over the prior
12 months, unit growth was 1.4%, or 12,000, with an 8,000 unit increase in automobile and a
4,000 unit increase in homeowners. At December 31, 2001, there were 596,000 voluntary
automobile and 292,000 homeowners policies in force for a total of 888,000.

Based on policies in force, the property and casualty 12-month retention rate for new and
renewal policies was 88%, equal to the 12 months ended December 31, 2000 despite
implemented rate increases over the period. The Company plans additional rate increases in
2002 and beyond, with primary emphasis on the homeowners line, which are expected to have
an adverse impact on retention of homeowners policies in force. Business initiatives, together
with price increases implemented and planned, are expected to return the Company to rate
adequacy, with average premium growth keeping pace with average loss experience over time.

Growth in premiums written for involuntary and other property and casualty was primarily
attributable to an atypical recovery from a state mandatory automobile insurance facility received
in 2001. In February 2002, the Company announced that it obtained a five-year extension of its
contract with the National Education Associaticn to be the exclusive provider of professional
liability coverage to its members through August 2007. Premiums from this product are included
in the involuntary and other property and casualty category.

in October 2001, the Company changed its strategic direction for automobile business in
the state of Massachusetts, forming a marketing alliance with an unaffiliated company, The
Commerce Group, Inc. ("Commerce”). Through this alliance, by January 1, 2002, Horace Mann's
agents are authorized to offer Massachusetts customers automobile insurance policies written by
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Commerce, while continuing to write Horace Mann's other products in Massachusetts, including
retirement annuities and property and life insurance. Horace Mann ceased writing automobile
insurance policies in Massachusetts on December 31, 2001. For the full year 2001, premiums
written in Massachusetts for voluntary automobile business were $18.9 million and for involuntary

residual market business were $7.8 million. In 2002, premiums written for this business were
reduced to zero, and premiums earned were reduced significantly, reflecting run-off of the policies
in force at December 31, 2001. For the full year 2001, claims and settlement expenses in
Massachusetts for voluntary automobile business were $9.1 million and for involuntary residual
market business were $11.5 million. Claims and settlement expenses in 2002 reflected run-off
of the business and a decline in exposure to loss, as the Company's policies written in the prior
12 months expired.

Growth in annuity contract deposits reached double-digit levels for the year ended
December 31, 2001. [n September 2000, the Company more than tripled the number of choices
available to its customers by introducing 21 new investment options in its tax-deferred annuity
product line. At the same time, the Company provided its agents with proprietary asset allocation
software that assists educator customers in selecting the best retirement investment options
based on their risk tolerance and investment objectives. The fourth quarter of 2000 was the first
full quarter with the expanded investment options. New annuity contract deposits of $64.2 million
for the three months ended December 31, 2001 increased 7.0%, compared to contract deposits
of $60.0 million for the same period in 2000.

Compared to the full year 2000, new annuity deposits increased 15.8%, reflecting a 45.8%
increase in new single premium and rollover deposits and a 3.8% increase in scheduled deposits
received. New deposits to variable accounts decreased 3.4%, or $4.1 million, and new deposits
to fixed accounts were 43.1% higher than in 2000. The Company offers a dollar cost averaging
program for amounts systematically transferred from the fixed investment return option to the
variable investment return options over 3-month, 6-month or 12-month periods. Variable
accumulated funds on deposit at December 31, 2001 were $1.0 billion, $26.7 million less than a
year earlier, a 2.6% decrease including the impact of a decline in financial market values.
Variable accumulated deposit retention improved 8.3 percentage points over the 12 months to
92.4%, reflecting improvement following the Company's expansion of variable investment options
and implementation of proprietary asset allocation sofiware. Fixed accumulated cash value
retention for the 12 months ended December 31, 2001 was 83.4%, 4.7 percentage points better
than in 2000. Fixed accumulated cash value was $1.4 billion at December 31, 2001, $61.9
million, or 4.6%, more than a year earlier. The number of annuity contracts outstanding increased
7.8%, or 10,000 coniracts, compared to December 31, 2000.

In 2000, the Company took actions to increase the variable options availabie to customers,
as described above, and also took steps to improve the returns of its proprietary mutual funds.
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2001, the amount of variable deposit surrenders was
54% lower than for the same period last year. The amount of fixed deposit surrenders decreased
41% compared to 2000.

In January 2002, the Company announced that it had been selected as one of four
providers of fixed and variable annuity options to Chicago, lllinois public school employees. The
Chicago Public Schools is the third-largest school district in the U.S. Beginning in April 2002, the
Company is partnering with an independent broker/dealer, which has been providing retirement
planning services to Chicago Public School employees for more than two decades, to pursue this
opportunity to bolster growth in its annuity business.
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For the twelve months ended December 31, 2001, annuity segment contract charges
earned decreased 12.4%, or $2.1 million, compared to the twelve months of 2000. improvements
in retention of variable and fixed accumulated values, as described above, resulted in a decline
in surrender fees earned. Also, declines in average market values reduced the Company's
variable deposit fee revenues. -

Life segment premiums and contract deposits for the twelve months of 2001 were 3.8%
lower than a year earlier, primarily reflecting a decline in disability income business. In 2001, the
Company began ceding a larger portion of its disability income business as part of the group
restructuring announced in the fourth quarter of 2000. Excluding the disability product from both
years' results, life segment premiums written and contract deposits would be comparable to the
twelve months ended December 31, 2000. The life insurance in force lapse ratio was S.1% for
the twelve months ended December 31, 2001, compared to 9.0% for the prior year.

Net Investment Income

investment income of $199.3 million for 2001 increased 3.6%, or $6.9 million, (3.4% after
tax) compared to the prior year due primarily to growth in the size of the investment portfolio.
Average investments (excluding the securities lending collateral) increased 2.5% over the past
12 months. The average pretax yield on the invesiment portfolio was 7.2% (4.8% after tax) for
2001, compared to a pretax yield of 7.1% (4.8% after tax) for the prior year.

Realized Investment Gains and Losses

Net realized investment losses were $10.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2001,
compared to net realized investment losses of $3.8 million for 2000. In the fourth quarter of 2001,
the Company sold all of its holdings in securities issued by Enron Corporation and its affiliates,
which resulted in a realized investment loss of $7.8 million. The remaining $2.2 million of net
realized losses in 2001 primarily resulted from the sale, for credit reasons, of nine fixed income
securities and the impairment of fixed income securities issued by three telecommunications
companies, which were only partially offset by the first quarter full repayment of an impaired
commercial mortgage loan and the release of a related reserve for uncollectible mortgages. For
2000, nearly al! of the net realized gains and losses occurred in the fixed income portfolios with
$8.8 miillion of the realized losses due to credit-related sales and impairments and the remainder
resulting from normal portfolio management activity.
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Benefits, Claims and Seitlement Expenses

Year Ended Growth Cver
December 31, Prior Year
2001 2000 Percent Amount

Property and casualty $433.3 . 3.8% $15.9
Annuity (0.8) : (2.4)
Life 44.1 . -12.6% (5.9)
Corporate & other 2.0 2.0
$475.6 . 2.1% $§ 96

Property and casualty
statutory loss ratio:
Before catastrophe losses 83.0% 81.8% 1.1%
After catastrophe losses 85.2% 85.2% -

in 2001, the Company’s benefits, claims and settiement expenses were affected adversely
by strengthening of prior years' reserves for property and casuaity claims and by & higher level
of non-catastrophe weather-related losses than the prior year. in 2000, the Company's results
were also adversely affected by strengthening of prior vears' property and casualty reserves.

Net strengthening of reserves for property and casualty claims occurring in prior years,
excluding involuntary business, was $14.5 million for the full year, compared to $20.8 million in
2000. Total reserves for property and casualty claims occurring in prior years, including
involuntary business, were strengthened $16.5 million in 2001, compared to $22.7 miilion a year
eariier.

During the first haif of 2001, the Company continued {o refine its process and methods for
evaluating property and casualty reserves and selected a new independent property and casualty
actuarial consulting firm. During the second quarter of 2001, a comprehensive review of property
and casualty loss reserving methogologies and assumptions was completed in conjunction with
the new actuarial firm. Based on management's review of this further enhanced analysis and the
opinion of the new actuarial firm, prior years' net reserves - predominantly reiated to 1999 and
prior accident years - were increased by $11 million at June 30, 2001. This consisted primarily
of an $8 million reduction in reserves to be ceded by the Company to its reinsurers and
reinsurance facilities, including $1.5 million related to the Company's automobile residual market
business, primarily in Massachusetts; $2.0 million for its voluntary automobile ceded excess
liability coverage; and approximately $4.5 million related to its educators excess professional
liability product.

At December 31, 2001, the Company increased reserves for preperty and casualty claims
occurring in prior years by an additional $5 million. Ceded and assumed reserves were
strengthened by $6.4 million, primarily as a result of an updated review of subrogation recovery
activity on business ceded to the state automobile insurance facility in Massachusetts. That
strengthening was partially offset by $1.7 million of favorable development of reserves on the
Company's direct automobile business. The Company's property and casualty net reserves were
$272 million and $250 million at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. See also "Results
of Operations -- Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2001 --
Benefits, Claims and Settlement Expenses.”
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In October 2001, the Company reached conclusion on its strategic direction for automobile
business in the state of Massachusetts. For further discussion, see "Results of Operations -- Year
Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2000 -- Insurance Premiums
and Contract Deposits, and -- Net Income.”

in 2001, the higher level of non-catastrophe property losses included claims attributable to
severe weather experienced in many areas of the country, including non-catastrophe claims
related to Tropical Storm Allison and wind and hail storms throughout the Midwest during the
second quarter (with additional development related to these events recorded in the third quarter)
as well as winter storms in the first quarter. In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company
experienced higher levels of both fire and non-catastrophe weather-related losses. Non-
catastrophe weather-related losses in the fourth quarters of 2001 and 2000 were notably greater
than historical experience. The non-catastrophe property loss ratio by quarter and for the full
years 2001, 2000 and 1999 was as follows:

2001 2000 1989
Non-catasirophe property
loss ratio for the:
Quarter ended March 31 ........ 85.1% 79.0% 81.9%
Quarter ended June 30 ... .. ... 99.4% 91.4% 72.8%
Quarter ended September 30 .... 92.7% 82.8% 78.1%
Quarter ended December 31 ... .. 82.8% 80.7% 53.3%
Year ended December 31 ....... 91.5% 83.4% 71.0%

After determining that the increase in non-catastrophe property losses experienced in the
early months of 2000 was due to underlying loss trends, rather than the normal cyclicality of the
property business, management began and has continued to implement pricing, underwriting and
loss control initiatives. Although the Company's actions began to have a positive impact, with
minimal effect on policy retention through 2001, management anticipated that the full impact of
these changes would not be realized until 2002 and beyond. In light of experience and
competitive actions in 2001, future rate increases were anticipated to be more aggressive than
the Company’s original plans. The Company has also initiated further tightening of underwriting
guidelines, expanded reunaerwriting of existing policies, coverage and policy form restrictions in
all states where permitted, and limited coverage of new homeowners business to educators in
certain areas. in addition, due to the claims experience in the fourth quarter of 2001, the
Company has initiated a significant reinspection program of its property book of business. The
Company also is strengthening its homeowners policies’ contract language to further protect the
Company against water damage and mold claims. The Company has also begun the process of
redesigning its claim handling procedures in order to better control loss costs. Management
anticipates that these actions will enable the Company to improve the profitability of its existing
book of homeowners business and attract new business that meets its profitability standards.

For 2001, incurred catastrophe losses for all lines were $11.2 million, including a net benefit
of $1.1 million due to favorable development of reserves for 2000 catastrophe losses. Incurred
catastrophe losses were $16.2 million in 2000.

The voluntary automobile loss ratio excluding catastrophe losses was 77.6% for full year

2001, compared to 80.9% in 2000. Strengthening of prior years' reserves increased the voluntary
automobile loss ratio by 2.0 and 5.4 percentage points in 2001 and 2000, respectively. The
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voluntary automobile loss ratio, excluding both catastrophe losses and prior years' reserve
strengthening, was 75.6% in 2001, consistent with the prior year's results. The increase in
average voluntary automobile premium per policy in 2001 nearly kept pace with the increase in
average current accident year loss costs due to a favorable result in the fourth quarter of 2001,
wherein the growth in premiums exceeded the growth in loss costs.

The annuity benefits of $(0.8) million recorded in 2001 were comprised of three
components. They were: (1) a release of reserves for certain supplementary contracts recorded
in the third quarter of 2001, (2} & guaranteed minimum death benefit reserve on variable annuity
coniracts established in the third quarter of 2001, and (3) current period mortality experience on
annuity contracts in payout status. Annuity benefits were $1.6 miliion in 2000, including $1.3
million attributable to mortality experience on annuity contracts on payout status resulting from the
application of a more refined reserving model.

The primary component of the decrease in benefits for the life segment was a $2.6 million
reduction in reserves recorded in 2001 related to policy coverages that are no longer in force. n
addition, life segment benefits in 2001 refiected ceding of a larger portion of the Company's
disability income business as part of the group restructuring announced in the fourth quarter of
2000. Life mortality experience in 2001 was slightly better than a year eartlier.

Early in 2001, management discovered some deficiencies in the tax compliance testing
procedures associated with certain of the Company's life insurance policies that could jeopardize
the tax status of some of those life policies. Deficiencies in the Company's computer-based
monitoring of premiums, combined with the complexity of certain of the Company's life insurance
products, resulted in the acceptance of too much premium for certain policies under the applicable
tax test the Company was using. As a result of this discovery, the Company retained outside
experts to assist with the investigation and remedy of this issue. The deficiencies in the testing
procedures related to compliance with IRC Section 7702 (Definition of Life Insurance) have been
identified and corrected. As of December 31, 2001, the Company was stiil in the process of
quantifying the financial impact of these errors, as well as finalizing the strategy for remedying the
problems caused by them. Such a problem is not uncommon in the life insurance industry and
is expected to be cured using standard internal Revenue Service ("IRS") procedures that have
been established specifically to address this type of situation. The $2.0 million of policyholder
benefits recorded in the Corporate and Other segment in 2001, as well as $1.0 million of operating
expense, represent the Company's current best estimate of the costs to the Company to resolve
these problems. See also "Results of Operations -- Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared
to Year Ended December 31, 2001 -- Benefits Claims and Settlement Expenses.”

As a resuit of the tax status issue described above, the complexity of the Company's
product underlying the policies in question, and the complexity of administering that product and
other life products offered by the Company, management is re-examining the life preduct portfolio
and related administrative system.
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Interest Credited to Policyholders

Year Ended Growth Cver
December 31. Prior Year
2001 2000 Percent Amount
Annuity ... $67.9 $66.1 2.7% $1.8
Life ... 28.6 26.5 7.9% 21
Total ... $96.5 $92.6 4.2% 3.9

The fixed annuity average annual interest rate credited increased to 5.1% for the year
ended December 31, 2001, compared to 5.0% for the prior year. In addition, the average
accumulated fixed deposits increased 1.4% for the year ended December 31, 2001, compared
to 2000. Life insurance interest credited increased as a result of continued growth in the interest-
sensitive life insurance reserves.

Operating Expenses

Although operating expenses for the current year included increased costs to support
business growth initiatives, for 2001, operating expenses decreased $4.2 million, or 3.3%,
compared to a year earlier, primarily as a result of two items. First, expenses in 2000 included
non-recurring charges of $0.7 million for interest on the North Carolina settlement and $3.6 million
attributable to the chief executive officer transition. Second, in the fourth quarter of 2000 the
Company wrote off $1.0 million book value of personal computers not compatible with the
Company's software upgrade and $2.5 million of previously capitalized software costs. Operating
expenses in 2001 included $1.3 million representing the Company's estimated portion of the
industry assessment related to the insolvency of the Reliance insurance Group.

The total corporate expense ratio on a statutory accounting basis was 23.3% for the year
ended December 31, 2001, 0.9 percentage points less than 2000. The property and casuaity
expense ratio was 21.6% for the year ended December 31, 2001, compared to 20.8% for the prio
year. :

Effective April 1, 2002, current participants in the Company's defined benefit and
supplemental defined benefit retirement plans stopped accruing any new benefits under these
plans, but will continue to retain the benefits they have accrued to date. The settlement costs for
the defined benefit plans are based upon assumptions of future events. At the time the 2001
Annual Report on Form 10-K was filed, defined benefit plan settlement costs were anticipated to
increase by approximately $3 million in 2002 due to an increase in the number of expected
retirements. To the extent that actual experience differs from those assumptions, adjustments
may be required with the effects of these adjustments charged or credited to income for the period
in which the adjustments are made.

Amortization of Policy Acquisition Expenses and Intangible Assets

For 2001, the combined amortization of policy acquisition expenses and intangible assets
was $63.8 million, compared to the $64.8 million recorded in 2000.
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Amortization of intangible assets decreased to $5.8 miliion for the year ended December
31, 2001, compared to $8.8 million for the same period in 2000. The decline reflected the lower
ievel of amortization of the value of annuity business acquired in the 1989 acquisition of the
Company ("Annuity VIF"), comprised of the scheduled decrease in amortization reported in the
Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 and the favorable impact of
improved persistency on the valuation of Annuity VIF.

Amortization of intangible assets inciudes goodwill amortization of $1.6 million in both 2001
and 2000. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 142, "Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” eliminates the amortization of goodwill for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2001.

Policy acquisition expenses amortized for the year ended December 31, 2001 of $58.0
million were $2.0 million more than the prior year primarily attributable to the property and casualty
segment. Over the past 12 months, this segment has experienced accelerated growth in business
and the acquisition cost amortization period matches the terms of the insurance policies (six and
twelve months).

Income Tax Expense

Excluding the benefits in both 2001 and 2000 reiated to the Company's dispute with the
internal Revenue Service {"IRS") regarding tax years 1994 through 1997, the effective income tax
rate on income including realized investment gains and losses was 14.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2001, compared to (24.7%) for 2000.

In 2001, the Company's tax provision was reduced by $3.0 million reflecting the release of
excess tax provision previously recorded and representing a 10.7 percentage point reduction in
the effective income tax rate. Interest of $2.1 million on refunds from the [RS for federal tax years
1994 and 1995 reduced the 2000 effective income tax rate 22.1 percentage points. The refunds
resulted from issues separate from the Company's dispute with the IRS regarding tax years 1894
through 1997. Income from investments in tax-advantaged securities reduced the effective
income tax rate 13.4 and 45.1 percentage points for the years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000, respectively. While the amount of income from investments in tax-advantaged securities
in the current year was comparable to 2000, the reduced level of income before income taxes in
2000 resulted in this having a more significant impact on the effective income tax rate.

As previously reported, the Company had been contesting proposed additional federal
income taxes relating to a settlement agreement with the IRS for prior years' taxes. In the third
quarter of 1999, the Company recorded an additional federal income tax provision of $20 million,
representing the maximum exposure of the Company to the IRS with regard to the issue for all
of the past tax years in question (1994 through 1997). In the third and fourth quarters of 2000,
the 1984 through 1996 exposure was resolved for an amount that was $8.7 million less than was
previously accrued and that amount was included in net income for the year ended December 31,
2000. In the third quarter of 2001, the Company’s liability for the 1997 tax year was resolved,
resulting in a release of $1.3 million that had previously been accrued for that tax year. That
amount was included in net income for the year ended December 31, 2001. The benefits of these
dispute resolutions were excluded from the determination of reported operating income.
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Operatihg Income

Operating income is a non-GAAP financial measure defined by the Company as net income
before the after-tax impact of realized investment gains and losses and non-recurring items. Non-
recurring items in 2001 were restructuring charges partially offset by an adjustment to the
provision for prior years' taxes. in 2000, non-recurring items were restructuring charges and
litigation charges partially offsetting an adjustment to the provision for prior years' taxes.
Management utilizes the operating income measure as a gauge of the Company's underlying and
ongoing business resulis.

For the year ended December 31, 2001, operating income was adversely affected primarily
by strengthening of prior years' property and casualty claim reserves and by a higher level of
losses from severe weather than the prior year. As described in "Critical Accounting Policies,"
certain of the Company's significant accounting measurements require the use of estimates and
assumptions. As additional information becomes available, adjustments may be required. Those
adjustments are charged or credited to income for the period in which the adjustments are made.

in addition to strengthening of prior years' property and casualty claim reserves and adverse
homeowners loss experience, the Company's 2001 operating income reflected the following
items:

« An after-tax charge of $2.7 million, representing the Company's current best estimate of the
costs required to remedy probiems with the life insurance tax status of certain of its life
policies;

¢ An after-tax charge of $0.9 million, reflecting the Company's portion of industry
assessments related to the insolvency of the Reliance Insurance Group;

¢ A $3.0 million reduction of the Company’s tax provision, reflecting the release of excess tax
provision previously recorded;

« A $1.7 million after-tax reduction in life insurance reserves related to policy coverages that
are no longer in force; and

+ A $0.8 million after-tax reduction in reserves for supplementary contracts.
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Operating income by segment was as follows:

Year Ended Growth Over
December 31, Prior Year
2001 2000 Percent

Property & casualty _
Before catastrophe losses X $19.4 -35.6%
Catastrophe losses, after tax . (10.5)

Total including catasirophe losses . 8.9 -41.6%
Annuity : : . 86.7%
Life . . 45.0%
Corporate anad other expense
interest expense, after tax . :

Total . . 41.8%

Total before catastrophe losses . . . 20.5%

Property and casualty
statutory combined ratio: _
Before catastrophe losses 104.6% 102.7% 1.9%
After catastrophe losses 106.8% 106.0% 0.8%

Property and casualty segment operating income was lower than in 2000 due primarily to
adverse experience on homeowners business. During 2001, the Company's increase in average
voluntary automobile insurance premium per policy nearly kept pace with the increase in average
loss costs for the current accident year. The Company continued to approach the pricing and
underwriting of its homeowners products aggressively, to accelerate margin recovery. And, due
to homeowners loss experience in the fourth quarter of 2001, the Companry has identified
additional initiatives. Actions include further tightening of underwriting guidelines, expanded
reunderwriting of existing policies, coverage and policy form restrictions in all states where
permitted, limited coverage of new homeowners business to educators in certain areas,
reinspection of the homeowners book of business and redesign of the Company’s claim handling
procedures. An adverse industry settlement of outstanding automobile insurance rate filing cases
for 1984, 1996 and 19SS in North Carolina, including interest, reduced the Company's property
and casualty segment operating income by $1.9 million after tax in 2000.

The property and casuaity combined ratio before catastrophes of 104.6% was 1.9
percentage points higher than 2000, refiecting the factors cited above. Catastrophe iosses in
2001 were $7.3 million after tax, including a net benefit of $0.7 million after tax due to favorable
development of reserves for 2000 catastrophe losses. Incurred catastrophe losses were $10.5
million after tax in 2000. Increases in reserves for property and casuaity claims occurring in prior
years, excluding involuntary business, were $9.4 million after tax in 2001, compared to $13.6
million after tax in 2000. In 2001, reserves were increased $10.7 million after tax, including
involuntary business, for property and casualty claims occurring in prior years, compared to an
increase of $14.8 million after tax in 2000 representing a decrease of apprommately 1.4
percentage points in the combined ratio including catastrophes.

Annuity segment operating income in 2001 reflected reduced fee income related to
decreases in both variabie deposit market values and surrender charges for fixed and variable
deposits. In addition, operating expenses increased in 2001, reflecting the growth in annuity
business volume. For 2001, the net interest margin was slightly more than the prior year while
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fees and contract charges earned decreased 12.4%. These factors were offset by (1) the
favorable impact of financial market performance on valuations of deferred policy acquisition costs
and valuation of business acquired and (2) the release of reserves for certain annuity contracts
on payout status. In 2000, annuity segment operating income was reduced by $1.0 million due
to mortality experience on annuity contracts on payout status primarily as a result of application
of a more accurate reserving model. Variable accumulated funds on deposit were $1.0 billion at
December 31, 2001, $26.7 million, or 2.6%, less than 12 months earlier. Fixed accumulated cash
value of $1.4 billion was $61.9 million, or 4.6%, greater than December 31, 2000.

Life insurance earnings increased compared to 2000 due primarily to better than expected

mortality and group disability results, as well as the $1.7 million reserve reduction recorded in
2001,

In 2001, the Corporate and Other Expense category in the preceding table reflected (1) an
after-tax charge of $2.7 million related to problems with the life insurance tax status of certain of
the Company's life policies and also (2) 2 $3.0 million reduction of the Company's tax provision
reflecting the release of excess tax provision previously recorded. In 2000, the Corporate and
Other Expense category reflected higher holding company expenses, including charges related
to the chief executive officer transition.

Net Income
Reconciliations of Operating Income to Net Income
Year Ended Growth Over
December 31, Prior Year
2001 2000 Percent Amount
Operatingincome ................ $ 356 $ 251 41.8% $ 105
Realized investment losses . . ..... .. (6.5) (6.4) (0.1)
Restructuringcharges . ............ (4.8) (1.5) (3.3)
Litigationcharges ................ - (5.1) 5.1
Adjustment to the provision
for prior years'taxes . ............ 1.3 8.7 (7.4)
Netincome ................. $ 256 20.8 23.1% $ 48
Per share, diluted: ‘
Operatingincome .. ............. $0.87 $ 0.61 42.6% $0.26
Realized investment losses ....... {(0.15) (0.15) - -
Restructuring charges ........... (0.12) (0.04) (0.08)
Litigationcharges ............... - (0.12) 0.12
Adjustment to the provision
for prior years'taxes ........... 0.03 0.21 (0.18)
Netincome ............. .... $0863 0.51 23.5% $0.12

l
l

Net income, which includes realized investment gains and losses, restructuring charges,
litigation charges and adjustments to the provision for prior years' taxes, for the year ended
December 31, 2001 increased by $4.8 million, or 23.1%, and net income per diluted share
increased by 23.5% compared to 2000. This change included the $10.5 million increase in
operating income. After-tax realized investment losses were comparable for the two periods. As

F-37

L




discussed above in "income Tax Expense,” net income refiected resoiution of federal income tax
exposures, which increased net income by $1.3 million and $8.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. in addition, net income in 2000 reflected an after-tax
charge of $5.0 million due to litigation regarding the Company's disability insurance product.

The Company recorded restructuring charges in both 2001 and 2000. As described above
in "Insurance Premiums and Contract Charges," in 2001 the Company changed its strategic
direction for automobile business in the state of Massachusetts. Cn December 31, 2001, Horace
Mann ceased writing automobile business in that state. On October 18, 2001 the Company paid

$6.4 million to the Commonwealth Automobile Reinsurers {("C.A.R."} as full payment of its
proporticnate liability to C.A.R. for policy years 2002 and beyond. That payment and other related
expenses of approximately $1 million resulted in an after-tax charge of $4.7 miilion, or $0.12 per
share, reflected as a non-operating income restructuring charge. All of the restructuring charges
incurred in 2001 related to Massachusetts automobile business were paid by December 31, 2001.
in 2000, the Company recorded an after-tax charge of $1.5 million, or $0.04 per share, as a result
of the restructuring of the Company’s group insurance business and its credit union marketing
group. Restructuring charges have been separately identified in the Statements of Cperations
for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.

Return on shareholders’ equity based on net income was 6% for the year ended December
31, 2001. :

Liguidity and Financial Resources
Special 'Purpose Entities

At December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company did not have any relationships with
unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, which wouid have been established for the purpose of
facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or for other contractually narrow or limited purposes.
As such, the Company is not exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could
arise if the Company had engaged in such relationships.

Related Party Transactions

The Company does not have any contracts or other transactions with related parties that
are required to be reported under the applicable securities laws and regulations.

Ariel Capital Management, Inc., HMEC's largest sharehoider with 25% of the common
shares outstanding per their SEC filing on Form 13F as of December 31, 2002, is the investment
adviser for two of the mutual funds offered to the Company’s annuity customers. In addition, T.
Rowe Price Associates, Inc., HMEC's third fargest shareholder with 8% of the common shares
outstanding per their SEC filing on Form 13F as of December 31, 2002, is the investment advisor
for two of the mutual funds offered to the Company's annuity customers.
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Investments

The Company's investment strategy emphasizes investment grade, publicly traded fixed
income securities. At December 31, 2002, fixed income securities represented 95.7% of
investments excluding the securities lending collateral. Of the fixed income investment portfolio,
95.4% was investment grade .and 89.9% was publicly traded. The average quality of the total
fixed income portfolio was A+ at December 31, 2002.

The duration of the investment portfolio is managed to provide cash flow to satisfy
policyholder liabilities as they become due. The average option adjusted duration of total
investments was 4.8 years at December 31, 2002 and 5.0 years at December 31, 2001. The
Company has included in its annuity products substantial surrender penalties to reduce the
likelihood of unexpected increases in policy or contract surrenders. All annuities issued since
1982, and approximately 79% of all outstanding fixed annuity accumulated cash values, are
subject in most cases to substantial early withdrawal penalties.

Additional discussion of the Company's investment guidelines is included in "Results of
Operations -- Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2001 --
Realized Investment Gains and Losses."

Cash Flow

The short-term liquidity requirements of the Company, within a 12-month operating cycle,
are for the timely payment of claims and benefits to policyhoiders, operating expenses, interest
payments and federal income taxes. Cash flow in excess of these amounts has been used to
fund business growth, retire short-term debt, pay dividends to shareholders and repurchase
shares of the Company’s common stock. Long-term liquidity requirements, beyond one year, are
principally for the payment of future insurance policy claims and benefits and retirement of long-
term debt. '

Operating Activities

As a holding company, HMEC conducts its principal operations in the personal lines
segment of the property and casualty and life insurance industries through its subsidiaries.
HMEC's insurance subsidiaries generate cash flow from premium and investment income,
generally well in excess of their immediate needs for policy obligations, operating expenses and
other cash requirements. Cash provided by operating activities primarily reflects net cash
generated by the insurance subsidiaries. For 2002, net cash provided by operating activities was
somewhat higher than in the prior year. in 2002, the Company made a cash contribution to its
defined benefit pension plan trust fund of $7.9 million, of which $1.8 million represented the
actuarially-determined required minimum amount.

Payment of principal and interest on debt, fees related to the catastrophe-linked equity put
option and reinsurance agreement, dividends to shareholders and parent company operating
expenses, as well as the share repurchase program, are dependent upon the ability of the
insurance subsidiaries to pay cash dividends or make other cash payments to HMEC, including
tax payments pursuant to tax sharing agreements. The insurance subsidiaries are subject to
various regulatory restrictions which limit the amount of annual dividends or other distributions,
including loans or cash advances, available to HMEC without prior approval of the insurance
regulatory authorities. Dividends which may be paid by the insurance subsidiaries to HMEC
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during 2003 without prior approval are approximately $43 million. Although regulatory restrictions
exist, dividend availability from subsidiaries has been, and is expected to be, adequate for
HMEC's capital needs.

investing Activities

HMEC's insurance subsidiaries maintain significant investments in fixed maturity securities
to meet future contractual obligations to policyholders. In conjunction with its management of
liquidity and other asset/liability management objectives, the Company, from time to time, will seli
fixed maturity securities prior to maturity and reinvest the proceeds in other investments with
different interest rates, maturities or credit characteristics. Accordingly, the Company has
classified the entire fixed maturity securities portfolio as "available for sale.”

Financing Activities

Financing activities include primarily payment of dividends, the receipt and withdrawal of
funds by annuity contractholders, repurchases of the Company’s common stock, and borrowings,
repayments and repurchases related to the Company’s debt facilities. Fees related to the
catastrophe-linked equity put option and reinsurance agreement, which augments its other
reinsurance program, have been charged directly to additional paid-in capitai.

in May 2002, the Company issued $353.5 million aggregate principal amount of 1.425%
Senior Convertible Notes ("Convertible Notes"), which will mature on May 14, 2032, at a discount
of 52.5%. At a meeting held on September 10 and 11, 2002, the Company’'s Board of Directors
authorized the Company to repurchase, from time to time, for cash or other consideration, its
Convertible Notes. As of December 31, 2002, net proceeds from the sale of the Convertible
Notes have been used to (1) repay the $53.0 million balance outstanding under the previous Bank
Credit Agreement on May 14, 2002, (2} repurchase a total of $71.4 million aggregate principal
amount of the Company's outstanding 6 5/8% Senior Notes due January 15, 2006 ("Senior
Notes") at an aggregate cost of $74.7 million, and {3) repurchase $53.0 million aggregate principal
amount, $25.2 million carrying value, of the Company's outstanding Convertible Notes at an
aggregate cost of $22.8 million. The remaining proceeds were used for general corporate
purposes. (See also “Liquidity and Financial Resources -- Capital Resources” for additional
description of the Convertible Notes, inciuding a non-cash repurchase completed in December
2002.)

Forthe year ended December 31, 2002, receipts from annuity contracts increased $.4%.
Annuity contract maturities and withdrawals increased $11.5 miilion, or 6.4%, compared to the
prior year, including decreases of 3% in surrenders of both variable and fixed annuities.
Reflecting continued improvement in recent quarterly trends, cash value retention for variabie and
fixed annuity options were 82.1% and 94.0%, respectively, for the 12 month pericd ended
December 31, 2002. Net transfers to variable annuity accumulated cash values decreased $36.3
million compared to the prior year.

The Company has not repurchased shares of its common stock under its stock repurchase
program since the third quarter of 2000, consistent with management's stated intention {o utilize
excess capital to support the Company's strategic growth initiatives. Historically, the repurchase
of shares was financed through use of cash and, when necessary, its Bank Credit Facility.
However, the Company has not utilized its Bank Credit Facility for share repurchases since the
second quarter of 1999. As of December 31, 2002, $96.3 million remained authorized for future
share repurchases. ‘
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Contractual Obligations

Pavments Due By Period

More Than
Less Than 1-3Years 3-5Years 5 Years
1 Year (2004 and {2006 and (2008 and
Total {2003) 2005) 2007) bevond)

Long-Term Debt Obligations (a):

Convertible Notes Due 2032 . $260.2 $3.5 $70 $ 52 $244 5
Senior Notes Due 2006 ... .. 35.2 1.9 3.8 29.5 -
Total ................. $2954 $5.4 10.8 $34.7 $244.5

(a) Includes principal and interest.

The Company has entered into various operating lease agreements, primarily for computer
equipment, computer software and real estate (agency and claims offices across the country and
portions of the home office complex). These leases have varying commitment periods with most
in the 1 to 3 year range. Payments on these leases were approximately $8 million for each of the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000. it is anticipated that the Company's payments
under operating leases for the full year 2003 will be comparable to prior years' payments. The
Company does not have any other arrangements that expose it to material liability that are not
recorded in the financial statements.

Capital Resources

The Company has determined the amount of capital which is needed to adequately fund
and support business growth, primarily based on risk-based capital formulas including those
developed by the National Association of insurance Commissioners ("NAIC"). Historically, the
Company's insurance subsidiaries have generated capital in excess of such needed capitali.
These excess amounts have been paid to HMEC through dividends. HMEC has then utilized
these dividends and its access to the capital markets to service and retire long-term debt, increase
and pay dividends to its shareholders, fund growth initiatives, repurchase shares of its common
stock and for other corporate purposes. Management anticipates that the Company's sources
of capital will continue to generate capital in excess of the needs for business growth, debt interest
payments and shareholder dividends.

The total capital of the Company was $673.5 million at December 31, 2002, including
$144.7 million of long-term debt and no short-term debt outstanding. Total debt represented
21.5% of capital {(24.4% excluding unrealized investment gains and losses) at December 31,
2002, within the Company's long-term target of 25%.

Shareholders' equity was $528.8 million at December 31, 2002, including an unrealized gain
in the Company's investment portfolio of $80.6 million after taxes and the related impact on
deferred policy acquisition costs and the value of acquired insurance in force associated with
annuity and interest-sensitive life policies. The market value of the Company's common stock and
the market value per share were $654.5 million and $15.33, respectively, at December 31, 2002.
Book value per share was $12.39 at December 31, 2002, $10.50 excluding investment fair value
adjustments. At December 31, 2001, book value per share was $11.27, $10.62 excluding
investment fair value adjustments. The increase in book value per share over the 12 months
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included the effects of realized investment losses, unrealized investment gains and an increase
in the Company's minimum pension liability recorded at December 31, 2002.

Cn May 14, 2002, the Company issued $353.5 million aggregate principal amount of
1.425% senior convertible notes due in 2032 {("Convertible Notes") at a discount of 52.5%
resulting in an effective yield of 3.0%. The Convertible Notes were privately offered only to
gualified institutional buyers under Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933 and outside the
U.S. to non-U.S. persons under Regulation S under the Securities Act of 1933. A Securities and
Exchange Commission registration statement registering the Convertibie Notes was declared
effective on November 4, 2002. For information regarding the use of proceeds, see "Liguidity and
Financial Resources -- Cash Flow -- Financing Activities." In addition to the cash repurchase
transactions, in December 2002 the Company repurchased an additional $56.0 million aggregate
principal amount, $26.6 million carrying value, of the outstanding Convertible Notes at an
aggregate cost of $26.0 million in a non-cash transaction. As consideration for this repurchase,
1.8 million shares of HMEC'’s common stock were issued.

interest on the Convertible Notes is payable semi-annually at a rate of 1.425% beginning
November 14, 2002 untit May 14, 2007. After that date, cash interest will not be paid on the
Convertible Notes prior to maturity unless contingent cash interest becomes payable. From May
15, 2007 through maturity of the Convertible Notes, interest will be recognized at the effective rate
of 3.0% and will represent the accrual of discount, excluding any contingent cash interest that may
become payable. Contingent cash interest becomes payable if the average market price of a
Convertible Note for a five trading day measurement period preceding the applicable six-month
period equals 120% or more of the sum of the Convertible Note's issue price, accrued original
issue ciscount and accrued cash interast, if any, for such Convertible Note. The contingent cash
interest payable per Convertible Note with respect to any quarterly period within any six-month
period will equal the then applicable conversion rate multiplied by the greater of (i) $0.105 or (ii)
any regular cash dividends paid by the Company per share on HMEC's common stock during that
guarterly period.

The Convertible Notes will be convertible at the option of the holders, if the conditions for
conversion are satisfied, into shares of HMEC's common stock at a conversion price of $26.74.
Holders may also surrender Convertible Notes for conversion during any period in which the credit
rating assigned to the Convertible Notes is Ba2 or lower by Moody's or BB+ or lower by S&P, the
Convertible Notes are no longer rated by either Moody's or S&P, or the credit rating assigned to
the Convertible Notes has been suspended or withdrawn by either Moody's or S&P. The
Convertibie Notes will cease to be convertible pursuant to this credit rating criteria during any
period or periods in which all of the credit ratings are increased above such levels. The
Convertible Notes are redeemable by HMEC in whole or in part, at any time on or after May 14,
2007, at redemption prices equal to the sum of the issue price plus accrued original issue discount
and accrued cash interest, if any, on the applicable redemption date. The holders of the
Convertible Notes may require HMEC to purchase all or a portion of their Convertible Notes on
either May 14, 2007, 2012, 2017, 2022, or 2027 at stated prices pius accrued cash interest, if any,
to the purchase date. HMEC may pay the purchase price in cash or shares of HMEC common
stock or in 2 combination of cash and shares of HMEC common stock.

The Convertible Notes have an investment grade rating from Standard & Poor's Corporation
("S&P") (BBB+), Moody's Investors Service, inc. ("Moody's") (Baa2), Fitch Ratings, Ltd. ("Fitch")
{(A-), and A.M. Best Company, inc. ("A.M. Best") (bbb+). S&P and A.M. Best have indicated the
outlook for their rating is "Stable.” On July 25, 2002, Moody's affirmed its Baa2 rating, but revised
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the outlook for the rating to "Negative" from "Stable." This change in outlook was the result of the
Company's second quarter 2002 investment losses, described above, as well as the Company's
increased financial leverage and the competitive nature of the annuity markets in which the
Company competes. Moody's announcement indicated that material adverse deviations from the
Company's expected level of capital growth and earnings could {rigger a subsequent ratings
downgrade. The Convertible Notes are traded in the open market (HMN 1.425).

In January 1996, the Company issued $100.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6 5/8%
Senior Notes ("Senior Notes") at a discount of 0.5% which will mature on January 15, 2006. in
2002, the Company repurchased $71.4 million aggregate principal amount of its outstanding
Senior Notes utilizing a portion of the proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Notes, as
described above. interest on the Senior Notes is payable semi-annually. The Senior Notes are
redeemable in whole or in part, at any time, at the Company's option. The Senior Notes have an
investment grade rating from S&P (BBB+), Moody's (Baa2), Fitch (A-) and A.M. Best (bbb+). S&P
and A.M. Best have indicated the outlook for their rating is "Stable." On July 25, 2002, Moody's
affirmed its Baa2 rating, but revised the outiook for the rating to "Negative” from "Stable". On
September 19, 2002, Fitch confirmed its "A-" debt rating, but revised the outlook for the rating
from "Stable” to "Negative.” The September 2002 change in outlook was the result of the second
quarter 2002 investment losses described above as well as the Company's increased financial
leverage and the competitive nature of the annuity markets in which the Company competes.
Fitch's announcement indicated that the key expectations for the Company to maintain its existing
rating include a return to its long-term financial leverage targets while maintaining its existing NAIC
risk-based capital ratios, the continued demonstration of better than industry underwriting
performance in the Company's property and casualty subsidiaries and no unexpected
deterioration in the Company's asset quality. A material adverse deviation from these
expectations could trigger a subsequent ratings downgrade. The Senior Notes are traded on the
New York Stock Exchange {HMN 6 5/8).

As of December 31, 2001, the Company had short-term debt of $53.0 million outstanding
under the previous Bank Credit Agreement. The $53.0 million balance outstanding under the
previous Bank Credit Agreement was repaid in full on May 14, 2002 utilizing a portion of the
proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Notes, as described above. On May 29, 2002, the
Company entered into a new Bank Credit Agreement which provides for unsecured borrowings
of up to $25.0 million, with a provision that allows the commitment amount to be increased to
$35.0 million (the "Current Bank Credit Facility"). The Current Bank Credit Facility expires on May
31, 2005. Interest accrues at varying spreads relative to corporate or eurodollar base rates and
is payable monthly or quarterly depending on the applicable base rate. No amounts had been
borrowed under the Current Bank Credit Facility and no baiance was outstanding at December
31, 2002. The unused portion of the Current Bank Credit Facility is subject to a variable
commitment fee, which was 0.20% on an annual basis at December 31, 2002.

The Company's ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the year ended December 31,‘2002
was 1.9x, reflecting the impact of $49.4 million of pretax realized investment losses recognized
during the period, compared to 4.0x for the prior year.

Total shareholder dividends were $17.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. In
February 2003, the Board of Directors announced a regular quarterly dividend of $0.105 per
share.
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The Company maintains an excess and catastrophe treaty reinsurance program. The
Company reinsures 85% of catastrophe losses above a retention of $8.5 million per occurrence
up to $80 million per occurrence. In addition, the Company's predominant insurance subsidiary
for property and casualty business written in Florida reinsures 90% of hurricane losses in that
state above a retention of $13.7 million up to $51.4 million with the Florida Hurricane Catastrophe
Fund, based on the Fund's financial resources. Through December 31, 2001, these catastrophe
reinsurance programs were augmented by a $100 million equity put and reinsurance agreement.

Effective May 7, 2002, the Company entered into a replacement equity put and reinsurance
agreement with a subsidiary of Swiss Reinsurance Company. The Swiss Re Group is rated "A++
(Superior)” by A.M. Best. Under the 36-month agreement, which is renewable annually at the

option of the Company, the equity put coverage of $75 million provides a source of capital for up
to $115 million of pretax catastrophe losses above the reinsurance coverage limit. The Company
aiso has the option, in place of the equity put, to require a Swiss Re Group member to issue a
10% quota share reinsurance coverage of all of the Company's property and casualty book of
business. Annual fees related to this equity put option, which are charged directly to additional
paid-in capital, increased to 145 basis points in 2002 from 95 basis points in 2001 under the prior
agreement; however, in 2002 the agreement was effective only for the last eight months of the
year. The agreement contains certain conditions to Horace Mann's exercise of the equity put
option including: (1) the Company's shareholders’ equity, adjusted to exclude goodwill, can not
be less than $215 miillion after recording the first triggering event; (2) the Company's debt as a
percentage of total capital can not be more than 47.5% prior to recording the triggering event; and
(3) the Company's S&P financial strength rating can not be below "BBB" prior to a triggering
event. The Company’s S&P financial strength rating was "A+" at December 31, 2002.

For liability coverages, including the educator excess professional liability policy, the
Company reinsures each loss above a retention of $500 thousand up to $20 million. The
Company also reinsures each property loss above a retention of $250 thousand up to $2.5 million,
including catastrophe losses that in the aggregate are less than the retention levels above.

The cost of the Company's catastrophe reinsurance coverage program for the full year 2002
increased approximately 50%, or $2.0 million, compared to full year 2001 as a result of the effects
on the reinsurance market of the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks. However the impact on
the Company was mitigated due to the fact that 38% of the Company's catastrophe coverage is
under a three-year contract from January 1, 2001 through December 31, 2003. The cost of the
Company’s entire property and casualty reinsurance program for the full year 2002 increased
approximately 35%, or $2.5 million, compared to full year 2001.

On December 31, 2002, the Company's primary life insurance subsidiary, Horace Mann Life
Insurance Company ("HMLIC"), entered into a reinsurance agreement with Sun Life Reinsurance
Company Limited ("SLRCL"), a member of the Sun Life Financial Group. Under the terms of the
agreement, which is expected to be in place for a five year period, HMLIC ceded to SLRCL, on
a combination coinsurance and modified coinsurance basis, a 57.7% quota share of HMLIC's in
force interest-sensitive life block of business issued prior to January 1, 2002. SLRCL assumes
its proportional share of all risks attendant to the business reinsured such as mortality, persistency
and investment risk, reducing HMLIC's liabilities under statutory accounting principles to the extent
of the ceded commission. The initial ceded commission paid by SLRCL to HMLIC was $50.0
million and resulted in a $32.5 million after-tax increase in HMLIC's statutory surplus. Subsequent
growth in HMLIC's statutory surplus is expected to be reduced by approximately $6.5 million
annually, as the coinsurance reserve declines over the term of the agreement. Fees related to
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this transaction, which are anticipated to reduce the Company's after-tax GAAP operating income
and net income by approximately 2 cents per share in 2003, are also expected to decline over the
term of the agreement. This transaction improved the statutory operating leverage and risk-based
capital ratio of HMLIC, partially mitigating the impact of realized investment losses recorded in
2002.

insurance Financial Ratings

The Company's principal insurance subsidiaries are rated by various rating agencies.
Additional information regarding the rating processes and ratings definitions for each agency is
included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002
in "Business -- Insurance Financial Ratings." Each of the ratings below is unchanged from
December 31, 2001 with the exception of A.M. Best's rating for the Company's property and
casualty subsidiaries and the outlooks of Fitch and Moody's for the Company's financial strength
ratings.

On May 8, 2002 following its annual review of Horace Mann's ratings, A.M. Best Company,
inc. ("A.M. Best") announced that it was affirming the "A (Excellent)" financial strength rating of
the Company's principal life insurance subsidiary. A.M. Best downgraded the financial strength
ratings of the Company's property and casualty subsidiaries one notch from "A+ (Superior)" to "A
(Excellent)" reflecting capitalization of these subsidiaries being below A.M. Best's standard for the
Superior rating and the impact on earnings in 2000 and 2001 of prior years' reserve strengthening.
A.M. Best has identified the outlook for the ratings as "Stable."

As affirmed in both May 2002 and March 2003, each of HMEC's principal insurance
subsidiaries is rated "A+ (Strong)" for financial strength by Standard & Poor's Corporation ("S&P")
with a ratings outlook of "Stable", with the exception of Horace Mann Lioyds which is not yet rated
by S&P.

Each of HMEC's principal insurance subsidiaries is rated "AA- (Very Strong)" for financial
strength by Fitch Ratings, Ltd. ("Fitch"). Cn September 19, 2002, Fitch confirmed its "AA-"
financial strength ratings, but revised the outlook for the ratings from "Stable"” to "Negative." The
September 2002 change in outlook was the result of the second quarter 2002 investment losses,
described above, as well as the Company's increased financial leverage and the competitive
nature of the annuity markets in which the Company competes. Fitch's announcement indicated
that the key expectations for the Company to maintain its existing ratings include a return to its
long-term financial leverage targets while maintaining its existing NAIC risk-based capital ratios,
the continued demonstration of better than industry underwriting performance in the Company's
property and casualty subsidiaries and no unexpected deterioration in the Company's asset
quality. A material adverse deviation from these expectations could trigger a subsequent ratings
downgrade.

Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's") has assigned a financial strength rating of "A2
(Good)" to each of HMEC's principal subsidiaries, with the exception of Horace Mann Lloyds
which is not yet rated by Moody's. On July 25, 2002, Moody's affirmed these ratings, but revised
the outlook for the ratings to "Negative” from "Stable." This change in outlook was the result of
the Company's second quarter 2002 investment losses, described above, as well as the
Company’s increased financial leverage and the competitive nature of the annuity markets in
which the Company competes. Moody's announcement indicated that material adverse
deviations from the Company's expected level of capital growth and earnings could trigger a
subsequent ratings downgrade.
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Market Value Risk

Market risk is the risk that the Company will incur losses due to adverse changes in market
rates. Market value risk, the Company's primarily market risk exposure, is the risk that the
Company's invested assets will decrease in value. This decrease in value may be due to a
change in (1) the vields realized on the Company’'s assets and prevailing market yields for similar
assets, {(2) an unfavorable change in the liquidity of the investment, {3) an unfavorabie change
in the financial prospects of the issuer of the invesiment, or {4) a downgrade in the credit rating
of the issuer of the investment. See also "Results of Operations -- Year Ended December 31,
2002 Ccompared to Year Ended December 31, 2001 -- Realized Investment Gains and Losses.”

Significant changes in interest rates expose the Company to the risk of experiencing losses
or earning a reduced level of income based on the difference between the interest rates earned
on the Company's investments and the credited interest rates on the Company's insurance
liabilities.

The Company manages its market value risk by coordinating the projected cash outflows
of assets with the projected cash outfiows of liabilities. For all its assets and liabilities, the
Company seeks to maintain reasonable durations, consistent with the maximization of income
without sacrificing investment quality, while providing for liquidity and diversification. The
investment risk associated with variable annuity deposits and the underlying mutual funds is
assumed by those contractholders, and not by the Company. Certain fees that the Company
earns from variable annuity deposits are based on the market value of the funds deposited.

Through active investment management, the Company invests available funds with the
objective of funding future obligations to policyholders, subject to appropriate risk considerations,
and maximizing shareholder value. This objective is met through investments that (1) have similar
characteristics {o the liabilities they support; (2) are diversified among industries, issuers and
geographic locations; and (3) are predominately investment-grade fixed maturity securities
classified as avaiiable for sale. No derivatives are used to manage the exposure to interest rate
risk in the investment portfolios. At December 31, 2002, 20% of the fixed investment portfolio
represented investments supporting the property and casuaity operations and 80% supported the
life and annuity business. For a discussicn regarding the Company'’s invesiments see “Business
-- Investments.”

The Company's life and annuity operating earnings are affected by the spreads between
interest yields on investments and rates credited or accruing on life and fixed annuity insurance
liabilities. Although substantially all credited rates on fixed annuities may be changed annually
(subject to minimum guaranteed rates), competitive pricing and other factors, inctuding the impact
on the level of surrenders and withdrawals, may limit the Company’s ability to adjust or to maintain
crediting rates at ievels necessary to avoid narrowing of spreads under certain market conditions.

Using financial modeling and other technigues, the Company regularly evaluates the
appropriateness of investments relative to the characteristics of the liabilities that they support.
Simulations of cash flows generated from existing business under various interest rate scenarios
measure the potential gain or loss in fair value of interest-rate sensitive assets and liabilities.
Such estimates are used to closely maich the duration of assets tc the duration of liabilities. The
overall duration of liabilities of the Company’s muitiline insurance operations combines the
characteristics of its long duration interest-sensitive life and annuity liabilities with its short duration
non-interest-sensitive property and casualty liabilities. Overall, at December 31, 2002, the
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duration of the investment portfolio was approximately 4.8 years, and the duration of insurance
liabilities was approximately 5.4 years.

The life and annuity operations participate in the cash flow testing procedures imposed by
statutory insurance regulations, the purpose of which is to insure that such liabilities are adequate
to meet the Company’s obligations under a variety of interest rate scenarios. Based on these
procedures, the Company’'s assets and the investment income expected to be received on such
assets are adequate to meet the insurance policy obligations and expenses of the Company’s
insurance activities in all but the most extreme circumstances.

The Company periodically evaluates its sensitivity to interest rate risk. Based on commonly
used models, the Company projects the impact of interest rate changes, assuming a wide range
of factors, including duration and prepayment, on the fair value of assets and liabilities. Fair value
is estimated based on the net present value of cash flows or duration estimates. At December
31, 2002, assuming an immediate decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, the net fair value
of the Company’s assets and liabilities would decrease by approximately $21 million after tax, or
4% of shareholders’ equity. A 100 basis point increase would decrease the fair value of assets
and liabilities by $2 million after tax, or less than 1% of shareholders! equity. At December 31,
2001, assuming an immediate decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, the net fair value of
the Company’s assets and liabilities would have increased by approximately $10 million after tax,
or 3% of shareholders’ equity. A 100 basis point increase would have decreased the fair value
of assets and liabilities by $16 million after tax, or 5% of shareholders’ equity. In each case, these
changes in interest rates assume a paraliel shift in the yield curve.

While the Company believes that these assumed market rate changes are reasonably
possible, actual results may differ, particularly as a result of any management actions that would
be taken to mitigate such hypothetical losses in fair value of shareholders’ equity. Based on the
Company’s overall exposure to interest rate risk, the Company believes that these changes in
interest rates would not materially affect its consolidated near-term financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

information Systems Risk

The Company administers its insurance business with information systems that are dated
and complex, and require extensive manual input, calculation and control procedures. These
systems are more prone to error than more advanced technology systems. To address these
issues, over the past two years the Company has enhanced its existing systems and technology
infrastructure and begun installing new systems, including a new general ledger and financial
reporting system, which is expected to be operational in the second quarter of 2003. in the
meantime, enhanced checks and control procedures have been established to review the output
of existing information systems, including periodic internal and external third party reviews.
Nevertheless, there are risks that inaccuracies in the processing of data may occur which might
not be identified by those procedures and checks.
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Business Continuity Risk

Given the events of September 11, 2001, the continuing threat of terrorism and the current
geopolitical climate, the Company has undertaken a reassessment of its business continuity
plans. While current contingency plans are felt to be adequate to restore some of the more critical
business processes and the Company is aggressively working to strengthen its continuity plans,
in the current environment there is believed to exist a higher than acceptable level of risk that the
Company's ability to recover and resume most or all of its key business operations on a timely
basis would be compromised. '

Recent Accounting Changes

SFAS No. 143

in June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,”
effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The accounting practices in this
statement apply to legal obligatiocns associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that result
from the acquisition, construction, development and {or) the ncrmal operation of a long-lived
asset. This statement will not have a materiai impact on the Company because it does not own
a significant amount of property and eguipment.

SFAS No. 145

in April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, "Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44,
and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections,” effective for fiscal
years beginning after May 15, 2002. Under SFAS No. 4, all gains and losses from the
extinguishment of debt, exclusive of an exception identified in SFAS No. 64, were required to be
aggregated and, if material, classified as an extraordinary item, net of related income tax effect.
With adoption of SFAS No. 145, gains and losses from extinguishment of debt shouid be
classified as extraordinary only if they meet the criteria of Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 30, "Reporting the Results of Operations - Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of
a2 Business, Extraordinary, Unusual and infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions.”
Applying the provisions of Opinion No. 30 will distinguish transactions that are part of an entity's
recurring operations from those that are unusual or infrequent or that meet the criteria for
classification as an exiraordinary item. In the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company

" recorded charges for the extinguishment of debt and did not report the charges as an
extraordinary item.

SFAS No. 44 was not applicable to the Company. Although the evaluation of the impact
of the remaining provisions of SFAS No. 145 is not yet complete, at this time management
anticipates that the impact wili not be material.

SFAS No. 146

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit
or Disposal Activities," effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31,
2002. This statement nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") Issue No. 84-3, "Liability
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity
(including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” The principal difference between SFAS No.
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146 and EITF No. 94-3 relates to the requirements for recognition of a liability for a cost
associated with an exit or disposal activity. SFAS No. 146 requires that such liability be
recognized when the liability is incurred. Under EITF No. 94-3, a liability for defined exit costs was
recognized at the date of an entity's commitment to an exit plan. Currently, management
anticipates that the impact of this statement will not be material.

SFAS No. 148

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation - Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123," effective
for financial statements for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002 and for financial reports
containing condensed financial statements for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2002.
SFAS No. 148 provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148
amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require more prominent and more
frequent disclosures in financial statements about the effects of stock-based compensation,
including disclosures in interim financial statements. As the Company has not elected to adopt
the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation, this
statement is not expected to currently impact the Company except as it relates to disclosure in
interim financial statements. The required disclosures for annual financial statements are
included in the Company’'s Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2002.

FIN No. 45

in November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45, "Guarantor's Accounting
and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees” ("FIN 45"). FIN 45 requires that disclosures be
made by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements about its obligation under
certain guarantees that it has issued. It also clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at
the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the
guarantee. FIN 45 does not apply to certain guarantee contracts such as those issued by
insurance and reinsurance companies and accounted for under accounting principles applicable
to those companies. The disclosure requirements are effective for financial statements for periods
ending after December 15, 2002. Recognition and measurement provisions are applicable on a
prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The Company
currently has not entered into any transactions subject to FIN 45, and therefore FIN 45 does not
currently impact the Company.

FIN No. 46

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities” ("FIN 46"). FIN 48 requires that companies that absorb the majority of another
entity's expected iosses, receive a majority of its expected residual returns, or both, as a result
of holding variable interests, which are ownership, contractual, or other economic interests in an
entity, consolidate that entity, referred to as a variable interest entity ("VIE"). Companies meeting
this definition are considered 'primary beneficiaries’. The consolidation requirements apply to all
VIE's created after January 31, 2003. None of the Company's investments at December 31, 2002
meet the requirements of a primary beneficiary, and therefore FIN 46 does not currently impact
the Company.
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Effects of Infiation and Changes in interest Rates

The Company's operating results are affected significantly in at least three ways by changes
in interest rates and inflation. First, inflation directly affects property and casualty claims costs.
Second, the investment income earned on the Company's investment portfolio and the fair value
of the investment portfolio are related to the yields availabie in the fixed-income markets. An
increase in interest rates will decrease the fair value of the investment portfolio, but will increase
investment income as investments mature and proceeds are reinvested at higher rates. Third,
as interest rates increase, competitors will typically increase crediting rates on annuity and
interest-sensitive life products, and may lower premium rates on property and casualty lines to
reflect the higher yieids available in the market. The risk of interest rate fluctuation is managed
through asset/liability management techniques, including cash flow analysis.




REPORT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Horace Mann Educators Corporation

The consolidated balance sheets of Horace Mann Educators Corporation and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
changes in shareholders' equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000 have been prepared by management, which is responsible for their integrity and
reliability. The statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting-principles generally
accepted in the United States of America and include some amounts that are based upon
management’s best estimates and judgements. Management has discussed with the Audit
Committee the quality, not just the acceptability, of the Company's accounting principles as
applied in its financial reporting. The discussions generally included such matters as the
consistency of the Company's accounting policies and their application, and the clarity and
completeness of the Company's financial statements, which include related disclosures. The
financial information contained elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K is consistent with
that contained in the financial statements. '

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting.
The concept of reasonable assurance is based on the recognition that there are inherent
limitations in all systems of internal control, and that the cost of such systems should not exceed
the benefits derived therefrom. A professional staff of internal auditors reviews on an ongoing
basis the related internal control system design, the accounting policies and procedures
supponrting this system and compliance therewith. Management believes this system of internal
control effectively meets its objective of reliable financial reporting.

In connection with their annual audits, independent certified public accountants perform an
examination, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which includes the consideration of the system of internal control to the extent necessary
to form an independent opinion on the fairness of presentation of the financial statements
prepared by management and not to provide assurance on the system of internal controls.

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee composed solely of directors who are
not employees of the Company, is responsible for overseeing the integrity and reliability of the
Company's accounting and financial reporting practices and the effectiveness of its system of
internal controls. The independent certified public accountants and internal auditors meet
regularly with this committee, and have access to this committee with and without management
present, to discuss the results of their audit work.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Horace Mann Educators Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Horace Mann
Educators Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002. In connection with
our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the financial statement
schedules, as listed in the accompanying index. These consolidated financial statements and
financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company's management. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Horace Mann Educators Corporation and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion,
the related financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein. :

As discussed in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Company
adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets.”

KPrc LIP
KPMG LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 6, 2003
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HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

{Dollars in thousahds)

2002 2001 2000
ASSETS
Investments

Fixed maturities, available for sale, at fair value

(amortized cost 2002, $2,859,007;

2001, $2,726,831; 2000, $2,615,156) .......... $2,991,195 $2,769,867 $2,607,738
Short-term and other investments . . ............. 135,431 107,445 99,728
Short-term investments, loaned securities collateral . 3,937 98,369 204,881

Totalinvestments ........................ 3,130,563 2,975,681 2,912,347
Cash .. .. 60,162 33,939 21,141
Accrued investment income and premiums receivable . 99,954 112,746 101,405
Deferred policy acquisitioncosts . ................ 174,555 167,776 141,604
Goodwill ... .. . 47,396 47,396 49,014
Value of acquired insurance inforce .............. 31,945 38,393 43,246
Otherassets ......... ... ... . .. 113,244 - 114,665 116,756
Variable annuityassets .. ...................... 854,470 1,008,430 1.035,067

Totalassels ............. ... ........... $4,512,289 $4.489,026 $4,420,580

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Policy liabilities

Fixed annuity contract liabilities . . . .............. $1,385,737 $1,278,137 $1,217,756

Interest-sensitive life contract liabilities .. ... ... ... 544,533 518,455 481,140

Unpaid claims and claim expenses . ............. 326,575 314,295 308,881

Future policy benefits . ....................... 180,577 179,109 180,049

Unearned premiums . . ....................... 189,384 185,569 174,428

Total policy liabilities ..................... 2,626,806 2,475,565 2,362,254
Other policyholderfunds . ...................... 125,108 123,434 122,233
Liability for securities lending agreements .......... 3,937 98,369 204,881
Other liabilities . . ........... [ 228,441 171,271 119,431
Short-termdebt . ... ... ... ... . - 53,000 49,000
Long-termdebt ........... .. ... . ... ... .. ..., 144,685 99,767 99,721
Variable annuity liabilities . ... ............ ... ... . 854,470 1,008,430 1,035,067

Total liabilities . . . ........................ 3,983,447 4,029,836 3,992,587
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, authorized

1,000,000 shares; noneissued ................. - - -
Common stock, $0.001 par value, authorized

75,000,000 shares; issued, 2002, 60,194,615;

2001, 60,076,921; 2000, 59,859,053 ............ 60 60 60
Additional paid-in capital ....................... 342,749 - 341,052 338,243
Retained earnings .............. ... ... .. ..... 455,308 461,139 452,624
Accumulated other comprehensive income

(loss), net of taxes:

Net unrealized gains (losses) on fixed

maturities and equity securities .. ............ 80,567 26,336 (4,038)

Minimum pension liability adjustment . . ... ... ... (17,265) (11,438) (937)

Treasury stock, at cost, 2002, 17,503,371 shares;

2001 and 2000, 19,341,296 shares . ............. (332,577) (357,959) (357,959)

Total shareholders' equity .. ................ 528,842 459,190 427,993

$4.420,580

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ....... $4.512,289 $4,489,026
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

{Doliars in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Insurance premiums written and contract deposits . . . $ 899,329 $§ 875566 $ 821,653
Revenues A

insurance premiums and contract charges earned . . $ 625,233 $ 615,242 $ 598,714

Net investment income 196,048 199,267 192,396

Realized investment losses (49.407) (10.019) (9,906)

Total revenues 771,874 804,490 781204

Benefits, losses and expenses

Benefits, claims and settiement expenses 450,866 475,583 466,048

Interest credited ’ ) 98,380 96,502 92,561

Policy acquisition expenses amortized 61,297 58,048 55,972

Operating expenses 131,339 123,679 127,810

Amortization of intangible assets 5,734 5774 8,769

Interest expense 8,517 9,250 10,204

Restructuring charges 4,223 7,312 2,236

Debt retirement costs 2,272 - -

Litigation charges 1.581 - 7.783

Total benefits, losses and expenses .......... 764,208 776,148 771,483

Income before income taxes . ................... 7,665 28,342 9,721
Income tax expense (benefit) . ................. .. (3,668) 4,024 (2,438)
Adjustment to the provision for prior years' taxes . . . .. - (1.269) (8,682)
Netincome ... .. . $§ 11333 $ 25587 $ 20841
Earnings per share

Basic ........ e $ 0.28 0.63 0.51

Diluted ....... e 3 0.28 0.63 0.51

Weighted average number of shares
and equivalent shares
Basic ......... ... .. 40,941,182 40,616,843 40,782,173
Diluted ........ .. .. 41,199,033 40,877,120 40,966,774

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

CONSCLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

{Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Common stock ,
Beginning balance ................ ... .. .....
Options éxercised, 2002, 107,410 shares; 2001,
207,575 shares; 2000, 557,000 shares; and
shares awarded, 2000, 10,000 shares ..........
Conversion of Director Stock Plan units, 2002,
10,284 shares; 2001, 10,293 shares . ..........
Endingbalance .. ............... ... ... .....

Additional paid-in capital
Beginning balance ...... e
Options exercised, conversion of Director
Stock Plan units and shares awarded ..........
Catastrophe-linked equity put option premium .. .. ..
Issuance of treasury sharesin2002 . ............
Endingbalance . ........... . ... ... L.

Retained earnings
Beginning balance ...... ... ... ... .. ... ...,
Netincome . ....... ... ... ... . .. .. ... .. .....
Cash dividends, 2002, $0.42 per share; 2001, $0.42
per share; 2000, $0.42 pershare . . ............
Endingbalance .. ........... ... .. ... .. L.

Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss), net of taxes:
Beginningbalance .......... ... ... ... .. ...
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on fixed
maturities and equity securities . . .. ..........
Increase in minimum pension liability adjustment . .
Endingbalance ............. ... ... .......

Treasury stock, at cost
Beginning balance, 2002 and 2001, 19,341,296
shares; 2000, 18,258,896 shares . . . ... ........
Issuance of 1,837,925 shares in 2002 ...........
Purchase of 1,082,400 sharesin2000 ...........
Ending balance 2002, 17,503,371 shares,
2001 and 2000, 19,341,296 shares ............

Shareholders’ equity at end of period .. ............

Comprehensive income
Netincome . .......... ... ... ... ... ... .....
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Change in net unrealized gains (losses)
on fixed maturities and equity securities .......
Increase in minimum pension liability adjustment . .
Other comprehensive income .............
Total ...... ... .

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
$ 60 $ 80 $ 59
- . 1
60 60 60
341,052 338,243 333,892
2,183 3,759 5,301
(1,088) (950) (950)
602 . _ .
342,749 341,052 338,243
461,139 452,624 449,023

11,333 25,587 20,841
(17.164) (17,072) (17,240)
455,308 461,139 452,624
14,898 (4,975) (40,016)
54,231 30,374 35,978
(5,827) (10,501) (937)
63,302 14,898 ~ (4,975)
(357,959) (357,959) (342,816)
25,382 . .
- - (15,143)
(332.577) (357.959) (357,959)
$ 528,842 $ 459,190 $ 427,993
$ 11,333 $ 25,587 $ 20,841
54,231 30,374 35,978
(5.827) (10,501) (937)
48.404 19,873 35041
$ 59737 $ 45460 $ 55882

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

{Collars in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Premiums collected
Policyholder benefitspaid . .. ..................
Policy acquisition and cther operating expenses paid
Federzal income taxes recovered (paid) . ..........
investment income collected . . . ......... ... ...
Interestexpensepaid .. ....... .. ... .. ... ...
Contribution to defined benefit pension pian trust fund
Other ... ... e

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash fiows used in investing activities
Fixed maturities
Purchases ........ ... .
Sales . ... .. e SN
Maturities . . . ... ... .. ..
Net cash (used for) provided by
short-term and other investments
Net cash used in investing activities .. ........

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities
Purchase oftreasurystock ....................
Dividends paid to shareholders . .. ..............
Principal (repayments) borrowings

on Bank Credit Facility .. ................... .
Exercise of stockoptions .....................
Catastrophe-linked equity put option premium . . .. ..
Proceeds from issuance of Convertible Notes . . . .. .
Repurchase of Senior Notes and Convertible Notes .
Annuity contracts, variable and fixed

Deposits

Maturities and withdrawals . . .................

Net transfer (to) from variable annuity assets . . . ..
Net decrease in life policy account balances . . ... ..

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease}incash .................

Cash at beginning ofpericd . ....................

Cash at end of period

Year Ended December 31.

2002 _2001 2000
$ 663,682 § 642,596 $ 618,253
(465,811) (487,619) (465,414)
(206,457) (193,713) (187,248)
(2,055) 7,520 (16,101)
197,872 195,086 191,103
(9,540) {(2,091) (10,028)
(7,910) - -
(4,314) (5.922) (6.317)
165.467 148,857 124,248
(1,546,528) (1,14C,930) (750,928)
1,117,268 732,076 464,305
274,134 283,153 243,618
(28.776) (2.107) 26.814
(183.902) (127,808) (16,181)
- - (15,143)
(17,164) (17,072) (17,240)
{(563,000) 4,000 -
2,183 3,758 5,302
(1,088) (850) (850)
162,654 - -
(97,523) - .
261,506 239,124 206,393
(189,824) (178,364) {312,365)
(17,264) (83,550) 28,437
{5,825) {5,198) (4,198)
44.658 {8.251) 109.764)
26,223 12,798 (1,707)
33,839 21,141 22.848
$ 60162 $ 33939 $ 21141

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

{Doliars in thousands, except per share datz)
NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") and with
the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. The preparation of
financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Horace Mann Educators
Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries ("HMEC"; and together with its subsidiaries, the
"Company" or "Horace Mann"). HMEC and its subsidiaries have common management, share
office facilities and are parties to several intercompany service agreements for management,
administrative, data processing, agent commissions, agency services, utilization of personnel and
investment advisory services. Under these agreements, costs have been allocated among the
companies in conformity with customary insurance accounting practices consistently applied. In
addition, certain of the subsidiaries have entered into intercompany reinsurance agreements.
HMEC and its subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return, and there are related tax
sharing agreements. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated
in consolidation.

The subsidiaries of HMEC sell and underwrite tax-qualified retirement annuities and private
passenger automobile, homeowners, and life insurance products, primarily to educators and other
employees of public schools and their families. The Company's principal operating subsidiaries
are Horace Mann Life insurance Company, Horace Mann Insurance Company, Teachers
insurance Company, Horace Mann Property & Casualty insurance Company and Horace Mann
Lloyds.

Investments

The Company invests primarily in fixed maturity investments. These securities are classified -
as available for sale and carried at fair value. The net adjustment for unrealized gains and losses
on securities available for sale, carried at fair value, is recorded as a separate component of
shareholders' equity, net of applicable deferred tax asset or liability and the related impact on
deferred policy acquisition costs and value of acquired insurance in force associated with interest-
sensitive life and annuity contracts.

F-57




NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-{Continued)

Short-term and other investments are comprised of policy loans, carried at unpaid principal
balances; short-term fixed interest securities, carried at cost which approximates fair value;
mortgage loans, carried at unpaid principal less a valuation allowance for estimated uncollectible
amounts; real estate acquired in the settlement of debt, carried at the lower of cost or fair value;
and equity securities, carried at fair value.

interest income is recognized as earned. I[nvestment income reflects amortization of
premiums and accrual of discounts on an effective-yield basis.

Realized gains and losses arising from the sale or impairment of securities are determined
based upon specific identification of securities. The Company reviews the fair value of the entire
investment portfolio on a monthly basis. This review, in conjunction with the Company's
investment managers' monthly credit reports and relevant factors such as (1) the financial
condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, (2) the Company's intent and ability to retain the
investment long enough to allow for the anticipated recovery in market value, (3) the stock price
trend of the issuer, (4) the market leadership position of the issuer, (5) the debt ratings of the
issuer and (6) the cash flows of the issuer are all considered in the impairment assessment. A
write-down is recorded when such decline in value is deemed to be other-than-temporary, with
the realized investment loss reflected in the Statement of Operations for the period.

The Company’s methodology of assessing other-than-temporary impairments is based on
security-specific facts and circumstances as of the date of the reporting period. Based on these
facts, if management believes it is probable that amounts due will not be collected according to
the contractual terms of a debt security not impaired at acquisition, or if the Company does not
have the ability or intent to hold a security with an unrealized loss until it matures or recovers in
value, an other-than-temporary impairment shall be considered to have occurred. As a general
rule, if the market value of a debt security has fallen below 80% of book value for more than six
months, this security will be reviewed for an other-than-temporary impairment. Additionally, if
events become known that call into question whether the security issuer has the ability to honor
its contractual commitments, whether or not such security has been trading above an 80% fair
value to cost relationship, such security holding will be evaluated to determine whether or not such
security has suffered an other-than-temporary decline in value.

The decline in value below cost is not assumed to be other-than-temporary for fixed maturity
investments with unrealized losses due to market conditions or incustry-related events where
there exists a reasonable market recovery expectation and the Company has the intent and ability
to hold the investment until maturity or a market recovery is realized. Management believes that
its intent and ability to hold a fixed maturity investment with a continuous material unrealized loss
due to market conditions or industry-related events for a period of time sufficient to allow a market
recovery or to maturity is a decisive factor when considering an impairment loss. [n the event that
the Company's intent or ability to hold a fixed maturity investment with a continuous material
unrealized loss for a period of time sufficient to allow a market recovery or to maturity were to
change, an evaluation for other-than-temporary impairment is performed. An other-than-
temporary impairment loss will be recognized based upon all relevant facts and circumstances
for each investment, as appropriate, in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission
Staff Accounting Builetin ("SAB") No. 59, "Accounting for Non-Current Marketable Equity
Securities,” Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Statement of Financial Accounting
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)

Standards ("SFAS") No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,"
and related guidance.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Deferred policy acquisition costs net of accumulated amortization were $174,555, $157,776
and $141,604 as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Acquisition costs, consisting of commissions, policy issue and other costs, which vary with
and are primarily related to the production of insurance business, are capitalized and amortized
as follows. Capitalized acquisition costs for interest-sensitive life contracts are amortized over 20
years in proportion to estimated gross profits. For other individual life contracts, acquisition costs
are amortized in proportion to anticipated premiums over the terms of the insurance policies (10,
15 and 20 years). For investment (annuity) contracts, acquisition costs are amortized over 20
years in proportion to estimated gross profits. For property and casualty policies, acquisition costs
are amortized over the terms of the insurance policies {six and twelve months). The Company
periodically reviews the assumptions and estimates used in capitalizing policy acquisition costs
and also periodically reviews its estimations of future gross profits. The most significant
assumptions that are involved in the estimation of future gross profits include future market
performance, business surrender/lapse rates and the impact of realized investment gains and
losses. In the event actual experience differs significantly from assumptions or assumptions are
significantly revised, the Company may be required to record a material charge or credit to
amortization expense for the period in which the adjustment is made.

Deferred policy acquisition costs for interest-sensitive life and investment contracts are
adjusted for the impact on estimated future gross profits as if net unrealized investment gains and
losses had been realized at the balance sheet date. The impact of this adjustment is included in
net unrealized gains and losses within shareholders' equity.

Deferred acquisition costs are reviewed for recoverability from future income, including
investment income, and costs which are deemed unrecoverable are expensed in the period in
which the determination is made. No such costs have been deemed unrecoverable during the
periods reported.

When the Company was acquired in 1989, deferred acquisition costs were reduced to zero
in connection with establishing the value of acquired insurance in force in the application of
purchase accounting.
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-{Continued}
Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and are included
in Other Assets in the Consoclidated Balance Sheets. Depreciation and amortization are
calculated on the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets. The
estimated useful lives of property and equipment by asset type are generally as follows: real
estate, identified by specific property, 20-45 years; furniture, 10 years; general office machines,
6 years; telephones, 5 years; vehicles, 3 years; and data processing hardware and software and
personal computers, 3 years.

December 31,
2004 2000

Property and equipment ' $68,160 $62,652
Less: accumulated depreciation 38,625 33,025
$29,535 $29,627

Value of Acquired Insurance In Force and Gooawill

When the Company was acquired in 1989, intangible assets were recorded in the
application of purchase accounting to recognize the vaiue of acquired insurance in force and
goodwill. In addition, goodwill was recorded in 1994 related to the purchase of Horace Mann
Property & Casualty Insurance Company (formerly Allegiance Insurance Company). The value
of acquired insurance in force is being amortized over the following periods, utilizing the indicated
methods for life and annuity, respectively, as follows: 20 years, in proportion to coverage
provided; 20 years, in proportion to estimated gross profits. Goodwill was amortized over 40 years
on a straight-line basis through December 31, 2001. Goodwili, net of amortization, was $47,396
and $49,014 at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, "Goodwiil and Other
Intangible Assets.” The Company's value of acquired insurance in force is an intangible asset
with a definite life and will continue to be amortized under the provisions of SFAS No. 142.
Goodwil! will remain on the balance sheet and not be amortized. SFAS No. 142 establishes a
new method of testing goodwill for impairment. On an annual basis, and when there is reason
to suspect that its vaiue may have been diminished or impaired, the goodwili asset must be tested
for impairment. The amount of goodwill determined to be impaired will be expensed to current
operations. As of June 30, 2002, the Company completed the allocation of goodwill by business
segment and the initial impairment testing procedures which resulted in nc impairment loss.

The allocation of goodwill by segment was as follows:

Balance as of
January 1, 2002
and December 31, 2002

ANNUIRY .. $28,025

Life . ’ 9,911

Propertyandcasualty . .......... ... .. . ... .. 9,460

Total. . .. e $47,396
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-{Continued)

Net income and net income per share exclusive of goodwill amortization expense for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

002 2001 000
Reported netincome . ........... ... ... ... ......... $11,333 $25,587 $20,841
Add back: Goodwill amortization ....................... - 1.618 1,618
Adjusted netincome . ... ... ... L 11,333 $27,205 $22,459
Reported net income per share-basic ................... $ o028 $ 083 $ 051
Add back: Goodwill amortization .. ..................... - 0.04 0.04
Adjusted net income per share-basic . ................. 0.28 0.67 § 055
Reported net income per share-diluted ............. ..... $ o028 $ 0863 $ 051
Add back: Goodwill amortization . ...................... - 0.04 0.04
Adjusted net income per share-diluted .. ... ... ... ... 0.28 $ 067 0.55

For the amortization of the value of acquired insurance in force, the Company periodically
reviews its estimates of future gross profits. The most significant assumptions that are involved
in the estimation of future gross profits include future market performance, business
surrender/lapse rates and the impact of realized investment gains and losses. In the event actual
experience differs significantly from assumptions or assumptions are significantly revised, the
Company may be required to record a material charge or credit to amortization expense for the
period in which the adjustment is made.

The value of acquired insurance in force for investment contracts (those issued prior to
August 29, 1989) is adjusted for the impact on estimated future gross profits as if net unrealized
investment gains and losses had been realized at the balance sheet date. The impact of this
adjustment is included in net unrealized gains and losses within shareholders' equity.

The balances of value of acquired insurance in force by segment at December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000 were as follows:

December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001 Decamber 31, 2000
Accumulated Net Accumulated Net Accumulated Net
Cost Amortization Balance Cost Amortization Balance Cost Amortization Balance

Value of acquired
insurance in force

Life ............ $ 48,746 § 39,877 §$ 8,869 $ 48,746  §$38,151 $10,695 § 48,746 $36,312 $12,434
Annuity . ...... .. 87,553 63,265 24298 _ 87,563 59,247 28306 __87553 _56.930 _30,623
Subtotal . ... ... $136299 $103.132 _33.,167 $136,299 $97,398 38,901 $136,289 $93,242 43,057
Impact of
unrealized gains '
andlosses . .. .. (1.222) {(508) 189
Total ....... 31,945 $38,393 $43.246
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)

Scheduled amortization of the December 31, 2002 balances of value of acquired insurance
in force by segment over the next five years is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Scheduled amortization of:
Value of acquired insurance in force
Life $1625  $1537 $1,460 $1,394  §1,338
i 3,650 3,812 3,970 4,116 4,280
$5275 $5349 $5430 $5510 $5618

The amount of interest accrued on the unamortized balance of value of acquired insurance
in force and the interest accrual rates were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000

Interest accrued on the unamortized balance

of value of acquired insurance in force
Life ' ' $ 921 $1,074
Annuity 1,639 _1.754
2,560 $2.828

8.0% 8.0%
57% 56%

The accumulated amortization of intangibles as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was
$152,109, $146,375 and $140,601, respectively.
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)

Variable Annuity Assets and Liabilities

Variable annuity assets, carried at market value, and liabilities represent tax-qualified
variable annuity funds invested in various mutual funds, including the seven proprietary Horace
Mann mutual funds. The Company introduced 21 and 8 new investment options in its tax-
deferred annuity product line in September 2000 and April 2002, respectively. Variable annuity
assets were invested in the offered mutual funds as follows:

December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Horace Mann EquityFund . ... ... ... ... .. ... o $274,025 $ 376,081 $ 428,821
Horace MannBalanced Fund .. .......... .. ... ... ... .. .... 240,697 292,126 315,015
Horace Mann Socially Responsible Fund .. ..., .......... ... . ... 58,909 71,610 75,782
Horace Mann Small Cap Growth Fund .. ..................... .. 34,682 _ 58,395 83,304
Horace Mann International EquityFund . ... .................... 26,248 33,491 42,512
Wilshire Large Company Growth Portfolio -

Institutional Classand InvestorClass . . . .................... .. 19,421 22,823 19,036
Horace MannincomeFund . ...... ... ... ... .. .. ... ... ... ... 19,313 13,966 14,376
Wilshire 5000 Index Portfolio -

Institutional Classand InvestorClass . . .. ..................... 16,784 19,806 16,829
Fidelity VIP Growth Portfolio SC2 .. .. ... ... ................. 15,040 14,852 - 7,041
Fidelity VIP 500 Index Portfolio SC2 . ... ....................... 14,849 12,105 4,915
Ariel Appreciation Fund . ... ... ... 14,179 4,351 -
Fidelity VIP Mid Cap Portfolio SC2 . ... ........ ... ... ... ... .... 12,836 11,368 4,690
Fidelity VIP Investment Grade Bond Portfolio SC2 ............. ... 9,861 3,797 312
Ariel Fund . .. 9,689 2,499 -
Alliance Premier Growth Portfolio ... ........ ... ... ... ... ... 9,298 9,270 4,142
T. Rowe Price Small Cap Value Fund - AdvisorClass ............. 9,255 4,932 343
Wilshire Large Company Value Portfolio . . ...................... 8,037 5,546 500
Neuberger Berman Genesis Fund AdvisorClass . ................ 7,494 4,369 252
T. Rowe Price Small Cap Stock Fund - AdvisorClass ............. 7,266 5,303 1,251
J.P. Morgan U.S. Disciplined Equity Portfolio . .............. .. ... 6,873 5,738 1,845
Strong Opportunity Fund Il . .......... ... . ... ... ... ... . ... 5,353 5,079 1,299
Horace Mann Short-Term InvestmentFund . .................... 4,186 2,797 2,274
Strong Mid Cap Growth Fund Il ......... ... ... ... ... ... .. .... 4,086 4919 3,397
Rainier Small/Mid Cap Equity Portfolio .. ... ................. ... 4,051 3,679 1,444
Fidelity VIP Growth and Income Portfolio SC2 . .................. 4,009 3,152 820
Fidelity VIP Overseas Portfolo SC2 . .......................... 3,917 3,339 1,410
DavisValue Portfolio . ... ... ... . . .. . . . 3,743 3,566 1,489
Putnam VT VistaFund (IBShares) . . .......................... 3,544 4,502 2,869
Credit Suisse Small Cap Growth Portfolio .. ..................... 2,407 2,926 1,640
Wilshire Small Company Value Portfolio . .. ..................... 1,660 1,278 70
Wilshire Small Company Growth Portfolio .. .................... 847 428 128
Fidelity VIP High Income Portfolio SC2 .. ....................... 852 406 261
BlackRock Index Equity Portfolio . . ..................... ... .. .. 386 - -
BlackRock Temp Fund ... ... .. ... ... . ... . . .. i 180 - -
Putnam VT George Putnam Fund of Boston (Class IB shares) ... ... 167 - -
BlackRock Low DurationBond Fund ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 118 - -
Putnam VT International Growth Fund (Class IB shares) ........... 85 - -
BlackRock Core Bond TotalReturnFund ........... ... ... .... 85 - -
Berger Information Technology Fund ... .......... 0. . ... .. 36 - -
Templeton Foreign Smaller Companies Fund (ClassA) ........... 2 - -

Total variable annuityassets ............................... 854,470 $1,008,430 $1,035,067

The investment income, gains and losses of these accounts accrue directly to the
policyholders and are not included in the operations of the Company.
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)

Future Policy Benefits, Interest-sensitive Life Contract Liabilities and Annuity Contract
Liabilities

Liabilities for future benefits on life and annuity policies are established in amounts
adequate to meet the estimated future obligations on policies in force. Liabilities for future policy
benefits on certain life insurance policies are computed using the net level premium method and
are based upon assumptions as to future investment vield, mortality and withdrawals. As a result
of the application of purchase accounting, future policy benefits for direct individual life insurance
policies issued through August 29, 1989 were revalued using interest rates of 8% graded to 8%
over 10 years. For policies issued from August 30, 1989 through December 31, 1992, future
policy benefits are computed using an interest rate of 6.5%. An interest rate of 5.5% is used to
compute future poiicy benefits for policies issued after December 31, 1892. Mortality and
withdrawal assumptions for all policies have been based on various actuarial tables which are
consistent with the Company's own experience. Liabilities for future benefits on annuity contracts
and certain long-duration life insurance contracis are carried at accumulated policyholder values
without reduction for potential surrender or withdrawal charges. The liability also includes
provisions for the unearned portion of certain policy charges.

Unpaid Claims and Claim Expenses

Liabilities for property and casualty unpaid claims and claim expenses include provisions
for payments to be made on reported claims, claims incurred but not reported and associated
settlement expenses. At December 31, 2002, 99.3% of the Company's liabilities for property and
casualty unpaid claims ana claim expenses were carried at the full value of estimated liabilities
and were not discounted for interest expected to be earned on reserves. Estimated amounts of
salvage and subrogation on unpaid property and casualty claims are deducted from the liability
for unpaid claims. Due to the nature of the Company's personal lines business, the Company has
no exposure to claims for toxic waste cleanup, other environmental remediation or asbestos-
related illnesses other than claims under homeowners insurance policies for environmentally
related items such as toxic mold.
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)

Insurance Premiums and Contract Charges Earned

Property and casualty insurance premiums are recognized as revenue ratably over the
related contract periods in proportion to the risks insured. The unexpired portions of these
property and casualty premiums are recorded as unearned premiums, using the monthly pro rata
method.

Premiums and contract charges for interest-sensitive life and annuity contracts consist of
charges for the cost of insurance, policy administration and withdrawals. Premiums for long-term
traditional life policies are recognized as revenues when due over the premium-paying period.
Annuity and interest-sensitive life contract deposits represent funds deposited by policyholders
and are not included in the Company's premiums or contract charges earned.

Stock Based Compensation

The Company grants stock options to executive officers, other employees and directors.
The exercise price of the option is equal to the fair market value of the Company's common stock
on the date of grant. Additional information regarding the Company's stock-based compensation
plans is contained in Note 6 - Shareholders’ Equity and Stock Options. The Company accounts
for stock option grants using the intrinsic value based method in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," and
accordingly, recognizes no compensation expense for the stock option grants.

Alternatively, SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," allows
companies to recognize compensation cost for stock-based compensation plans, determined
based on the fair value at the grant dates. If the Company had applied this alternative accounting
method, net income and net income per share would have been reduced to the pro forma
amounts indicated below:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Net income
Asreported .. ... .. ... L $11,333 $25,587 $20,841
Add: Stock-based compensation expense,
after tax, included in reported netincome .. ....... .. - - -
Deduct: Stock-based compensation expense,
after tax, determined under the fair value
based method for all awards(1) . .................. 4437 4418 1,846
Proforma ................ A $ 6,896 21,168 18,895
Basic net income per share
CAsreported ... $ 028 $ 0863 $ 051
Proforma ...... ... ... . ... . . . . . .. $ 017 $ 052 $ 047
Diluted net income per share
Asreported . ..... . ... ... $ 028 $ 0863 $ 051
Proforma ... ... . ... . . . $ o017 $ 052 $ 046

(1) The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Modified Roll-Geske option-pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. risk-free interest rates of 5.2%, 5.1%
and 5.9%; dividend vield of 2.0%, 2.3% and 2.4%; expected lives of 10 years; and volatility of 38.2%, 46.0% and 53.2%.
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NOTE 2 - Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges were incurred and separately identified in the Statements of
Operations for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Restructure of Property and Casualty Claims Operations

in July 2002, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $4,223 pretax, reflecting the
decision to restructure its property and casuaity claims operations. The Company expects tc
realize operating and cost efficiencies and also improve customer service by consolidating claims
office locations throughout the United States of America ("U.S.") into 6 offices compared to the
previous 17, impiementing a new claims administration system, and performing certain claims
reporting and adjusting functions internally versus utilizing externai service providers.

Approximately 135 employees with management, professional and clerical responsibilities
were impacted by the office consolidations. Charges for empioyee termination costs represent
severance, vacation buy-out and related payroli taxes. The impact of accelerated retirements on
the Company's defined benefit pension plan has been included in the restructuring charge.
Termination of lease agreements represented office space for each of the previous claims office
locations.

The following table provides information about the charges taken in July 2002, payment
activity during the six months ended December 31, 2002, and the balance of accrued amounts
at December 31, 2002.

Original Reserve at
Pretax December 31,
Charge Payments 2002
Charges to earnings:
Employee terminationcosts ..... ... ... .. ... ... ... $2,542 $613 $1,929
Additional defined benefit pension plancosts . .......... 1,179 - 1,179
Termination of lease agreements . ... ............... .. 502 _17 425
Total ... ... $4.223 690 $3,533

Massachusetts Automobile Business

In October 2001, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $7,290 pretax reflecting
a change in the Company's strategic direction in the Massachusetts automobile market. On
Cctober 18, 2001, Horace Mann announced that it had formed a marketing ailiance with an
unaffiliated company, The Commerce Group, Inc. ("Commerce"), for the sale of automobile
insurance in the state of Massachusetts. Through this alliance, and by January 1, 2002, Horace
Mann's agents are authorized to offer Massachusetts customers automobile insurance policies
written by Commerce. Horace Mann agents continue to write the Company's other products in
Massachusetts, including retirement annuities and property and life insurance.
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NOTE 2 - Restructuring Charges-{Continued)

Horace Mann ceased writing automobile insurance policies in Massachusetts by December
31, 2001, and on October 18, 2001 paid $6,438 to the Commonwealth Automobile Reinsurers
("C.A.R.") as full payment of its proportionate liability to C.A.R. for policy years 2002 and beyond.
The Company also paid legal and other related consulting costs totaling $506 pretax. The
remaining $346 was attributable primarily to the write-off of software used only to process
Massachusetts automobile business. All of the costs related to this restructuring were paid as of
December 31, 2001, and consequently the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet at December
31, 2001 did not reflect any accrued amounts due to the restructure of its Massachusetts
automobile business.

On a full year basis, the Company's Massachusetts automobile business represented
premiums written and earned of approximately $27,000 in 2001. In 2002, premiums written for
this business were reduced to zero, and premiums earned were reduced significantly, reflecting
run-off of the policies in force at December 31, 2001. For the full year 2001, claims and claim
settlement expenses in Massachusetts for voluntary automobile business were $3,137 and for
involuntary residual market business were $11,455. Claims and claim settlement expenses in
2002 reflected run-off of the business and a decline in exposure to loss, as the Company's
policies written in the prior 12 months expired.

Printing Services, Group Insurance and Credit Union Marketing Operations

in November 2001, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $450 pretax reflecting
the decision to close its on site printing services operations based on a cost benefit analysis.
Employee termination costs, for termination of 13 individuals by December 31, 2001, which
represented severance, vacation buy-out and related payroll {axes, comprised $408 of the total
charge. The eliminated positions encompassed management, technical and clerical
responsibilities. The remaining $41 of charges was attributable primarily to the write-off of
equipment related to this function.

in December 2000, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $2,236 pretax reflecting
two changes in the Company's operations. Specifically, the Company restructured the operations
of its group insurance business, thereby eliminating 39 jobs, and its credit union marketing group,
eliminating 20 additional positions. Employee termination costs, for termination of approximately
50 individuals, represented severance, vacation buy-out and related payroll taxes. The eliminated
positions encompassed management, professional and clerical responsibilities. By December
31, 2001, 39 individuals had been terminated with two additional terminations scheduled to occur
after December 31, 2002. Termination of lease agreements represented office space used by
the credit union marketing group. The remaining charge was attributable primarily to the write-off
of software related to these two areas.
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NOTE 2 - Restructuring Charges-{(Continued)

The following tabie provides information about the components of the charges taken in
December 2001 and 2000, the balance of accrued amounts at December 31, 2001 and 2002, and
payment activity during the year ended December 31, 2002,

Criginal Reserve at Reserve at
Pretax December 31, December 31,
2001 Payments 2002

Charges to earnings:

Printing Services Operations
Employee termination costs $ 395 $ 38
Write-off of equipment - -

Subtotal 3¢6 _358 _ 38

Group Insurance and

Credit Union Marketing Operations
Employee termination costs
Termination of lease agreements . .
Write-off of capitalized software . ..
Other

Subtotal

NOTE 3 - investments

Net Investment Income

The components of net investment income for the following pericds were:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Fixedmaturities . .. ........... .. ... ... ... ... .. .. ..... $192,077 $192,547 $185,745
Shori-term and other investments . ..................... 7,650 10,348 10,220
TJotal investmentincome .. ........... ... . ... .. ..., 199,727 202,893 195,965
Lessinvestmentexpenses ............. ... .. ......... 3,679 3,626 3,569
Net investmentincome ......... ... ... ... .. .. ... ... ‘ 196,048 $199.267 $192,396

Realized Investment Gains (Losses)

Realized investment gains {losses) for the foliowing pericds were:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Fixed maturities . . ..........ooorn $ (48,925) $(14,371) $(12,9086)
Short-term and otherinvestments .............. .. ... ... (482) 4352 :
Realized investmentlosses . ....................... .. $ (49.407) $(10.019) $ (9,908)

in 2002, as a result of reviews of the investment portfolio, the Company recorded pretax
impairment charges of $9,876, $28,111, $12,917 and $2,935 for the three months ended March
31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, respectively.
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NOTE 3 - Investments-{Continued)

Fixed Maturity Securities

The amortized cost, unrealized investment gains and losses, and fair values of investments
in debt securities as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were as follows:

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
As of December 31, 2002
U.S. government and agency obligations
Mortgage-backed securities . .......... ... $ 645,787 $ 28,253 $ - $§ 674,040
Other ... ... ... .. . 129,584 7,918 - 137,503
Municipalbonds ............... ... . ..... 358,636 19,283 455 377,464
Foreign governmentbonds . .. ........... ... 13,131 2,845 - 15,976
Corporatebonds .. ....................... 1,498,481 94,192 23,266 1,569,407
Other mortgage-backed securities .. .... ... .. 213,388 6,569 3,152 216,805
Totals . ... . ... i $2,859.007 $159,061 $26,873 $2,991,195
As of December 31, 2001
U.S. government and agency obligations
Mortgage-backed securities ............ .. $ 621,249 $15,353 $ 860 $ 635,742
Other ... ... . i, 68,334 3,054 83 71,305
Municipalbonds . ............ .. ... ... ... 224172 9,335 1,362 232,145
Foreign governmentbonds. .. .............. 17,411 2,088 47 19,452
Corporatebonds ...................... ... 1,549,631 50,284 39,643 1,560,272
Other mortgage-backed securities . ... ... .. .. 246,034 6,748 1.831 250,951
Totals .......... ... ... $2,726,831 $86,862 $43,826 $2.769,867
As of December 31, 2000
U.S. government and agency obligations
Mortgage-backed securities .............. $ 495,696 $10,564 $ 1655 $ 504,605
Other ... ... ... .. 124,611 2,507 1,060 126,058
Municipalbonds . ........... ... ... ... . ..., 286,384 10,329 1,658 295,055
Foreign governmentbonds. .. .............. 29,310 1,873 563 30,620
Corporatebonds . ........................ 1,280,269 24,682 54,329 1,250,622
Other mortgage-backed securities .. .... ... .. 398,886 4,764 2,872 400,778
Totals .......... . ... . $2615,156 54,719 $62,137 $2,607,738

The Company's investment portfolio includes no derivative financial instruments (futures,
forwards, swaps, option contracts or other financial instruments with similar characteristics).

Maturity/Sales Of Investments

The amortized cost and fair value of fixed maturity securities at December 31, 2002, by
estimated expected maturity, are shown below. Estimated expected maturities differ from
contractual maturities reflecting assumptions regarding borrowers' utilization of the right to call or
prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

Dueintvyearorless .............. ... . ... ...,
Due after 1 year throughSyears .......................
Due after 5 years through 10vyears .. ...................
Due after 10 yearsthrough20years . ................ ...

Due after 20 years

Total..........
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$ 364,495
758,136
936,127
213,046
586,303

$2,859,007

Fair
Value

$ 381,348
793,189
979,409
223,838
613,411

$2,991.185
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NOTE 3 - Investments-{Continued)

Proceeds from sales/maturities of fixed maturities and gross gains and gross losses realized
for each year were:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 20090

Proceeds $1,391,402 $1,015,229 $707,923
Grossgainsrealized ........ ... ... ... oo 40,402 16,945 4,840
Gross losses realized (31,316) (17,846)

Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Fixed Maturities

Net unrealized gains (losses) are computed as the difference between fair value and
amortized cost for fixed maturities. A summary of the net increase (decrease) in unrealized
investment gains (losses) on fixed maturities, less applicabie income taxes, is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Unrealized gains (losses) on fixed maturities

Beginningof period . . ....... ... ... ... ... $ 43,036 $ (7,.418) $(68,123)

Endofperiod .. ... ... ... . . ... 132,188 43,036 (7.418)

Increase forthe period ......... ... ... ... .. ... .. 89,152 50,454 60,705

INCOMEtaXeS . .. . .o e 31,203 17,659 21247
Increase in net unrealized gains (losses)

on fixed maturities before the valuation impact

on deferred policy acquisition costs and value

of acquired insurance inforce .. ...... ... ... ... ..., 57,949 $32,795 $ 39458

Securities Lending

The Company loans fixed income securities to third parties, primarily major brokerage firms.
As of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, fixed maturities with a fair value of 3,937, $98,369
and $204,881, respectively, were on loan. Loans of securities are required at all times to be
secured by collateral from borrowers at least equal to 100% of the market vaiue of the securities
loaned. The Company maintains effective controt over the loaned securities and therefore reports
them as Fixed Maturity Securities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. SFAS No. 125,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities,” as
amended by SFAS No. 140, "Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishment of Liabilities,” requires the securities lending collateral to be classified as
investments with a corresponding liability in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Investment in Entities Exceeding 10% of Shareholders’ Equity

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, there were no investments which exceeded 10% of total
shareholders' equity in entities other than obligations of the U.S. Government and government
agencies and authorities. At December 31, 2000, the Company's investment portfolio included
$53,706 of fixed maturity securities issued by Ford Motor Company and its affiliates representing
12.5% of shareholders' equity at that date, and other than obligations of the U.S. Government and
government agencies and authorities, there were no other investments which exceeded 10% of
total shareholders’ equity.
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NOTE 3 - Investments-(Continued)

Deposits

At December 31, 2002, securities with a carrying value of $16,319 were on deposit with
governmental agencies as required by law in various states in which the insurance subsidiaries

of HMEC conduct business.

NOTE 4 - Property and Casualty Unpaid Claims and Claim Expenses

The foliowing table sets forth an analysis of property and casualty unpaid claims and claim
expenses and provides a reconciliation cf beginning and ending reserves for the periods

indicated.

Gross reserves, beginning of year
Less reinsurance recoverables
Net reserves, beginning of year

Incurred claims and claim expenses:
Claims occurring in the current year
Increase in estimated reserves for

claims occurring in prior years (1).
Policies written by the Company (2)
Business assumed from state

reinsurance facilities
Total increase

Claims and claim expense payments
for claims occurring during:

Currentyear ........ ... ... ... ..

Prior years

Net reserves, end of period
Plus reinsurance recoverables
Gross reserves, end of period (4)

Total claims and claim expenses incurred (2)(3)

Total claims and claim expense payments ..........

2001

$208,896
—49,056
249,840

416,770

14,574

—2.000
16,574
433.344

255,939
165,208
411,147
272,037
34,104
$306,141

Year Ended Decamber 31,

2000

$299,803
64,410
235,393

394,711

20,858

1,800
22,658
417,369

247,286
155,636
402,922
249,840
49,056
§206.806

(1) Shows the amounts by which the Company increased its reserves in each of the pericds indicated for claims occurring in
previous periods to reflect subsequent information on such claims and changes in their projected final settlement costs. Also
refer {o the paragraphs below for additional information regarding the increases in reserves recorded in 2002, 2001 and 2000.

(2) For the year ended December 31, 2002, these amounts included a $1,581 statutory accounting charge for class action
litigation which was separately reported as Litigation Charges in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(3) Benefits, claims and settlement expenses as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations also include life, annuity,
group accident and health and corporate amounts of $40,705, $42,239 and $48,679 for the years ended December 31, 2002,

2001 and 2000, respectively, in addition to the property and casualty amounts.

(4) Unpaid claims and claim expenses as reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets also include life, annuity, and group
accident and health reserves of $9,254, $8,154 and $9,985 at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, in addition

to property and casualty reserves.
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NOTE 4 - Property and Casualty Unpaid Claims and Claim Expenses-{Continued)

Fluctuations from year to year in the level of catastrophe claims impact a property and
casualty insurance company's claims and claim settlement expenses incurred and paid. For
comparison purposes, the followmg table provides amounts for the Company excluding
catastrophe losses.

Year Ended December 31.
2002 2001 2000

Claims and claims expense incurred $411,742 $433,344 $417,369
Amount attributable to catastrophes 11,939 _ 11,215 16,122
Excluding catastrophes $399,803 $422,129 $401,247

Claims and claims expense payments $411,159 $411,147 $402,922
Amount attributable to catastrophes 10,600 14,200 14,200
Excluding catastrophes $400.559 396,847 $388,722

Underwriting results of the property and casuaity segment are significantly infiuenced by
estimates of the Company's ultimate liability for insured events. The process by which these
reserves are established requires reliance upon estimates based on known facts and on
interpretations of circumstances, including the Company's experience with similar cases and
historical trends involving claim payment patterns, claim payments, pending levels of unpaid
claims and product mix, as well as other factors including court decisions, economic conditions
and public attitudes. Adjustments may be required as information develops which varies from
experience, or, in some cases, augments data which previously were not considered sufficient for
use in determining liabilities. The effects of these adjustments may be significant and are charged
or credited to income for the period in which the adjustments are made.

Excluding the $1,581 provision for the costs of resolving class action iawsuits related to
diminished value brought against the Company, net strengthening of reserves for property and
casualty claims occurring in prior years, excluding involuntary business, was $20,714 for the year
ended December 31, 2002, primarily related to (1) automobile loss reserves from accident years
2001 and years prior to 1997 and (2) claim adjustment expense reserves from the 2001 and 2000
accident years for both automobile and homeowners, compared tc reserve strengthening of
$14,574 in 2001. Total reserves for property and casualty claims occurring in prior years,
including involuntary business and the $1,581 provision in 2002 for class action litigation, were
strengthened $23,995 in 2002, compared to $16,574 in 2001.

The Company completes a detailed study of property and casuaity reserves based on
information available at the end of each quarter and year using comparable procedures for each
period. Trends of reported claims {paid amounts and case reserves on claims reported te the
Company) for each accident year are reviewed and ultimate loss costs for those accident years
are estimated. The Company engages an independent property and casuaity actuarial consuiting
firm to prepare an independent study of the Company's property and casualty reserves twice a
year - at June 30 and December 31.
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NOTE 4 - Property and Casualty Unpaid Claims and Claim Expenses-{Continued)

The Company's first material net reserve strengthening in more than 10 years occurred in
the fourth quarter of 2000 and was related to a reduction of ceded reserves and an increase in
reserves for the automobile line of business. The changes in the recorded amounts were based
on analyses, which were impacted by then recent adverse claims emergence. Specifically with
regard to the reduction of ceded reserves, prior to the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company
analyzed ceded reserves related to four states’ mandatory automobile facility business on an
aggregate basis. As a result of unanticipated adverse ceded reserve development throughout the
second and third quarters of 2000, additional analysis was performed which isolated differing
claims emergence patterns in the Massachusetts automobile facility business, which was growing
as a percentage of total facility business, as comparec to the other three states. Based on this
disaggregated analysis, the Company concluded that additional reserves were required. in
addition, during the second and third quarters of 2000 the Company noted increases in paid
severities in excess of the original expectations in its direct voluntary automobile line of business.
The Company continued to monitor such severity trends until such time as the Company believed
that they were sufficiently credible to require adjustment to the Company’s claim and claim
expense reserve projections. As a resuli, the Company revised its projections in the fourth quarter
of 2000 to give greater weight to the increasing trend of claim severities.

in 2001, the Company continued to review its claim reserving methodologies and trend
analyses including more detailed analyses of subrogation recovery activity on business ceded to
the state automobile insurance facility in Massachusetts. The nature of the adverse trends in the
second and fourth quarters of 2001 that caused the Company to increase reserves consisted
primarily of the following: (1) an increase in the freguency and severity of educators excess
professional liability claims; (2) the utilization of selected ultimate subrogation recoverables that
were not trending with actual recoveries; and (3) the utilization of selected ultimate loss ratios in
establishing reserves for ceded voluntary automobile excess liability claims and ceded
Massachusetts involuntary automobile reserves that were not trending with actual results.

The assumptions used by the Company prior to the change in estimate at December 31,
2001 as they relate to items (2) and (3) in the preceding paragraph were based on selected
ultimate loss ratios that were approximately 30 percentage points higher than the actual results
of the second and fourth quarters of 2001. Based upon the subseguent emergence of claims
experience, estimates were revised and assumptions were changed to lower the selected ultimate
loss ratios in the ceded business.

in the third quarter of 2002, the Company increased its reserves for prior accident years
primarily related tc allocated claim expenses for the voluntary automobile and homeowners lines
and claims for the educator excess professional liability product. The Company had noted
increases in paid claims and claim expenses for prior accident years in these lines during the first
and second quarters of 2002 and continued to monitor such adverse trends until such time as the
Company believed that they were sufficiently credible to require adjustment of the reserves. As
a result, the Company revised its loss projections in the third quarter of 2002, incorporating the
higher paid claims and claim expense trends.
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NOTE 4 - Property and Casuaity Unpaid Claims and Claim Expenses-{Continued}

in the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company increased its reserves for prior accident years
related primarily to (1) automobile claim reserves from accident years 2001, 2000 and years prior
to 1997 and (2) allocated and unallocated claim expense reserves from the 2001 accident year
for both automobile and homeowners. During the third and fourth quarters of 2002, the Company
continued to closely monitor emerging trends in (1) the severity of payments on previously
reported iosses for voluntary automobile and (2) paid claims adjustment expenses for these prior
accident years until such time as the Company believed that the trends were sufficiently credible
to require adjustment of the reserves. As a result, the Company revised its projections in the
fourth quarter of 2002, incorporating the higher paid claims and claims expense trends.

At the time each of the reserve analyses were performed, the Company believed that each
estimate was based upon sound and correct methodology and such methodology was
appropriately applied and that there were no trends which indicated the likelihood of future
strengthenings.

As a result of the above activities in 2000, 2001, and 2002, the resulting net reserve
strengthening was considered to be a change in estimate, which resulted from new information
and subsequent developments from prior reporting periods and therefore, from better insight and
judgment. The net reserve strengthening did not result from a mathematicai mistake, a mistake
in the application of accounting principles, or from oversight or misuse of facts that existed at the
time the financial statements were prepared. The financial impact of the net reserve
strengthening was therefore accounted for in the period that the change was determined, rather
than adjusting prior period financial statements.

No other unusual adjustments were made in the determination of the liabilities during the

periods covered by these financial statements. Management believes that, based on data
currently available, it has reasonably estimated the Company's ultimate iosses.

NOTE 5 - Debt

indebtedness and scheduled maturities at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 consisted
of the following:

Effective
interest Final December 31,
Ratgs Maturity 2002 2001 2000

Short-term debt: :
Bank Credit Facility . .......... e L Variable 2005 $ - $ 53,000 § 49,000
Long-term debt:
1.425% Senior Convertible Notes, Face amount
less unaccrued discount of $128,362 .. ... .. 3.0% 2032 116,138
6 5/8% Senior Notes, Face amount
less unaccrued discount of $53, $233

and $279, respectively . ................. 6.7% 2008 28,547 99,767 99,721
Total ... ... 144685  $152,767  $148721
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NOTE 5 - Debt-(Continued)

Credit Agreement with Financial Institutions ("Bank Credit Facility")

On May 29, 2002, the Company entered into a new Bank Credit Agreement which provides
for unsecured borrowings of up to $25,000, with a provision that allows the commitment amount
to be increased to $35,000 (the "Current Bank Credit Facility"). The Current Bank Credit Facility
expires on May 31, 2005. interest accrues at varying spreads relative to corporate or eurodollar
base rates and is payable monthly or quarierly depending on the applicable base rate. No
amounts had been borrowed under the Current Bank Credit Facility and no balance was
outstanding at December 31, 2002. The unused portion of the Current Bank Credit Facility is
subject to a variable commitment fee, which was 0.20% on an annual basis at December 31,
2002. An amendment to the previous Bank Credit Agreement was made prior to December 31,
2001, which extended the maturity from December 31, 2001 to June 30, 2002. The previous
Bank Credit Agreement was terminated when the Company entered into the Current Bank Credit
Facility. The $53,000 balance outstanding under the previous Bank Credit Agreement was repaid
in full on May 14, 2002 utilizing a portion of the proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible
Notes as described below.

1.425% Senior Convertible Notes ("Convertible Notes")

On May 14, 2002, the Company issued $353,500 aggregate principal amount of 1.425%
senior convertible notes due in 2032 at a discount of 52.5% resulting in an effective yield of 3.0%.
The Convertible Notes were privately offered only to qualified institutional buyers under Rule 144A
under the Securities Act of 1933 and outside the U.S. to non-U.S. persons under Regulation S
under the Securities Act of 1933. A Securities and Exchange Commission registration statement
registering the Convertible Notes was declared effective on November 4, 2002. At a meeting held
on September 10 and 11, 2002, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the Company to
repurchase, from time to time, for cash or other consideration, its Convertible Notes. As of
December 31, 2002, the net proceeds from the sale of the Convertible Notes have been used to
(1) repay the balance outstanding under the previous Bank Credit Agreement, {2) repurchase a
portion of the outstanding Senior Notes, as described below, and (3) repurchase $53,000
aggregate principal amount, $25,175 carrying value, of the outstanding Convertible Notes at an
aggregate cost of $22,770. The remaining proceeds were used for general corporate purposes.
In addition to these cash transactions, in December 2002 the Company repurchased an additional
$56,000 aggregate principal amount, $26,600 carrying value, of the outstanding Convertible Notes
at an aggregate cost of $25,984 in a non-cash transaction. As consideration for this repurchase,
1,837,925 shares of HMEC's common stock were issued.

Interest on the Convertible Notes is payable semi-annually at a rate of 1.425% beginning
November 14, 2002 until May 14, 2007. After that date, cash interest will not be paid on the
Convertible Notes prior to maturity uniess contingent cash interest becomes payable. From May
15, 2007 through maturity of the Convertible Notes, interest will be recognized at the effective rate
of 3.0% and will represent the accrual of discount, excluding any contingent cash interest that may
become payable. Contingent cash interest becomes payable if the average market price of a
Convertible Note for a five trading day measurement period preceding the applicable six-month
period equals 120% or more of the sum of the Convertible Note's issue price, accrued original
issue discount and accrued cash interest, if any, for such Convertible Note. The contingent cash
interest payabie per Convertible Note with respect to any quarterly period within any six-month
- period will equal the then applicable conversion rate multiplied by the greater of (i) $0.105 or (ii)
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NOTE 5 - Debt-(Continued)

any regular cash dividends paid by the Company per share on HMEC's common stock during that
quarteriy period.

The Convertible Notes will be convertible at the option of the holders, if the conditions for
conversion are satisfied, into shares of HMEC's common stock at a conversion price of $26.74.
Holders may also surrender Convertible Notes for conversion during any period in which the credit
rating assigned to the Convertible Notes is Ba2 or iower by Moody's or BB+ or lower by S&P, the
Convertible Notes are no longer rated by either Mocdy's or S&P, or the credit rating assigned to

the Convertible Notes has been suspended cr withdrawn by either Moody's or S&P. The
Convertible Notes will cease to be convertible pursuant to this credit rating criteria during any
pericd or periods in which all of the credit ratings are increased above such ievels. The
Convertible Notes are redeemable by HMEC in whole or in part, at any time on or after May 14,
2007, at redemption prices equal to the sum of the issue price plus accrued original issue discount
and accrued cash interest, if any, on the applicable redemption date. The holders of the
Convertible Notes may require HMEC to purchase all or a portion of their Convertible Notes on
either May 14, 2007, 2012, 2017, 2022, or 2027 at stated prices plus accrued cash interest, if any,
tc the purchase date. HMEC may pay the purchase price in cash or shares of HMEC common
stock or in a combination of cash and shares of HMEC common stock.

6 5/8% Senior Notes ("Senior Notes®)

On January 17, 1996, the Company issued $100,000 face amount of Senicr Notes at an
effective yield of 6.7%, which will mature on January 15, 2006. The net proceeds from the sale
of the Senior Notes were used to finance the redemption of the Company's 4% / 6 1/2%
Convertibie Notes. interest on the Senior Notes is payabie semi-annually at a rate of 6 5/8%.
The Senior Notes are redeemable in whole or in part, at any time, at the Company's option, at a
redemption price equal to the greater of (i) 100% of their principal amount and (ii) the sum of the
present values of the remaining scheduled payments cf principal and interest therecn discounted,
on a semi-annual basis, at the Treasury vield {(as defined in the indenture) plus 15 basis points,
together with accrued interest to the date of redempticn.

In 2002, the Company repurchased $71,400 aggregate principal amount of its cutstanding
Senior Notes utilizing a portion of the proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Notes, as
described above. The aggregate cost of the repurchases was $74,650.

Debt Retiremént Charges

The repurchases of the Convertible Notes and Senior Notes resulied in a pretax charge to
income for the year ended December 31, 2002 of $2,272.

Covenants
The Company is in compliance with all of the covenants contained in the Convertible Notes
indenture, the Senior Notes indenture and the Bank Credit Facility Agreement, consisting primarily

of relationships of (1) debt to capital and (2) insurance subsidiaries’ earnings to future interest
charges.
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NOTE 6 - Shareholders' Equity and Stock Options

Share Repurchase Program and Treasury Shares Held

The Company has not repurchased shares of its common stock under its stock repurchase
program since the third quarter of 2000, consistent with management's stated intention to utilize
excess capital to support the Company's strategic growth initiatives. The repurchase of shares
has been financed through use of cash and, when necessary, the Bank Credit Facility. However,
the Company has not utilized its Bank Credit Facility for share repurchases since the second
quarter of 1999. As of December 31, 2002, $96,343 remained authorized for future share
repurchases.

At December 31, 2001, the Company held 19,341,296 shares in treasury. In December
2002, the Company issued 1,837,925 of the treasury shares as consideration for the repurchase
of a portion of its cutstanding Convertible Notes. At December 31, 2002, the Company held
17,503,371 shares in treasury.

Authorization of Preferred Stock

In 1996, the shareholders of HMEC approved authorization of 1,000,000 shares of $0.001
par value preferred stock. The Board of Directors is authorized to (i) direct the issuance of the
preferred stock in one or more series, (ii) fix the dividend rate, conversion or exchange rights,
redemption price and liquidation preference, of any series of the preferred stock, (iii) fix the
number of shares for any series and (iv) increase or decrease the number of shares of any series.
No shares of preferred stock were outstanding at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

The Company's catastrophe reinsurance program is augmented by a $75,000 equity put
and reinsurance agreement. The equity put provides an option to sell shares of the Company's
convertible preferred stock with a floating rate dividend at a pre-negotiated price in the event
losses from catastrophes exceed the catastrophe reinsurance program coverage limit. Before tax
benefits, the equity put provides a source of capital for up to $115,000 of catastrophe losses
above the reinsurance coverage limit. The agreement contains certain conditions to Horace
Mann's exercise of the equity put option as disclosed in Note 11 - Reinsurance. Fees related to
this equity put option totaled $1,088 for the year ended December 31, 2002 and were charged
directly to additional paid-in capital.

In connection with the equity put described in the preceding paragraph, the Board of
Directors has designated a series of preferred stock to be available for use in the put. The Series
so designated is Series A Cumulative Convertibie Preferred Stock (the "Series A Stock™") and
100,000 shares have been assigned to this series. None are currently issued or outstanding. The
Series A Stock is dividend paying, at a floating rate which varies with movements in the London
interbank Offered Rate and with changes in the risk rating of the Series A Stock as determined
by Standard & Poor's Corporation. The Series A Stock does not require any sinking fund or
similar mechanism regarding payment of such dividends. Beginning on the fourth anniversary of
the issuance of Series A Stock, the holders thereof have the right to demand conversion of the
Series A Stock into common stock of the Company at a conversion rate based on then prevailing
market prices for the common stock; however, upon receipt of a conversion demand, the
Company has the right to redeem the Series A Stock pricr to such conversion. The Series A
Stock has liquidation rights which place the Series A Stock ahead of the common stock in priority.
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NOTE 6 - Shareholiders’ Equity and Stock Options-(Continued)

The Series A Stock has no voting rights other than the requirement that the Series A Stock
approve any changes in the Series A Stock, the creation of any other class of stock on a par with
or superior to the Series A Stock and certain extraordinary transactions such as certain mergers
involving the Company. '

Director Stock Plan

In 1296, the shareholders of HMEC approved the Deferred Equity Compensation Plan
("Director Stock Plan") for directors of the Company and reserved 600,000 shares for issuance
pursuant to the Director Stock Plan. Shares of the Company's common stock issued under the
Director Stock Plan may be either authorized and unissued shares or shares that have been
reacquired by the Company. As of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, 139,867, 121,322 and
113,944 units, respectively, were outstanding under this plan representing an equal number of
common shares to be issued in the future.

Employee Stock Plan

In 1297, the Board of Directors of HMEC approved the Deferred Compensation Pian for
Employees ("Employee Stock Plan”). Shares of the Company’s common stock issued under the
Employee Stock Plan may be either authorized and unissued shares or shares that have been
reacquired by the Company. As of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, 30,585, 14,303 and
8,507 units, respectively, were outstanding under this plan representing an equal number of
common shares to be issued in the future.

Stock Options

In 1991, the shareholders approved the 1991 Stock incentive Plan (the "1991 Plan"} and
reserved 4,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance under the 1991 Plan. In 2000, the
sharehoiders approved an increase of 2,000,0C0 in the number of shares of common stock
reserved for issuance under the 1991 Plan. In 2001, the shareholders approved the 2001 Stock
incentive Plan {the "2001 Plan") and reserved the shares of common stock remaining from the
1991 Plan for issuance under the 2001 Plan. in 2002, the shareholders approved the 2002
incentive Compensation Pian (the "2002 Plan") and reserved 3,000,000 shares of common stock
for issuance under the 2002 Plan in additicn to reserving the shares of common stock remaining
from the 1991 Plan and the 2001 Plan. Under the 1991 Plan, the 2001 Plan and the 2002 Plan,
options to purchase shares of HMEC common stock may be granted to executive officers, other
employees and directors. The options are exercisable in installments generally begmnmg in the
first year from the date of grant and expnrmg 10 years from the date of grant.
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NOTE 6 - Shareholders' Equity and Stock Options-{Continued)

Changes in outstanding options and shares available for grant under the 1991 Plan, the
2001 Plan and the 2002 Plan were as follows:

Woeighted Average Range of Options
Option Price  Option Prices Vested and Available
per Share per Share Qutstanding Exercisable for Grant
At December 31,4999 ....... $17.52 $ 9.00-$34.53 1,852,075 1,269,868 749,062
Increase in options
available forgrant ... ... . - - 2,000,000
Granted ................. $17.24 $13.84-$18.08 * , 1,469,300 42,350 (1,469,300)
Vested .................. $22.42-$33.87 - 176,234 -
Exercised . ............... $ 9.06 $ 9.00-$15.15_ (657,000) (557,000) -
Canceled ................ $28.59 $22.42-$34 .53 (27.650) (27,650) 27.650
At December 31,2000 ... . ... $18.98 $ 9.00-§33.87 2,736,725 903.802 1,307.412
Granted ................. $18.22 $16.83-$21.77 1,020,050 271,775 (1,020,050)
Vested .................. $19.72 $13.84-$33.87 - 519,860 -
Exercised ................ $10.18 $§ 9.00-$17.56 (207,575) {207,575) -
Canceled ................ $20.52 $15.32-$33.87 (136,950) {136,950) 136,950
At December 31,2001 ....... $19.23 $11.12-§33.87 3,412,250 1,360,812 424 312
Increase in options
available forgrant ... .... - - 3,000,000
Granted ................. $20.72 $15.92-521.64 1,375,850 116,944 (1,375,950)
Vested .................. $18.20 $13.84-$33.87 - 724,488 -
Exercised ................ $16.57 $11.13-82242 (107,410) (107,410) -
Canceled ................ $22.01 $15.15-$33.87 (131,370) (131.370) 131,370
At December 31,2002 .. .. ... $19.66 $11.12-$33.87 4,549.420 1,963,564 2,179,732

The weighted average grant date fair values were $8.99, $8.55 and $8.35 for options
granted in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The weighted average prices of vested and
exercisable options as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 were $19.23 and $20.19, respectively.
For options outstanding at December 31, 2002, information segregated by ranges of exercise

prices was as follows:

Weighted Average Range of

Option Price
per Share

Option Prices

per Share

At December 31, 2002

$15.51
$19.28
$32.58
$10.66

$11.12-$16.38
$16.83-$23.31
$25.63-833.87
$11.12-$33.87
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Total

Vasted and Exercisable Options

Options Option Price
Qutstanding Options per share
283,475 208,100 $15.2¢9
4,053,645 1,533,414 $19.18
212.300 212,050 $32.58
4549420 1,953,564 $20.22

Weighted Average Weighted

Average
Life

3.2 years
7.6 years
5.3 years
6.9 years




NOTE 7 - Income Taxes

The federal income tax liabilities and recoverables inciuded in Other Liabilities and Other
Assets, respectively, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000 were as foliows:

December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Current (liability) asset $14,698 $(12,469) $(10,012)
Deferred liability (asset) 21,788 (203)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for all future tax consequences attributable
to "temporary differences” between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases. The "temporary differences” that give rise to the
deferred tax balances at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were as follows:

December 31,
2002 2004 2000
Deferred tax assets
Unrealized losseson securities . . ... .................. $ - $ - $ 2,949
Discounting of unpaid claims and
claims expensetaxreserves ....................... 7,103 7,221 6,906
Life insurance future policy benefit reserve revaluation . . .. 26,599 13,650 16,458
Unearned premium reserve reduction ................. 12,664 12,392 11,634
Postretirement benefits other than pension ... ... ... ... . 10,890 10,316 10,367
Unutilized net operating loss camyfforward . ............. 1,080 - -
Unutilized capital loss carryforward . ... ............. ... 4,638 - -
Impaired securities ... ... ... ... ... 17,512 3,268 1,576
Other,net ... ... . . 11,542 4919 4524
Total gross deferred taxassets .. ................. 92,008 51,768 54,414
Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealized gainson securities ....................... 43,382 14,181 -
Intangibleassets ........... ... ... ... ... ... ... .. 11,181 13,438 15,070
Deferred policy acquisitioncosts .............. ... ... 52,208 45,935 39,141
Total gross deferred tax liabilities . . . ............... 106,769 73,554 54,211
Net deferred tax liability (asset) ................. $ 14,761 $21,788 $ (203)

Based on the Company's historical earnings, future expectations of adjusted taxable
income, as well as reversing gross deferred tax liabilities, the Company believes it is more likely
than not that gross deferred tax assets will be fully realized and that a valuation allowance with
respect to the realization of the total gross deferred tax assets is not necessary.

At December 31, 2002, the Company had avaiiable $1,060 of net tax operating loss
carryforwards for federal income tax purposes. These carryforwards will expire beginning in 2016
thru 2017. In addition, the Company had available $4,638 of capital loss carryforwards which will
expire beginning in 2006 thru 2007.

The compoenents of federal income tax expense (benefit) were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 . 2000
Current ... ... . e $ 29,423 $ (8,538) $ (5,104)
Deferred . ... ... ... . . . .. (33,091) 11,291 (6,016)
Total taxexpense (benefit) ........ ... .. ... ... .. ... $ (3,668) $ 2755 $(11,120)
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NOTE 7 - income Taxes-(Continued)

Income tax expense for the following periods differed from the expected tax computed by
applying the federal corporate tax rate of 35% to income before income taxes as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Expected federaltaxonincome . ....................... $2,.683 $ 9,920 $ 3402
Add (deduct) tax effects of:

Tax-exemptinterest .. ... ... ... ... ... ... (3,928) (3,826) (4,125)

Taxreserverelease . ................ ... ... ... . ..., ‘ - (3,034) -

1994 and 1995 IRS audit - interest, netoftax ........... - - (2,146)

Goodwill ... .. .. - 566 566

Dividend received deduction . . ....................... (2,608) (804) (258)

Other,net ... ... ... ... ... . ... 185 1,302 123
Income tax expense (benefit) provided on income before

adjustment to the provision for prior years'taxes . ........ (3,668) 4,024 (2,438)
Adjustment to the provision for prior years'taxes . ... ....... - (1,269) (8,682)
Income tax expense (benefit) provided on income ......... $(3,668) 2,755 $(11,120)

As previously reported, the Company had been contesting proposed additional federal
income taxes relating to a settlement agreement with the internal Revenue Service ("IRS") for
prior years' taxes. In the third quarter of 1998, the Company recorded an additional federal
income tax provision of $20,000 representing the maximum exposure of the Company to the IRS
with regard to the issue for all of the past tax years in guestion (1994 through 1997). In 2000, the
Company reached a final resolution with the RS for the tax years 1994, 1995 and 1996 in an
amount that was $8,682 less than was previously accrued. That amount was included in net
income for the year ended December 31, 2000. In 2001, the Company's liability for the 1997 tax
year was resolved, resulting in a release of $1,269 that had previously'been accrued for that tax
year. That amount was included in net income for the year ended December 31, 2001.

NOTE 8 - Fair Value of Financial instruments

The Company is required under GAAP to disclose estimated fair values for certain financial
instruments. Fair values of the Company's insurance contracts other than annuity contracts are
not required to be disclosed. However, the fair vaiues of liabilities under all insurance contracts
are taken into consideration in the Company's overall management of interest rate risk through
the matching of investment maturities with amounts due under insurance contracts. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments.

Investments - For fixed maturities and short-term and other investments, fair value equals
quoted market price, if available. if a quoted market price is not available, fair value is estimated
using quoted market prices for similar securities, adijusted for differences between the quoted
securities and the securities being valued. The fair value of policy loans is based on estimates
using discounted cash flow analysis and current interest rates being offered for new loans. The
fair value of mortgage loans is estimated by discounting the future cash flows using the current
rates at which similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and the same
remaining maturities. The carrying value of real estate is an estimate of fair value based on
discounted cash flows from operations.
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NOTE 8 - Falr Value of Financial Instruments-{Continued)

Annuity Contract Liabilities and Policyholder Account Balances on Interest-sensitive Life
Contracts - The fair values of annuity contract liabilities and policyholder account balances on
interest-sensitive life contracts are equal to the discounted estimated future cash flows (using the
Company's current interest rates for similar products including consideration of minimum
guaranteed interest rates) including an adjustment for risk that the timing or amount of cash flows
will vary from management's estimate. '

Other Policyholder Funds - Other policyholder funds are suppiementary contract reserves
and dividend accumulations which represent deposits that do not have defined maturities. The
carrying value of these funds is used as a reasonable estimate of fair value.

Long-term Debt - The fair vaiue of long-term debt is estimated based on quoted market
prices of publicly traded issues.

The carrying amounts and fair vaiues of financial instruments at December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000 consisted of the following:

Decembar 31.
2002 2001 2000
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Camrying Fair
Amount Valus Amount Valug Amount Vaiue

Financial Assets

Investments
Fixed maturities . ................ $2,991,195 $2,991,195 $2,769,867 $2,769,867 $2,607,738 $2,607,738
Short-term and other investments . . . 135,431 138,734 107,445 109,208 99,728 102,520
Short-term investments,
loaned securities collateral . . . .. .. 3.937 3,937 98,369 98,369 204 881 204,881
Total investments .. ....... ... 3,130,563 3,133,866 2,975,681 2,977444 2,912,347 2,915,139
Cash ... ... ... ... . .. . .. 60,162 60,162 33,939 33,939 21,141 21,141

Financial Liabilities
Policyholder account balances on

interest-sensitive life contracts . . . . .. 93,435 91,359 94,594 92,527 94,775 92,684
Annuity contract liabilities ... ...... .. 1,385,737 1,236,478 1,278,137 1,074,525 1,217,756 1,017,044
Other policyholder funds .......... .. 125,108 125,108 123,434 123,434 122,233 122,233
Short-termdebt ... ... ... ... ... .. - - 53,000 53,000 49,000 49,000
Long-termdebt ................. .. 144,685 137,692 99,767 101,840 99,721 92,674

Fair value estimates shown above are dependent upon subjective assumptions and involve
significant uncertainties resuiting in variability in estimates with changes in assumptions. Fair
value assumptions are based upon subjective estimates of market conditions and perceived risks
of financial instruments at a certain point in time. The disclosed fair values do not reflect any
premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at one time an entire holding of a
particular financial instrument. In addition, potential {axes and other expenses that would be
incurred in an actual sale or settlement are not refiected in amounts disclosed.
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NOTE 9 - Statutory Surpius and Subsidiary Dividend Restrictions

The insurance departments of various states in which the insurance subsidiaries of HMEC
are domiciled recognize as net income and surplus those amounts determined in conformity with
statutory accounting principles prescribed or permitted by the insurance departments, which differ
in certain respects from GAAP.

Reconciliations of statutory capital and surplus and net income, as determined using
statutory accounting principles, to the amounts included in the accompanying financial statements
are as follows:

December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Statutory capital and surplus of insurance subsidiaries .. . . .. $427,737 $ 403,015 $ 389,249
Increase (decrease) due to:
Deferred policy acquisitioncosts ..................... 174,655 157,776 141,604
Difference in policyholderreserves . . .................. (39,784) 4,276 (2,448)
Goodwill . ... .. 47,396 47,396 49,014
Value of acquired insurance inforce .................. 31,945 38,393 43,246
Liability for postretirement benefits, other than pensions . . . (30,253) (29,602) (28,488)
Investment fair value
adjustments on fixed maturities . .. ......... .. ... .. .. 132,188 43,036 (7,418)
Difference in investmentreserves .. ................... 19,448 22,520 21,403
Federal income tax liability ... ...................... . (38,962) (38,341) (6,866)
Minimum pension liability adjustment ........... ... ..., (26,563) (17,597) (1.441)
Non-admitted assets and other,net .. .......... ... .... 5,216 12,892 12,505
Shareholders' equity of parent company and
non-insurance subsidiaries . ......... ......... ... .. (29,396) (31,807) (33,646)
Parent company short-term and long-termdebt . ... .. .. (144.685) (1562,767) (148.721)
Shareholders' equity as reported herein ... ........... $ 528,842 $ 459,190 $ 427,993
Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Statutory net income of insurance subsidiaries ............ $ (28,741) $ 15,148 $ 23,881
Net loss of non-insurance companies ................... (3.831) (3.313) (17,853)
inlerestexpense ©........... .. .. ... ... . (8,517) (9,250) (10,204)
Tax benefit of interest expense and other
parent company current tax adjustments ... ..... ... ... 5731 10,954 15,538
Combined netincome . ...... ... ... ... .. ... .. ... ... .. (35,358) 13,537 11,363
Increase (decrease) due to:
Deferred policy acquisitioncosts ................... .. 21,821 19,565 12,781
Policyholderbenefits .. ............ ... ... .......... (42,708) 9,513 7,891
Federal income taxexpense .. ......... ... ... ....... 32,859 (13,850) (6,324)
Provision for prior years'taxes ....................... - 1,269 8,682
Amortization of intangble assets ..................... (5.734) (6,774) (8,769)
Investmentreserves ...... ... .. .. 9,009 5,425 (2,087)
Other adjustments, net .. ... .. ... .. ... ... ... .. ... 31,444 (4,098) (2.718)
Netincome asreported herein .................. ... $ 11.333 $ 25887 $ 20841

The Company has principal insurance subsidiaries domiciled in illinois, California and
Texas. The statutory financial statements of these subsidiaries are prepared in accordance with
accounting principles prescribed or permitted by the lllinois Department of Insurance, the
California Department of insurance and the Texas Department of Insurance, as applicable.
Prescribed statutory accounting principles include a variety of publications of the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners ("NAIC"), as well as state laws, regulations and general
administrative rules.
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NOTE @ - Statutory Surplus and Subsidiary Dividend Restrictions-{Continued)

The NAIC has codified statutory accounting principles, which constitute the only source of
prescribed statutory accounting principles and were effective January 4, 2001. Codification
changed prescribed statutory accounting principles and resulted in changes to the accounting
principies that insurance enterprises use to prepare their statutory financial statements. The
states of domicile of the Company's principal operating subsidiaries, lllinois, California and Texas,
have adopted the NAIC's codification. As a resuit of adopting the NAIC codification, the
Company's statutory surplus of its insurance subsidiaries increased approximately $23,000,
primarily due to the allowance of deferred tax recoverables under codification.

The insurance subsidiaries are subject to various regulatory restrictions which limit the
amount of annual dividends or other distributions, including loans or cash advances, available to
HMEC without prior approval of the insurance regulatory authorities. The aggregate amount of
dividends that may be paid by the insurance subsidiaries to HMEC during 2003 without prior
approvai is approximately $43,000.

The NAIC has adopted risk-based capital guidelines that establish minimum levels of
statutory capital and surplus based on risk assumed in investments, reserving policies, and
volume and types of insurance business written. State insurance regulations prohibit insurance
companies from making any public statements or representations with regard te their risk-based
capital levels. Based on current guidelines, the risk-based capitai statutory requirements will have
no negative regulatory impact on the Company's insurance subsidiaries.

On December 31, 2002, the Company's primary life insurance subsidiary, Horace Mann Life
Insurance Company ("HMLIC"), entered into a reinsurance agreement with Sun Life Reinsurance
Company Limited ("SLRCL"), a member of the Sun Life Financial Group. Under the terms of the
agreement, which is expected to be in place for a five year period, HMLIC ceded {o SLRCL, on
a combination coinsurance and modified coinsurance basis, a 57.7% quota share of HMLIC's in
force interest-sensitive life block of business issued prior to January 1, 2002. SLRCL assumes
its proportional share of all risks attendant to the business reinsured such as mortality, persistency
and investment risk, reducing HMLIC's liabilities under statutory accounting principles to the extent
of the ceded commission. The initial ceded commission paid by SLRCL to HMLIC was $50,000
and resulted in a $32,500 after-tax increase in HMLIC's statutory surpius. This transaction
improved the statutory operating leverage and risk-based capital ratio of HMLIC, partially
mitigating the impact of realized investment losses recorded in 2002.

NQOTE 10 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits

All employees of the Company are covered by a defined contribution plan and participate
in 2 401(k) plan. Empioyees hired on or before December 31, 1988 are also covered under a
defined benefit plan. Certain employees participate in a supplemental defined benefit plan or a
supplemental defined contribution plan or both.

Under the defined contribution plan, the Company makes a contribution to each participant's

account based on compensation and years of service. Participants are 100% vested in this plan
after 5 years of service.
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NOTE 10 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits-(Continued)

All employees of the Company participate in a 401(k) plan. Beginning January 1, 2002, the
Company automatically contributes 3% of eligible compensation in each employee's account,
which is 100% vested at the time of the contribution. Each participant may contribute up to 20%
of eligible compensation into their account. Prior to December 31, 2001, the Company
contributed an amount equal to 50% of the first 6% of eligible compensation contributed by the
employee, and the Company contribution vested over 5 years at a rate of 20% per year of service.

- Amounts earned under the defined benefit and supplemental defined benefit plans are
based on years of service and the highest average 36 consecutive months earnings under the
plan through March 31, 2002. Effective April 1, 2002, participants stopped accruing benefits
under the defined benefit and supplemental defined benefit plans but continue to retain the
benefits they had accrued to date. Participants are 100% vested in these plans after 5 years of
service.

The Company's policy with respect to funding the defined benefit plan is to contribute
amounts which are actuarially determined to provide the plan with sufficient assets to meet future
benefit payments consistent with the funding requirements of federal laws and regulations. For
the defined contribution, 401(k) and defined benefit plans, investments have been set aside in a
trust fund; whereas the supplemental retirement plans are non-qualified, unfunded plans.

Total expense recorded for the defined contribution, 401(k), defined benefit and

supplemental plans was $19,259, $10,678 and $11,783 for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively.

Defined Contribution Plan and 401(k) Plan

Pension benefits under the defined contribution plan were fully funded and investments
were set aside in a trust fund. None of the trust fund assets for the defined contribution plan have
been invested in shares of the Company's common stock. The 401(k) plan was fully funded and
investments were set aside through an annuity contract underwritten by the Company's principal
life insurance subsidiary. The annuity contract includes a fixed return account option and several
variable return account options, with the account options selected by the individual plan
participants. One of the variable return account options invests in shares of HMEC common
stock. Contributions to employees’ accounts under the defined contribution plan and the 401(k)
plan, which were expensed in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations, and total
assets of the plans were as follows:

Year Ended December 31.

2002 2001 2000
Defined contribution plan: :
Contributions to employees accounts . ....... ... ... .. $ 6,280 $ 6,012 $ 5626
Total assets attheend of theyear .................. .. 105,454 97,967 92,609
401(k) plan:
Contributions to employees accounts ....... ... ... ... 3,543 2,372 2,235
Total assets attheend of theyear .................... 81,808 92,189 96,599
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NOTE 10 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits-(Continued)

Defined Benefit Plan and Supplemental Retirement Plans

The following two tables summarize both the funding status of the defined benefit and
supplemental retirement pension plans and identifies the assumptions used to determine the
projected benefit obligation and the components of net pension cost for the defined benefit pian
and supplemental retirement plans for the following periods:

Supplemental
Defined Benefit Plan Retirement Pians
December 31, December 31,
2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $50,927 $50830 $47,282 $13,607 $12,181 § 8775
Service cost 696 1,789 1,625 671 610 719

3,453 3,518 3,525 907 840 855

- 980 - - (383) -

Actuarial loss 7,056 5,500 4,689 1,839 1,355 2,884
Benefits paid (1.484)  (6,010) (6,291) (1,010 (997)  (1,042)
Curiailment gain (5,680) - - (9) -
Settlements (10.246) - - - - -
$50,830 §$ 16014 §$ 13607 $ 12,191

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ...  $ 34,569 $43401 $52,966 $ - 8 - 8 -

Actualreturnonplanassets ................ (2,644) (2,822) (3,274) - - -

Employer contributions . .......... ... ... ... 7.810 - - 1,010 997 1,042

Benefitspaid ........................ ..., (1,484) (6,010) (6,291) (1,010) (997) (1,042)

Sefflements .. ............. . ... ... ... .. {10.246) - - - - -

Fair value of plan assets atend of year ... .. .. $28105 §$34569 $43401 § - $ -8 -
Funded stalus . ... ..o oo $(22,297) $(16,358) $(7,429)$(16,014) $(13,607) $(12,191)
Unrecognized net actuarialloss .. ............. 22,393 14,967 8,304 4,136 2,603 1,431
Unrecognized prior service (asset)cost ...... ... - - (3,204) - - 1,954
Accrued benefit cost included :

in the Consolidated Balance Sheets . . ..... ... 9%  (1,391) (2,329) (11,878) (11,004)  (8,808)
Additional liability to recognize unfunded

accumulated benefit obligation . ........ ... .. (22,393) _(14.967) - _{4170) _(2,630) _ (3,358)
Totalbensfitcost ................... ... .. ... $(22,297) $(16,358) $(2,329)%5(16,048) $(13.634) $(12,164)

Amounts recognized in the Statements of
Financial Position consist of:

Accrued benefitcost .................... $ 96 $ (1,391) $(2,329)%$(11,878) $(11,004) $ (8,808)

Minimum liability . . .......... .. ... . ... (22,393) (14,9867) - (4170) (2,630) (3,358)

Intangibleasset ........................ - - - - - 1,917

Accumulated other comprehensive income . . 22,383 __14.967 - 4170 __ 2830 1441

Net amount recognized ................ $ 96 § (1.391) $(2,.329)$(11,878) $(11.004) § (8.806)
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NOTE 10 - Pensicon Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits-(Continued)

The increase in the Company's 2002 minimum pension liability for the defined benefit plan
of $7,426 was attributable to the following factors: (i) a decline in asset performance, (ii) an
increase in the assumed frequency of lump sum elections, (i} an increase in retirement rates and
(iv) a change in the discount rate from 7.00% to 6.75%. The increase in the Company's 2001
minimum pension liability for the defined benefit plan of $14,967 was attributable to the foliowing
factors: (i), (ii) and (iii) as noted in the previous sentence and (iv) a change in the discount rate
from 7.25% to 7.00%. These increases were recorded as charges to a separate component of
shareholders’ equity.

Supplemental
Defined Bensfit Plan Retirement Plans

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2002 20014 2000 2002 2001 2000

Components of net periodic pension

(income) expense:
Servicecost ............... . $ 696 $1,782 $1625 $ 671 $ 610 § 719
Interestcost . ........ ... ... ... 3,453 3,618 3,625 907 840 8565
Expected returnon plan assets . ........ .. (2,798) (4,021) (4,283) - -
Amortization of prior service cost ........ .. - (610) (610) - 314 314
Recognized net actuarialioss ............. 980 - 307 174 1,946
Curtailment (gain)loss . .................. - (1,614) - - 1,258 -
Settlementioss ................ . ....... 4,093 - - - - -
Net periodic pension (income)expense . ... ... ., $6424 § (938) 257 $1.885 $3.196  $3.834
Weighted-average assumptions
as of December 31:
Discountrate ............... ........... 6.75% 7.00% 7.25% 6.75% 7.00% 7.25%
Expected returnon planassets ........... 7.50% 8.75% 8.75% * * *
Rate of salaryincrease .................. * 4.00% 4.00% * 4.00% 4.00%

* Not applicable.

in 2001, HMEC's Board of Directors approved the proposal for the defined benefit plan
curtailment, and management initiated steps to accomplish this including communication of the
changes to employees. In accordance with SFAS No. 88, "Employers’ Accounting for Settlements
and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination of Benefits," the
curtailment gain was recognized in 2001, the period in which the pension plan was amended.

Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Company also provides certain health care and
life insurance benefits to retired employees and eligible dependents. Through December 31,
2000, employees with ten years of service were eligible to receive these benefits upon retirement.
Effective January 1, 2001, the eligibility requirement increased to age 55 and 20 years of service.
Employees hired cn or after January 1, 2001 are not eligible for postretirement medical benefits.
Employees who were at least age 55 and had- 10 years of service in the year 2000 were not
affected by this change. Postretirement benefits other than pensions of active and retired
employees are accrued as expense over the employees' service years.
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NOTE 10 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits-(Continued)

The following tabie presents the funded status of postretirement benefits other than
pensions of active and retired employees (inciuding employees on disability more than 2 years)
as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 reconciled with amounts recognized in the Company's

Consolidated Balance Sheets:
December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Change in accumulated postretirement benefit obligation:
Accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation at beginning of year $ 35,749 $ 30,766 $ 29,660
Changes during fiscal year
396 475 - 564
Interest cost 2,231 2,285 2,366
Benefits paid (1,978) (1,676) (1,749)
Actuarial {gain) loss 687 3,899 (75)
Accumulated postretirement benefit

obligation at end of year § 37,087 $ 35,749 $ 30,766

Unfunded status ~ $(37,087) $(35,749) $(30,766)
Unrecognized net loss from past

experience different from that assumed ' 6,834 6.147 2,278
Accrued postretirement benefit cost $(30,253) $(29,602)

Year Ended December 31,

Comgonents of net periodic benefit cost;

Interestcost . ....... ... . .. 2,231 2,285 2,366

Amortizationofpriorlosses . . ......................... - 30 50

Net periodic benefitcost ............. ... . ... ... 2,627 $ 2790 $ 2980
Sensitivity Analysis

A one percentage point change in the assumed heaith care cost trend rate for each year
would change the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as foliows:

December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
Effect of a one percentage pointincrease ............... $ 904 $ 987 $ 606
Effect of a one percentage pointdecrease . . ... ... .. e (805) (859) (546)
Service and interest cost components of the net
periodic postretirement benefit expense
Effect of a cne percentage pointincrease ............. $ 45 $ 77 $ 81
Effect of a one percentage pointdecrease .. ........... (40) (64) (66)

The assumed net weighted annual average medical rates of increase in the per capita cost
of covered benefits for participants in the plan who retired prior to January 1, 1994 were 7.4%,
5.5% and 5.8% as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The net medical trend
rates were 12.0% in 2002 grading down to 5.5% in 2009 and thereafter. For those participants
retiring after December 31, 1993, the weighted average discount rate used in determining the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 6.75%, 7.00% and 7.25% at December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The discount rate of 6.75% at December 31, 2002 is based
on the average vyield for long-term, high-grade securities available during the benefit payout
period. To setits discount rate, the Company looks to ieading indicators, including Moody's Aa
long-term bond index.
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NOTE 11 - Reinsurance

in the normal course of business, the insurance subsidiaries assume and cede reinsurance
with other insurers. Reinsurance is ceded primarily to limit losses from large exposures and to
permit recovery of a portion of direct losses; however, such a transfer does not relieve the
originating insurance company of contingent liability.

The Company is a national underwriter and therefore has exposure to catastrophic losses
in certain coastal states and other regions throughout the U.S. Catastrophes can be caused by
various events including hurricanes, windstorms, earthquakes, hail, severe winter weather and
fires, and the frequency and severity of catastrophes are inherently unpredictable. The financial
impact from catastrophic losses results from both the total amount of insured exposure in the area
affected by the catasirophe as well as the severity of the event. The Company seeks to reduce
its exposure to catasirophe losses through the geographic diversification of its insurance
coverage, deductibles, maximum coverage limits, the purchase of catastrophe reinsurance, and
the purchase of a catastrophe-linked equity put option and reinsurance agreement, described
below.

The total amounts of reinsurance recoverable on unpaid insurance reserves classified as
assets and reported in Other Assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows:

December 34,
2002 2001 2000
Reinsurance Recoverables on Reserves and Unpaid Claims

Lifeand health . .. ... ... ... .. . . . . . .. . ... ..., $ 9,534 $ 7,241 $ 4,619

Property and casualty
State insurance facilites . ........ ... ... ... ... ... 36,780 23,069 32,026
Other insurance companies ....................... 7.921 11,035 17.030
Total ... 54,235 $41,345 $53.675

The Company recognizes the cost of reinsurance premiums over the contract periods for
such premiums in proportion to the insurance protection provided. Amounts recoverable from
reinsurers for unpaid claims and claim settlement expenses, including estimated amounts for
unsettled claims, claims incurred but not reported and policy benefits are estimated in a manner
consistent with the insurance liability associated with the policy. The effect of reinsurance on
premiums written and contract deposits, premiums and contract charges earned, and benefits,
claims and settlement expenses were as follows:

Ceded to Assumed
Gross Other from State
Amount Companies Facilities Net
Year ended December 31, 2002
Premiums written and contract deposits ... ... $905,674 $20,750 $14,405 $899,329
Premiums and contract charges earned . ... .. 642,310 33,567 16,490 625,233
Benefits, claims and settlement expenses . .. .. 462,478 26,784 15,174 450,866
Year ended Decembear 31, 2001
Premiums written and contract deposits ... ... 885,801 27,991 17,756 875,566
Premiums and contract charges earned ... ... 625,722 28,601 18,121 615,242
Benefits, claims and settiement expenses .. ... 475,991 18,416 18,008 475,583
Ysar ended December 31, 2000
Premiums written and contract deposits ... ... 829,437 24,078 16,284 821,653
Premiums and contract charges earned . ... .. 605,252 23,105 16,567 508,714
Benefits, claims and settlement expenses . . . .. 461,396 13,736 18,388 466,048

F-91




NGOTE 11 - Reinsurance-{Continued)

There were no losses from uncollectible reinsurance recoverables in the three years ended
December 31, 2002. Past due reinsurance recoverables as of December 31, 2002 were not
-material.

The Company maintains an excess and catastrophe treaty reinsurance program. The

Company reinsures 95% of catastrophe losses above a retention of $8,500 per occurrence up to
$80,000 per occurrence. in addition, the Company's predominant insurance subsidiary for
property and casualty business written in Florida reinsures 90% of hurricane fosses in that state
above a retention of $13,700 up to $51,400 with the Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund, based
on the Fund's financial resources. Through December 31, 2001, these catastrophe reinsurance
programs were augmented by a $100,000 equity put and reinsurance agreement. This equity put
provided an option to sell shares of the Company’s convertible preferred stock with a floating rate
dividend at a pre-negotiated price in the event losses from catasirophes exceeded the
catastrophe reinsurance program coverage limit. Before tax benefits, the equity put provided a
source of capital for up to $154,000 of catastrophe losses above the reinsurance coverage limit.

Effective May 7, 2002, the Company entered into a replacement equity put and reinsurance
agreement with a subsidiary of Swiss Reinsurance Company. The Swiss Re Group is rated "A++
(Superior)” by A.M. Best. Under the 36-month agreement, which is renewabie annually at the
option of the Company, the equity put coverage of $75,000 provides a source of capital for up to
$115,000 of pretax catastrophe losses above the reinsurance coverage limit. The Company also
has the option, in piace of the equity put, to require a Swiss Re Group member to issue a 10%
guota share reinsurance coverage of all of the Company's property and casualty book of
business. Annual fees related o this equity put option, which are charged directly to additional
paid-in capital, increased to 145 basis points in 2002 from 95 basis points in 2001 under the prior
agreement; however, in 2002 the agreement was effective only for the last eight months of the
year. The agreement contains certain conditions to Horace Mann's exercise of the equity put
option including: (i) the Company's shareholders’ eguity, adjusted to exclude goodwill, can not
be less than $215,000 after recording the first triggering event; (i) the Company's debt as a
percentage of total capital can not be more than 47.5% prior to recording the triggering event; and
(iii) the Company's S&P financial strength rating can not be below "BBB" prior to a triggering
event. The Company's S&P financial strength rating was "A+" at December 31, 2002.

For liability coverages, including the educator excess professional liability policy, the
Company reinsures each loss above a retention of $500 up to $20,000. The Company also
reinsures each property loss above a retention of $250 up to $2,500, including catastrophe iosses
that in the aggregate are less than the retention levels above.

The maximum individual life insurance risk retained by the Company is $200 on any
individual life and a maximum of $125 is retained on each group life policy. Excess amounts are
reinsured. The Company also maintains a life catastrophe reinsurance program. The Company
reinsures 100% of the catastrophe risk in excess of $1,000 up to $20,000 per occurrence. This
program covers acts of terrorism but excludes nuclear, biological and chemical explosions as well
as other acts of war.
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NOTE 12 - Contingencies

Lawsuits and Legal Proceedings

In June 2002, the Company recorded a pretax charge of $1,581 representing the
Company's best estimate of the costs of resolving class action lawsuits related to diminished value
brought against the Company. A final court hearing on this matter was held on December 18,
2002, at which time the settlement was approved and was within the amount previously accrued
by the Company. Management believes that, based on facts and circumstances available at this
time, the amount recorded will be adequate to resolve the matters.

In December 2000, the Company recorded a pretax charge of $7,692, representing the
Company's best estimate of the actual and anticipated costs of defending and ultimately resolving
litigation brought against the Company in regards to its disability insurance product. The
settlement was finalized on November 30, 2001, within the amount previously accrued by the
Company, and is being administered. Disability insurance represented less than 1% of the
Company's insurance premiums written and contract deposits for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000.

There are various other lawsuits and legal proceedings against the Company. Management
and legal counsel are of the opinion that the ultimate disposition of such other litigation will have
no material adverse effect on the Company's financial position or results of operations.

Assessments for Insolvencies of Unaffiliated Insurance Companies

The Company is also contingently liable for possible assessments under regulatory
requirements pertaining to potential insolvencies of unaffiliated insurance companies. Liabilities,
which are estabiished based upon regulatory guidance, have generally been insignificant. In
December 2001, the Company recorded a pretax charge of $1,314 representing its estimated
portion of the industry assessment related to the insolvency of the Reliance Insurance Group.
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NOTE 13 - Supplementary Data on Cash Flows

A reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities as presented in
the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows is as foliows:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 11,333 $ 25,587 $ 20,841
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Realized investment losses 49,407 10,018 9,906
Depreciation and amortization 12,512 8,300 6,761
Increase in insurance liabilities 91,429 124,830 113,616
(Increase) decrease in premium receivables 10,968 (7,160) (7,357)
Increase in deferred policy acquisition costs (21,822) (19,565) (12,781)
(Increase) decrease in reinsurance recoverable 4,279 (5,850) 3,364
Increase (decrease) in federal :
income tax liabilities (9,081) 3,179 (27,655)
(Decrease) increase in liabilities
for restructuring and litigation charges (170) (3,127) 9,919
16,692 12,644 7,634
Total adjustments 154,134 123,270 103,407
Net cash provided by operating activities $165467 $148,857 $124,248

The Company's repurchases of debt in 2002 resuited in non-cash financing charges of
$1,731.

NOTE 14 - Segment Information

The Company's operations include the following operating segments which have been
determined on the basis of insurance products sold: property and casualty, annuity and life
insurance. The property and casualty insurance segment includes primarily personal lines
automebile and homeowners products. The annuity segment includes primarily fixed and variable
tax-qualified annuity products. The life insurance segment includes primarily interest-sensitive
life and traditional life products. ~

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1 -
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The Company accounts for intersegment
transactions, primarily the allocation of agent and overhead costs frem the corporate and other
segment to the property and casualty, annuity and !ife segments, on a cost basis. The Company
does not allocate the impact of corporate level decisions to the insurance segments consistent
with management's evaluation of the results of those segments. For instance, see footnote (a)
to the table below.
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NOTE 14 - Segment Information-(Continued)

Summarized financial information for these segments is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Insurance premiums and contract charges earned
Propertyandcasualty . ............................. $ 519,546 $ 508,345 $ 489,052
ANNURY ... 14,247 - 14,906 17,017
Life ... 82,707 93,272 92,998
Intersegment efiminations . ................. ... ... {1.287) {1,281) {1,263)
Total e e $ 625,233 $ 615242 § 598714
Net investment income
Propertyandcasually ...................cvviiini.n. $ 35,180 $ 37,749 $ 35695
ANNURY ..o e 107,731 107,583 105,340
Life . o e 53,925 55,226 51,264
Corporateandother .......... ... ... ................ 387 98 1,285
Intersegment eliminations . .. ............... .. .. .. (1.175) {1,389) (1.198)
Total . $ 106,048 $ 199,267 $ 192,308
Net income
Propertyandcasualty . ............................. v § 19,843 , 8 5184 $ 8969
APNURY .. 16,963 20,619 198,274
e . e 18,899 18,646 12,880
Corporateandother{(a) ............ ... ... ... .... (44.472) (18,862) (20.282)
Tolal ..o $__11.333 $ 25587 $ 20841
Amortization of intangible assets
Value of acquired insurance in force
ANNURY . ... $ 4,008 $ 2317 $ 5,178
Life ... 1,726 1,839 1,978
Subtotal ........ . ... ... 5,734 4,156 7,151
Goodwill ... ... . - 1,618 1618
Total ... $ 5734 $ 5774 $ 8769
—___ Docemberdt,
2002 2001 2000
Assets
Propertyandcasualty . ............................. $ 773,362 $ 738638 $ 733,922
ANNURY ..o 2,628,083 2,674,524 2,639,872
Life . e 1,036,078 1,007,345 969,181
Corporateandother ............. ................. 112,102 105,215 115,584
Intersegment eliminations . ........................ .. (37.336) (36,696) (37,979)
Total ..o $4,512,289 $4,489.026 $4,420,580

(a) The corporate and other segment includes interest expense on debt and the impact of realized investment gains and losses,
restructuring charges, debt retirement costs, litigation charges and provision for prior years' taxes.
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NOTE 15 - Unaudited Interim Information

Summary quarterly financial data is presented below.

Three Months Ended
December 31. September 30, June 30, March 31
2002 ’
Insurance premiums written and contract deposits $236,377 $232,604 $218,600 $211,748
Total revenues , 189,981 163,406 207,820
Net income (loss) , 549 (18,334) (a) 15,571
Per share information
Basic
Net income (loss) : $§ o002 $ (045) (a) $ 038
Shares of common stock - weighted average (b) . ... 40,850 40,838 40,780
Diluted
Net income (loss) ) $ 002 $ (045) (a) $§ 038
Shares of common stock and equivalent shares -
weighted average (b). 41,025 41,294 41,231
2003
Insurance premiums written and contract deposits , $224,307 $218,225 $207,772
Total revenues , 203,131 196,106 203,364
Net income (loss) \ 9,057 (4,926) 16,698
Per share information
Basic
Net income (loss) . $ 022 $ (0.12) $ 041
Shares of common stock - weighted average (b) . ... 40,659 40,554 40,524
Diluted
Net income (loss) : $ 022 $ (0.12) '$ 041
Shares of common stock and equivalent shares -
weighted average (b) 40,977 40,874 40,747
2000
Insurance premiums written and contract deposits . . . . . .. $212,673 $210,002 $204,486 $194,512
Totalrevenues ............. ... ... 192,941 197,566 198,395 192,302
Netincome (loss) . ...... ... ..o (13,774) 12,207 9,682 12,726
Per share information
Basic
Netincome(loss) ................... ... ....... $ (0.34) $ o030 $ 024 $ 031
Shares of common stock - weighted average (b) B 40,518 40,550 40,913 41,156
Diluted
Netincome(loss) ............................. $ (034) $ 030 $ 023 $ 031
Shares of common stock and equivalent shares -
weighted average(b) ........................ 40,717 40,708 41,085 41,325

(a) Subsequent to filing the Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2002, the Company determined that redundant reserves
had been inadvertently established on certain life insurance policies. To ensure comparability between quarterly periods,
the reduction in life segment reserves, equal to $1,470 pretax, has been reflected as an adjustment to benefits, claims and
settlement expenses and income for the three months ended June 30, 2002. The net loss and net loss per share as
previously reported for the three months ended June 30, 2002 were $(19,287) and $(0.47).

{b) Rounded to thousands.
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HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

SCHEDULE!

SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS-OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES
. December 31, 2002

Fixed maturities:

{Dollars in thousands}

Type of iInvestments

U.S. Government and U.S. Government agencies

and authorities
States, municipalities and political subdivisions
Foreign government bonds

Public utilities

Other corporate bonds
Total fixed maturity securities
Mortgage loans and real estate
Short-term investments
Short-term investments, loaned securities
Policy loans and other

Total investments

(1) Bonds at original cost reduced by repayments and adjusted for

impairment in value of specifically identified investments.

Cost(1}

$ 775371
358,636
13,131
133,020
1,578,849

2,858,007

4,926
60,933
3,937
69,185

$2.997,988

‘ Fair
Value

$ 811,543
377,464

15,976°

131,503
1,654,709

$2,991,195

XXX
XXX
- XXX

XXX

Amount

shown in

Balance
Sheet

$ 811,543
377,464
15,976
131,503
1,654,709

2,991,195

4,926
60,933
3,837
89,572

$3,130,563

amortization of premiums or accrual of discounts and

See accompanying Independent Auditors’ Réport.
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SCHEDULE il

HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION
(Parent Company Only)

' CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
(Doliars in thousands, except per share data)

2002 2001
ASSETS
investmenisandcash .......... ..., $ 10,913 $ 9319
investmeni insubsidiaries .............. ... ... . 608,164 554,811
Other assels . ... ... __55764 0,891
Totalassels . ... ... $674.841 $ 615,021
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS'® EQUITY
ShOM-EM AEDY ... ..ottt e $ - $ 53,000
long-termdebt ......... ... .. ... 144,685 99,767
Otherliabiities .. ... ... .. .. . . ... . 1,314 3,084
Totalliabfilies ........ ... .. .. 145,999 155,831
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, authorized
1,000,000 shares; noneissued ..............c... i - -
Common stock, $0.001 par vaiue, authorized 75,000,000
shares; issued, 2002, 50,194,615; 2001, 60,076,821,
2000,59,858,053 . ... ... ... 60 60
Additional paid-incapital ............. ... .. ool 342,748 341,052
Retained @amings . .......coivri e i 455,308 481,139
Accumulated other comprehensive income (joss), net of taxes:
Net unrealized gains (losses) on fixed maturities
andequitysecurities . ......... ... ... . i 80,567 26,336
Minimum pension liablity adjustment . ... ...... ... ... ... (17,265) (11,438)
Treasury stock, at cost, 2002, 17,503,371 shares,
2001 and 2000, 19,341,286 shares ......................... {332.,577) (357,959)
Total shareholders’equity. ... .......... ...l _528842 459.190
Total liablities and shareholders'equity . .................... §674,841 $615.021

See accompanying note to condensed financial statements.
See éccompanyﬁng independent Auditors' Report.
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$§ 49,000
98,721
3,082

151,803

60
338,243
452,624

(4,038)
(937)
(357.959)
427.993

$ 579796



HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

{Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

- STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

{Dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

SCHEDULE i

2002
Revenues
Netinvestmentincome . ........... ... . ... ... ... ... ...... $§ 386
Realized investment gains (losses) .......................... (430)
Tolalrevenues .......... .. ... .. ... . ..., (44)
Expenses
Interest . .. ... 8,517
Debtretirementcosts .. .......... ... ... .. ... ... ... ... 2,272
Amortizationof goodwill .. .. ... ... ... -
Other ... e 1,755
Totalexpenses . .......... ... . ... ... .. . ... ... 12,544
Loss before income taxes
and equity in net earnings of subsidiaries ...... .. ... ... ... ... .. (12,588)
Incometaxbenefit ....... ... ... (3.954)
Loss before equity
in net earnings of subsidiaries . .......... ... ... .. ... ... .... (8,634)
Equity in net earnings of subsidiaries ........... .. .. ... ... .. ... 19,867
Netincome ... ... ... ... . . . . ... $11,333

2001
$ 100
219

318

9,250

1,618
3,802

14,670

(14,351)
(4.099)

(10,252)
35,839

25587

See accompanying note to condensed financial statements.

See accompanying independent Auditors’ Report.
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2000

$ 1,292
1.534

10,204

1,618

1.101
12.923
(11,389)
(3.058)

(8,331)
29172

20,841




HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

{Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

{Bollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

SCHEDULE

2002
Cash flows from operating activities

Interestexpense paid . ... ... ... ... $ (9,540)
Contribution to defined benefit pension plantrustfund .. ...... ... (7,910)
Federal income taxes (paid)recovered .................... ... 7.793
Cash dividends received from subsidiaries .................... 5,800
Other, net . ... 8,206

Net cash provided by operating activities . . .............. .. 5,539

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities
Net (increase) decrease ininvestments . ... ................... (2477)
Capital contributions to subsidiaries . . . ....................... -

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities . ... ....... (2.477)
Cash flows used in financing activities

Purchase of treasurystock ............ .. .. ... ... ......... -
Dividends paid to shareholders ........................... .. (17,164)

Principal borrowings (payments) on Bank Credit Facility ......... (53,000)
Exercise of stockoptions .. ......... .. ... ... ... L. 2,183
Catastrophe-linked equity put option premium . ............. ... (1,088)
Proceeds from issuance of Convertble Notes ... .............. 162,654
Repurchase of Senior Notes and Convertible Notes ............ (97,523)
Net cash used in financing activities . . . ................... (3,838)

Net increase (decrease)incash .............................. (876)
Cash atbeginningofperiod . .............. ... ................ 8,333
Cashatendofperiod ............ ... ... ... ... ............ - § 7457

2001

$ (9,091)
(12)
28,650
(4.032)

15515

5,707
(4,500)

1,207

See accompanying note to condensed financial statements.

See accompanying Independent Auditors' Report.
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2000

$(10,028)

7483
36,500
693

34.648

7,214
(20,000)
(12.786)
(15,143)
(17,240)

5,302
(950)

(28,031)

(6,169)
8,043

$ 1874




SCHEDULE i

HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION
{(Parent Company Only}

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATICON

NOTE TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

The accompanying condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying notes thereto.

See accompanying independent Auditors' Report.
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SCHEDULE IV

HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

Column A

Year ended December 31, 2002
Life insuranceinforce ..............
Premiums

Propertyand casualty .. ...........

Annuity ...

Life ....... .. ... .
Other, including

consolidating eliminations .. . ... ..

Total premiums . .............

Year ended December 31, 2001
Life insuranceinforce ..............
Premiums

Propertyand casualty . . ...........

Annuity ...

Life ... ...
Other, including

consolidating eliminations . . . ... ..

Total premiums ..............

Year ended December 31, 2000
Life insuranceinforce ..............
Premiums

Propertyandcasualty . ............

Annuity ...

Life ..... S e
Other, including

consolidating eliminations . ... . ...

Total premiums .. ............

REINSURANCE

(Dollars in thousands)

Column 8 Column C Coiumn D Coiumn E Column F
Ceded to Assumed Percentage
Gross Other from State of Amount
Amount Companies Facilities Net Assumed to Net

$13,196,369 $1,286,109 - $11,910,260 -

$ 530253 § 27,197 $16,490 $ 519,546 3.2%
14,247 - - 14,247 -
99,077 6,370 - 92,707 -
(1,267) - - (1,.267) -

642310 § 33567 $16.480 $ 625233 2.6%
$13,216,146  $1,035477 - $12,180,669 -

$ 514574 § 24,350 $18,121 $ 508,345 3.6%
14,906 - - 14,008 -
97,523 4,254 - 93,272 -
{1,.281) = - —(1.281) -

§ 625722 § 28601 $18.121 $§ 615242 2.9%
$12,646,371 $ 746,447 - $11,899,924 -

$ 494539 § 21,154 $16,567 $ 489,952 3.4%
17,017 - - 17,017 -
94,949 1,951 - 92,998 -
(1.253) - - 1,253) -

$_ 6052562 § 23105 16,567 $ 508714 2.8%

NOTE: Premiums above include insurance premiums earned and contract charges earned.

See accompanying independent Auditors’ Report
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In November 1991, Horace Mann Educators Corporation completed an initial public offering of its common stock at a
price of $9 per share. The Company's common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol HMN.

The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices and the cash dividends paid per share during the periods
indicated.

Fiscal Period

2002

Fourth Quarter
Third Quarter
Second Quarter
First Quarter

2001

Fourth Quarter
Third Quarter
Second Quarter
First Quarter

Corperate Rata

Corporate Office

1 Horace Mann Plaza

Springfield, IL 62715-0001

Telephone: (217) 789-2500

Internet: www.horacemann.com
www.reacheverychild.com

Annuval Meeting
May 29, 2003

9:00 a.m.

Hilton Springfield

700 East Adams Street
Springfield, IL 62701

independent Accountants
KPMG LLP

303 East Wacker Drive
Chicago, IL 60601

Marke? Price

High Low
$16.49 $13.61
18.86 14.00
24.08 17.45
23.00 19.35
$22.40 $16.25
22.05 15.72
21.75 14.80
21.375 15.25

Cormmon Stock
HMEC Stock is traded on the
NYSE (HMN)

Transfer Agent

American Stock Transfer &
Trust Company

40 Wall Street

New York, NY 10005

Convertible Notes

HMEC Convertible Notes

are traded in the open market
(HMN 1.425)

Senior Notes
HMEC senior notes are traded
on the NYSE (HMN 6 5/8)

Horace Mann Educators Corporation ° 2002 Annual Report

Dividend Paid

$0.105
0.105
0.105
0.105

$0.105
0.105
0.105
0.105

Addlitional Information
Additional financial data on
HMEC and its subsidiaries is
included in Form 10-K filed with
the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Electronic copies of
HMEC's SEC filings are available
at www.horacemann.com. The
Statistical Suppiement and hard
copies of SEC filings are available
upon written request from:

Investor Relations
Horace Mann

Educators Corporation
1 Horace Mann Plaza, C-120
Springfield, IL 62715-0001
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